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Chairman’s Statement
ENNE &

The Hon TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS, JP, Chairman
PR W S oM GBS SBS ACPANE T

Dear Shareholders,

During the year under review, Four Seas Mercantile Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries’ (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) command of the market and overall strategy
made the business profitable and stable. The performance of both
Hong Kong and the Mainland China showed progress. In response
to global economic volatility and fluctuation in the exchange rate of
Japanese yen, the Group adopted a timely strategy to find a balance
between product prices and consumer demand, while also capturing
opportunities and successfully maintaining competitiveness and market
share, further consolidating market leadership.

RESULTS

In the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group’s
consolidated revenue increased to HK$3,002,437,000 (2017:
HK$2,948,289,000). The sales derived from Hong Kong segment
amounted to HK$2,031,917,000 (2017: HK$2,030,204,000),
accounting for 68% of the Group’s total sales. The sales in
Mainland China segment amounted to HK$970,520,000 (2017:
HK$918,085,000), corresponding to 32% of the Group’s total sales.
The profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company
stood at HK$347,703,000 (2017: HK$50,274,000). The increase of
profit was mainly attributable to the one-off gain on the completion
of disposal of a property located in Sai Kung, New Territories by the
Group in the year under review.
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Chairman’s Statement
ENNE &

BUSINESS REVIEW

Established in 1971, the Group has developed into a well-known
brand in Hong Kong and Mainland China over the past half century.
Its multifaceted businesses cover food distribution, manufacturing,
catering and creating own-brand products aiming at customer segments
of all ages, as well as satisfying market demand.

The Group provides many different products from more than 20
countries and regions through its strong distribution network that
covers retailers, convenience store chains, supermarkets, department
stores, restaurants, hotels and airlines. It also operates Japanese snack
stores “Okashi Land”, cookie stores “YOKU MOKU”, and concept
store “Calbee PLUS” in Hong Kong.

Distribution Business

Food distribution, the core business of the Group, has been developing
steadily. Through the comprehensive distribution network, outstanding
sales team, effective marketing strategy and shrewd vision, the Group
sources unique and high-quality products from all over the world for
food lovers. It selects food items from Asia, such as Mainland China,
Japan, Korea, Thailand, Indonesia, Malaysia and Singapore. It also
supplies food items from Britain, France, Germany, Holland and
the United States. Moreover, in order to meet the needs of different
customers, a wide variety of products are provided, such as snacks,
milk powder, sauces, ham and sausages.
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Chairman’s Statement
ENNE &

Manufacturing Business

In the field of food product manufacturing, the Group has gained
market trust and confidence with its guaranteed quality. The Group
has received numerous international accreditations including
“HACCP”, “ISO 90017, “ISO 220007, “Certification under Hong
Kong Q-Mark Product Scheme for over 20 years” and “HKQAA Hong
Kong Registration — Cooking Oil Registration Scheme Certification”
from the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency. The Group has 19
processing plants in Hong Kong and Mainland China. With stringent
quality control and sophisticated monitoring systems, the Group
produces a wide range of food products that suit different customer
needs, and distributes products through its one-stop business platform,
consolidating its leadership in the food market.

Retailing and Catering Businesses

The Group strives for innovation in its retailing and catering
businesses. Early this year, the Group opened a new specialty store
“Okashi Galleria” in Tsim Sha Tsui offering famous Japanese brands,
including “Japan Ice-cream House”, which is an affiliated store of
“Okashi Land” and provides varieties of renowned Japanese ice-cream,
such as SEIKA from Kagoshima and Cremia; and also “Qjiki”, a well-
known innovative Japanese brand of Kagoshima fried fish cake. The
Group also successfully launched “Sushiyoshi”, a Michelin-2-Starred
restaurant from Osaka.

In addition, the Group’s other retail specialty stores have recorded
solid sales, such as the Japanese snack stores “Okashi Land”, cookie
stores “YOKU MOKU” and concept store “Calbee PLUS”. Attributing
to advanced management and high quality catering services, the
Group’s restaurants in both Hong Kong and Guangdong have become
famous, including Japanese style restaurant “Shiki*Etsu”, “Kung Tak
Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine”, and Japanese style dumpling
fast food shop “Osaka Ohsho” in Hong Kong, along with the ‘“Panxi
Restaurant” in Guangzhou, while Japanese restaurant “Mori Café”
and sushi restaurant chain “Sushi Oh” are also proving popular in
Mainland China.
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Chairman’s Statement
ENNE &

BRAND DEVELOPMENT

The Group pays extreme care to food hygiene, safety and quality in
order to live by its motto “Eating Safely, Eating Happily”, establishing
a comprehensive supervisory system to ensure maximum product
safety, quality and taste.

The Group has grown up together with Hong Kong, evolving into
an acclaimed brand. In the early days, Japanese food distribution
was the Group’s major business. After years of consistent effort,
the scale of the Group has increased to expand its business into
food manufacturing and retailing, establishing the foundation of the
“Four Seas” brand. The brand has been so well received that last
year the Group was awarded the “Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top
Mark)” presented by the Hong Kong Brand Development Council
and the Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong. It has
also received “Hong Kong’s Most Valuable Companies Award 2018”
presented by Mediazone Publishing. While striving for growth of local
business, the Group is also proactively developing the Mainland China
market through its excellent brand image. The Group is dedicated to
act as a bridge between Mainland China and the world by introducing
overseas cuisine to Mainland China, and also taking the food products
of Mainland China to the international arena.
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Chairman’s Statement
ENNE &

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

In the spirit of “giving back as much as you take from society”, the
Group has been devoted to serving the community. It has received
the “Caring Company Award” from the Hong Kong Council of Social
Service consecutively for 16 years. Last year, it was recognised as
a “Manpower Developer 2013-2019” in the Manpower Developer
Award Scheme of the Employees Retraining Board; named a “Hong
Kong Outstanding Enterprise” and received the “Hong Kong Excellent
Enterprise Award” presented by the Economic Digest. In addition, the
Group sponsored Four Seas products for Junior Police Call, schools,
the elderly, women’s care organisations, Kaifong welfare associations
and community organisations in order to support different sectors of
the community and share the Group’s spirit of “Eating Happily”.

The Group’s various businesses have also been highly appreciated.
Calbee Four Seas Company Limited (“Calbee Four Seas”) received
the “Good MPF Employer Award 2017/18” presented by the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority; the “Joyful@
Healthy Workplace Best Practices Award” from the Occupational
Safety & Health Council; the “Supreme Supermarket Brand” and
“Star Supermarket Brand (Snack)” of “PARKnSHOP Super Brands
Award”; the “Most Favorite Brand of Convenience Stores Award”
from 7-Eleven Convenience Store and the “Outstanding Category
Performance Award” of Favourite Brands Awards 2017 from
Wellcome Supermarket. The specialty store “Okashi Land” and cookie
store “YOKU MOKU” were both accredited “QTS Merchant” by the
Quality Tourism Services Scheme of the Hong Kong Tourism Board.
Four Seas Seaweed received the “Most Popular Snack Series” accolade
in the Health Beauty Well-being Awards by Mannings China. The
“Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine” was once again the
only vegetarian restaurant honored with a Bib Gourmand Award by
“The MICHELIN Guide Hong Kong Macau 2018”.

PROSPECTS

“Based in Hong Kong, Reaching for the Mainland” is the Group’s
future development strategy. While developing its business in the
Hong Kong food industry, the Group is determined to explore the
potential food market in Mainland China so as to seize unprecedented
opportunities.

Business in Hong Kong

Based in Hong Kong, the Group will continue to uphold its leading
position in the food market, and introduce more food products to
customers to enhance its market share. This year, the Group has
successfully launched a Michelin-starred Japanese sushi restaurant
“Sushiyoshi” in Tsim Sha Tsui. The restaurant mainly provides
traditional Japanese cuisine with the whole menu being decided by the
chef, featuring Japanese sushi tradition that has been well received by
customers.
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In light of the rapid development of the
e-sport market, the Group cooperated with
Hero Entertainment, a Mainland China mobile
electronic sports enterprise, to add new elements
to traditional snacks through marketing and
brand interaction. This cooperation can enable
the Group to expand its business to the Greater
China market. The cross-over not only widens

attracts game members in Mainland China s
who get to know and buy the Group’s products

via its online stores. This helps promote the a "
performance of Hong Kong and Mainland

China markets and gives a boost to future

development. Due to the good response from the cooperation with
Hero Entertainment, the Group will continue to look for similar
business opportunities. The Group will launch new cross-over products
to attract customers, such as the limited edition Four Seas Milk Drink
with famous game characters printed on its packaging materials.

‘\
the scope of customers in Hong Kong, it also S \:-_
m

As the Group’s sales continue to grow, Calbee Four Seas will expand
its production lines and facilities in its factory premises located in
Tseung Kwan O Industrial Estate. Output quantity will be increased to
meet the market demand.

In the coming year, the Group will keep introducing various new types
of products to customers in order to attract more food lovers. It will
also continue to seize opportunities in the market to broaden its sales
network and enhance the Group’s leading position.

Business in Mainland China

The Group has been steadily committed to explore the Mainland China
market, which is enormous with strong potential. In order to grasp new
business opportunities and broaden its sales network, including the
e-commerce business, the Group will try to increase its international
trade of food imports and e-commerce business to keep up with social
trends by developing its wholly-owned company in the Nansha New
District in the Guangdong Free Trade Zone. Currently, the Group’s
products are available on a number of e-commerce platforms in
Mainland China, such as Taobao, Tmall, Tmall Global and Jingdong,
catering for food lovers in the country anytime and anywhere.

The Group has seen growing demand for quality food in the Mainland
China, with the Four Seas Milk Drink being well received after
proactive market promotion. It will continue to promote the Four
Seas brand as well as other brands to the Mainland China. The Group
believes that the Mainland China market has profound potential and
full of business opportunities.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the board of directors, I express our most sincere
gratitude to the management team and staff for their efforts and
contribution made to our Group. I would also like to take this
opportunity to thank all shareholders and business partners for their
confidence and continuous support.

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS, JP
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2018
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Major Awards of the Year
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Continuous recognition & awards recewed during this year

m%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%z—1ﬁﬂméﬁRKMM%@%ﬁa
Mmoo WHATERASTEAARME A FERREY  ERARH BN
BERM-

Four Seas Group is one of the leading food enterprises in Hong Kong,
distributing various kinds of renowned food brands from around the world.

The Group has been developing its own premium brand successfully, and
has been highly recognised and accredited with various awards this year.

AEBTIFEHEEBEIREUTRE

The following awards are granted to our Group’s Chairman, Dr. Stephen Tai:

RE/ B BRKE

Award/Recognition Organiser

KEHBE ERRATREHA

Grand Bauhinia Medal (GBM) The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

TENER ERBRTHERR

Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

JBREXE AXBf

Order of the Rising Sun, Gold and Silver Rays The Government of Japan

(FRAM  FEANAR BRANATINZBHFA

RmREEEREMAREIE hERREREE

Honorary Certificate of “Distinguished Management Entrepreneur” China Food Safety Annual Conference

RREHEA DERER RIRBHE A S R B U AR

011EHF EALERAREANE EREARBFBERLERERBHER

Tl mEt AEREH DNREGE - (RRBR)4H ¢H%%@§E%é DNEEREY  BX

Top 10 Business Leader of Asia Brand BUZTESESHES Y AFRYZLELBERESY REBAR
HESERSEEH S TN

2012-20132 AL M AR NRERTHEEEES

Wolrdwide Prominent Chiu Chow Business Leader Award 2012-2013 TXCS Economic Conference 2013

PERFELAR[BAREN LR AR EMER] ERAMEBALRLTAAGE  LETRO L ARSERFBTERS

“Most Influential Listed Company Leader” of EHEERHRERRSRBNCEERLR TR

The China Securities Golden Bauhinia Awards

DREEBHER (BE)-THAIMRE] DHb%EE

Special Achievement Award of “Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship Awards” Enterprise Asia & the Organising Committee of the APEA

(teBELEHE) 2[DNHEBEANR] HELEWRR

“Asian Social Caring Leadership Award” of Social Caring Pledge Scheme  Social Enterprise Research Institute

BERRAGAMER Mediazone Publishing

Business Lifetime Achievement for Producing Quality Food Products

EH':‘E%MHW

i} .
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Scheme )-
BEAHLR017 LpEL] -8
Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprises 2017 Four Seas Group Economic Digest [
BERREELE018 mHEE Mediazone Publishing
Most Valuable Companies In Hong Kong 2018 Four Seas Group
[EEEEHY I RBL%2E LpE3E] EREEETHE
Authenticated Member of Hong Kong Quality Brand Four Seas Group Assaciation of Hong Kong Quality Brand -
BEBEREAR0172[SHLXENTRB)NE RS BHEZERLA BEESTS omeisen || Fraens ol -
“Prestigious Corporate (Processed Meat)” of Four Seas Mercantile Limited PARKnSHOP Supermarket [ |
PARKnSHOP Super Brand Awards 2017 i N i ARIMNC
IS0001ER EREAZE BAKRRRROE)ERAT REEETAD
1809001 Quality Management System Certificate CFSS Company Limited China Quality Certification Centre A
IS0220008 R 22 ERER AR AR RROLEERAT HEEERTAL
15022000 Food Safety Management System Certificate CFSS Company Limited China Quality Certification Centre = =
10 %Plus BRBEE FEBMHERAH ERiteRHEE = =
10 Years Plus Caring Company Calbee Four Seas Company Limited Hong Kong Council of Social Service et =
AEEREH 2T 6220112010 8 SERmAERAE EERENE F
Slﬂﬁg%oewer Developer 2011-2019" of Manpower Developer Award Calbee Four Seas Company Limited Employees Retraining Board SREATY !n S TY:
GNPRFRERERE FEBMHERAT FEERNE " g
GMP Certificate Calbee Four Seas Company Limited SGS Hong Kong Limited | - () o 1 \
HACCPREA T R B EH B ARAR ~EBONERAR BRBRALE - ' =l
HACCP Certificate Calbee Four Seas Company Limited SGS Hong Kong Limited e ot
1S0220008 R Z 2 ERER A% FEBMAERAR FEEALE | =¢ i
18022000 Food Safety Management System Certificate Calbee Four Seas Company Limited SGS Hong Kong Limited o =il L
EEFEL217E1 FEBMHERAE BHELRETHERR
Good MPF Employer 2017/18 Calbee Four Seas Company Limited The Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority
N14FEBERP A% mZ HAAEE Group BuyerBE& X
Quality Merchant Awards 2014 Shiki - Etsu Japanese Restaurant Group Buyer
PERERE0152 41288 BZ HAAEE HRART -
“Best-Ever Japanese Cuisine” of Best-Ever Dining Awards 2015 Shiki - Etsu Japanese Restaurant Weekend Weekly Magazine m———
[BEiERSEIATEF HENLEZR BENBERR
“QTS Merchant” of the Quality Tourism Services Scheme Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Hong Kong Tourism Board
Cuisine
[KZBEMEERN0BIERAZRENNE-ZREE  YEMLEER REEE
“Bib Gourmand Award” by The MICHELIN Guide Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Mlchelln Gmde
Hong Kong/Macau 2018 Cuisine
105Pus BRRBR 2RI B eRRES
10 Years Plus Caring Company Okashi Land Hong Kong Council of Social Service
BREEERE 2R3 hEER
The Most Popular Hong Kong and Macau Brand Okashi Land China Media
[BEiERSEIZTEF 2RI BRI ERRR
“QTS Merchant” of the Ouality Tourism Services Scheme Okashi Land Hong Kong Tourism Board
[FEEEHS | RBL%e8 2RNE EREERTGE
Authenticated Member of Hong Kong Quality Brand Okashi Land Association of Hong Kong Quality Brand
HBWAR B 2 [ #EF A ERmE] L EZnE
“Most Popular Snack Series” of Health Beauty Well-being Award ~ Four Seas Seaweed Mannings China
WI6REFERREAR 48 7-Eleven@ 7%
2016 7-Eleven Top Brands Campaign Award Calbee 7-Eleven Convenience Store
17TBD AR [ L ERER ] 4B L
“Outstanding Category Performance Awards” of Favourite Brands Calbee Wellcome Supermarket
Awards 2017 4 %
BEBEREAE01TZ[ZEETRE] 4B BERATS
“Supreme Supermarket Brand” of PARKnSHOP Super Brands ~ Calbee PARKnSHOP Supermarket
Award 2017
BEEEREAE2017Z[ i?&ﬁmunﬁ(gﬁﬂ 4B BERRTS
“Star Supermarket Brand (Snack)” of PARKnSHOP Super Brands Calbee PARKnSHOP Supermarket
Award 2017
EA2REH(TOPE) T ERRMBERREAVERERAE |
Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top Mark) Maid Brand Hong Kong Brand Development Council 1=
and The Chinese Manufacturers’ =
Association of Hong Kong —= .
BBQEGTE 0F 0 L3R R AREERERAR BEREERR Iy . -
HK Q-Mark Product Scheme for over 20 years - Q-Mark Licence Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited Hong Kong Q-Mark Council | - J -
HOZF/RBEIAREESTHXEE - / ﬂahgmnmm 1 "'-:arn_:;m"“ .
Certain recognition/awards are only provided with official Chinese name. TR mANEIELEE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Management Discussion and Analysis

" B kB a3 AT

Y 5 4

Year ended 31 March
BREZHA=1T—HILEE

2018 2017 Change
it 2 [T S St S Il 391 1o
Notes HKS$°000 HK$’000 (%)
Mt BWTIL  HWTC
Key items of consolidated statement of TR AHRREH
profit or loss
Revenue WA 3,002,437 2,948,289 +1.8
Gross profit EF) 962,698 919,980 +4.6
EBITDA REHFLE ~ Frdedi - P8 R
59 1 ¥ 1) 1 460,309 165,158 +178.7
Profit attributable to equity holders S5 RS R AS 2 W RE S TR B A
of the Company 347,703 50,274 +591.6
Key financial ratios FE AR
Gross profit margin Ecy S| 32.1% 31.2%
Net profit margin Al R R 2 11.6 % 1.7%
Inventory turnover days 8 RER Y 3 56 55
Trade receivables turnover days A Wi B MR o R i R 8 4 69 69
Trade payables turnover days JRE A B 5 Mk P R 3 32 31
Notes: Wzt
1. EBITDA refers to earnings before interest, income tax, depreciation and L. REFFLE - BifaBE ~ Dres S sk 6w e A (6 35 4 6 38

amortisation (including amortisation of deferred gain but excluding share

of profits and losses of associates).

2. Net profit margin is calculated as profit attributable to equity holders of 2.

the Company divided by revenue.

3. The calculation of inventory and trade payables turnover days is based on 3.
the average of the opening and closing balances divided by cost of sales

and multiplied by number of days for the year.

4. The calculation of trade receivables turnover days is based on the average 4.
of the opening and closing balances divided by revenue and multiplied by

number of days for the year.

SiE W 4 1B A B0 5 A I 4 W R A RO 4R -

FR AR AT 2 ) R T A AR B R B UM RS

7 12 T ME AT B2 5 MRk A R S it B4 0 0T R
A5 i 0 SF- 3% W DAL 88 5 A 7 3R DA AR N R T BT

JRE Wi BT o M ] A W R R BT ) AR 5 ik
SF- 3 B DA MO T3 LA R BB

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PR ) s S a3 A

During the year, revenue of the Group recorded an increase of 1.8%
and reached HK$3,002,437,000 (2017: HK$2,948,289,000). Gross
profit as a percentage of the revenue increased from 31.2% in the
previous year to 32.1% in the year. Accordingly, gross profit increased
from HK$919,980,000 in the previous year to HK$962,698,000
in the year, representing an increase of HK$42,718,000 which is
equivalent to an increase of 4.6%. EBITDA of the Group increased
to HK$460,309,000 (2017: HK$165,158,000) and profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company for the year was HK$347,703,000
(2017: HK$50,274,000), representing an increase of 591.6%.

The increase of profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
was mainly attributable to the gain on the completion of disposal
of a property by the Group during the year. Gain before tax on the
disposal of the property was HK$302,300,000 and recognition of the
deferred gain during the year arising from the excess of consideration
on the disposal of the property over the fair value of the property,
details of which are set out in note 10 to the financial statements, was
HK$15,584,000.

The improvement of the gross profit margin coupled with the
reduction of selling and distribution costs to HK$595,794,000 (2017:
HK$645,036,000) has also translated to a positive impact on the
profitability of the Group.

During the year, sales revenue of the major items of the Group are:

FER KEBMZIBRAHKHLI.S2ZHE > &
3,002,437,000% JC (Z & — L4 : 2,948,289,000%
JC) o BB A Z Wil B 2547 2 31.2%H n B A
F232.1% BT IR Z BR SEH B EZFEZ
919,980,000% JC }4 i % A< 4F- 2 962,698,000% JC »
75 B3 n42,718,000%5 76 » AH 5 5 3 n4.6% o A< 4
B 2 R EER R~ BT AR BB K R 6 T i A B4
%460,309,000% 50 (=% — L4 : 165,158,000
JC) o i AR AR B P AR 2 B RE AR BT R B R N
347,703,0009 G (=% — L 4E : 50,274,000% 5C) >
¥ms591.6% o

S0 RS S A 0 ) E 2% T A A ¥ A B 2 B R AS SR 1
SENERHEYEZ WL - HEWEZ BBk
74302,300,000% 76 » HEWEZREBEDEZ L
S {E I S A 2 4 TR IR T MRS (RIS SRR B i B
FE10) HERR 515,584,000 G ©

B R DL R 8 B K4 8 2 F s A 595,794,000
Wt (= F— B4 1 645,036,000 50) IR A AR EEH 2
iz F) B8 7 i 2 IE 1 R 2 o

AR AR B I R i Z B AT

Year ended 31 March
BEZH=14—HILEE

2018 2017 Change
RN\ —ER b [ 391 kb
HK$000 HK$°000 (%)

BT BT
Snack INE 1,270,890 1,249,561 +1.7
Confectionery R 569,076 568,786 +0.1
Ham and sausage VY &3 364,627 372,623 -2.1
Beverage and dairy products OB K LB 5, 264,281 235,076 +12.4
Food materials/ingredients 5 E R EORH 222,408 227,505 2.2

Snack items continued to be the major items carried by the Group.
The sales revenue derived from snack items recorded an increase
of 1.7% during the year. Various snack items of the Group such as
potato chips, corn sticks and prawn crackers continue to be popular
among the consumers of both Hong Kong and Mainland China. The
Group will continue its effort in bringing new tasty snack items to the

consumers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Revenue derived from confectionery items of the Group was stable.
The Group offers a wide variety and brands of confectionery products
including candies, chocolates, pastries and cookies to consumers of
both Hong Kong and Mainland China.

Sales revenue of ham and sausage items of the Group reduced by
2.1% during the year. The high quality “Maid” brand ham and sausage
products produced by the Group continued to be well received by

Hong Kong consumers during the year.

Sales revenue of beverage and dairy products of the Group increased
by 12.4% during the year. Four Seas Milk Drink products with paper
carton packaging was launched during the year. Due to the good
market response, an increase in the revenue of these products were

resulted.

Sales revenue of the food materials/ingredients business of the Group
reduced by 2.2% during the year due to the slack market demand for
such products. Major customers of the business include restaurants,
bakery and various kinds of food manufacturing plants.

Capital, liquidity and financial resources

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flows and facilities granted by its principal bankers.
As at 31 March 2018, the Group held cash and cash equivalents
of HK$802,085,000. As at 31 March 2018, the Group had banking
facilities of HK$2,548,062,000 of which 30% had been utilised.
The Group had a gearing ratio of 48% as at 31 March 2018. This is
expressed as the total bank borrowings to equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company. Bank borrowings of the Group, denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, Japanese yen and Renminbi, mainly comprise
trust receipt loans and bank loans (the “Interest-Bearing Bank
Borrowings”) at prevailing market interest rates. The Interest-Bearing
Bank Borrowings which are classified as current liabilities are
repayable on demand or within one year and the Interest-Bearing Bank

Borrowings in non-current liabilities are repayable in the second year.

The proceeds from the disposal of a property, details of which are
set out in note 10 to the financial statements, have been utilised as to
(i) approximately HK$115,277,000 for the distribution of the special
interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 to the shareholders
of the Company; (ii) approximately HK$2,500,000 for the associated
direct costs for the disposal of the property; and (iii) approximately
HK$250,223,000 for the general working capital of the Group.

" B kB a3 AT

A B 1] 2 R i 2 WRRE BB E o ACHR A A v
B 1 G B A Tk o B i R B SR A o A B
R R T BRI Kith AT B 4F o

A 55 ) 2 KT B A B E b 2 8 B W AR R AR R K
2.1% o AGE I 2 (L [ 4 kAR | KB o A M 7S b T 4
RE-¥ EEIERSE- £ ST

A B 2 OB B 3L G 7Y 4E 2 8 B R
12.4% o A S BT/ 47 P #4066 266 T 1d o 24 4 & FL Ak
BEL o T 5 O R > A S R AR R o

HI T 35 5 SRR 59 > AHE I 2 f b JRORE LR 3
ZHBEWBRENTE22% - EBEZEEE G
B MEAERABRMEEME -

REA - U R B SR O

A A B — 3 DL R R B B4 R R EAE KRR AT
MZzEREAESEZME R - N\HE=H
ZEt—H o AREMEFZHERIALSEMED R
802,085,000 76 - R~ F—~ NHE=H=+—H >
AR B HE BRAT AR B A 362,548,062,000% 58 » Ho
30 CHH - KEFAR _Z—-NFE=ZH=1—H
Z A MEA R E48% » 5 B SRAT A5 ok A B AR 2
] HE 25 BT A AL R 25 2 B ] o AN 4R ] 2 SRAT i K
Vot ~ HEI R AN R¥WRASHEW > WEEAMRE
B AT 8 8 R 2 A5 08 Ak M SR AT Bk ([7H
BT R B Z SAT R K)o 42 BUR TR B) A 2 28 S
F) B Z BRAT Bk 78 4 B R O — 48 A R - i 43 S
T B £ 2 ZE A R R 2 SRAT B AR E R BB AR
H R o

B —TE Y 3 P A kT (L 30 19 0 B 75 e 455 B
FE10) DARGORAA R B RSREE T —LF
ZHAZ+—H I 4E R P BB 49 %5 115,277,000
Wt 5 (i) B B A SE R B B B AR £ 452,500,000
OG5 SR (i) AR 4 ) 2 — e 4 4 75250,223,000 %5
7‘50
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Charges on assets and contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2018, the Group did not pledge any assets and had no

significant contingent liabilities.

Capital commitments

The Group had capital commitments in respect of property, plant and
equipment which were contracted but not provided for in the financial
statements of HK$4,839,000 as at 31 March 2018.

Foreign currency exposure

The Group has transactional currency exposures mainly from sales and
purchases transactions in Japanese yen and Reminbi. The appreciation
or devaluation of Japanese yen or Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar

will have impact on the Group’s operating results.

The Group’s foreign exchange position is monitored on an ongoing
basis in order to minimise the impact from the unfavourable
fluctuation of foreign currencies. The Group currently does not

maintain a foreign currency hedging policy.

Staff employment and remuneration policies

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2018 was
approximately 3,700. Remuneration packages are generally structured
by reference to market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries
and wages are normally reviewed annually based on performance

appraisals and other relevant factors.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group recognises the importance of environmental conservation
and employs various environmental protection and energy saving
measures in the business operation. In general, employees are
encouraged to reduce paper consumption, recycle paper and toner
cartridges, use electronic communication and filing, and reduce
travelling by conference calls. The Group also installs energy saving
lighting systems in the workplaces.

The factories of the Group continuously devote effort in the
improvement of the water usage management and sewage treatment,
atmospheric emissions and energy utilisation efficiency. The measures
include construction of sewage stations to process waste water
discharged from factories and enhancement of the water cooling
system in factories resulted in reduction of water usage; replacement
of coal-fired boiler with alcohol-based fuel boiler, installation of dust
bag filters and fume extraction and filtration system to reduce air
emissions; and review of energy consumption level on regular basis to

control the usage and find out further energy saving methods.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

More details on the Group’s efforts in addressing environmental issues
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report that
follows.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure the compliance in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.

Relationships with key stakeholders
Employees

The Group recognises human resources as an important capital and

emphasizes on retention and development of staff.

Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to market
terms and individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally
reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and other relevant
factors. Staff performance is assessed annually under an objective
framework. Interim reviews are also conducted to remunerate
employees with outstanding performances. To motivate staff in
achieving the Group’s business goal, incentives like performance-
based bonuses are rewarded to staff.

To recognise staff loyalty, prizes are awarded to long-serving
staff annually as an appreciation of their long term services and
commitment to the Group. The Group also launches model employee
campaign each year in order to recognise the dedicated staff for their
outstanding performance and contributions to the Group. The Group
provides to staff both training held in-house and conducted by external
organisation covering a variety of subjects on sales techniques,

management skills, technical topics and personal development.

Members of the Group are accredited “Good MPF Employer Award
2017/18” by Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority and
“Manpower Developer 2013-2019” of Manpower Developer Award
Scheme by Employees Retraining Board.

Customers

The Group values customers’ satisfaction and trust on the products and
services provided by the Group. The Group endeavors to source brand
new products and produce various food products in good quality for

the enjoyments of consumers in both Hong Kong and Mainland China.

Understanding the preference and feedback of consumers is important
for improving the quality of the Group’s products and services.
Various communication channels including customer hotline, company
website and social media are in place to enhance communications with

our customers.
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Suppliers and business partners

The Group distributes various internationally renowned brands of
quality food products from many countries. Therefore, the Group
places strong emphasis on relationships and communications with
suppliers. The Group believes that constructive interactions and
effective communications with suppliers can enhance the efficiency
of the entire supply chain process including products procurement and

inventory management.

The Group has developed long-standing relationships with major
suppliers. The Group invites key suppliers to strategy meetings,
arranges tours to the retail outlets and offices of the Group, invites
them in business events and parties, and shares information about local
sales performance, new products and personnel. Likewise, the Group
visits the suppliers’ factories and understands their production process
and products development. Personalising the relationship and getting
to know one another creates a solid partnership and builds up trust on
each other. Being a pioneer of importing food products from Japan
to Hong Kong, the Group received appreciation letters from various
Japanese business partners for the recognition of the Group’s effort in

distribution of their products.

Community

“Taken from Society and Give Back to Society” is always the belief of
the Group. The Group is participating actively in community services,
supporting the charity activities and youth programs. The Group
supports the community by sponsoring its food products to different
parties including Junior Police Call, schools, elderly and women
organisations, youth organisations, kaifong welfare organisations and
federations of associations. People from different sectors can enjoy the
Group’s delicate products, and share its spirit of “Eating Happily”.

Principal risks
Operational risks
Socioeconomic change risk

There are many ongoing trends in society that can impact the demand
for a product. Customers have more choices nowadays and have raised
their expectations on food quality and variety. The Group keeps on
engaging in product reformulation that makes it conform more closely
to social trend. In addition, the Group keeps abreast of the current
trend in retailing and catering businesses and continues to introduce

brand new retailing and catering experience to the consumers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Supply chain risk — inadequate supplier performance

The Group sources food materials and food products for production
and distribution. The stability of the supply and quality of the food
materials and products from vendors are critical to the business
operation of the Group. In order to mitigate the risk of possible
supply chain failure, the Group sources food materials and products
from a portfolio of suppliers. The Group also established a stringent
supplier selection process including the assessment of qualifications of

suppliers, inspection of the products, visit to suppliers’ factories etc.

Financial risks

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group

are shown in note 39 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
EREGHRA

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company present their
report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in

the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

A discussion and review on the business activities of the Group,
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of likely future development in the
Group’s business, are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4
to 13 and pages 17 to 23 of this annual report, respectively. Certain
financial key performance indicators, a discussion on the Group’s
environment policies and performance and its compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations, and an account of the Group’s
relationship with its key stakeholders are included in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis”. These discussions form part of this Report

of the Directors.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of

the Group are shown in note 39 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2018 and the Group’s

financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 82 to 191.

An interim dividend of HK3.0 cents per ordinary share was paid by
the Company on 18 January 2018. The Board recommend the payment
of a final dividend of HK6.5 cents per ordinary share and a special
dividend of HK25.0 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to

shareholders on the register of members on 6 September 2018.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 1 05 R B

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group A O 2 TR B AR B 2 R R AR E
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited BEE T A B #5888 A% 04 B 25 S A oP i R > I AR B

financial statements, is set out below: T

Year ended 31 March
BEZA=Z1—HILEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
RN CF B R4 DEF L R4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BWTL  EWToL BT EWT BFTx

RESULTS ES )
REVENUE WA 3,002,437 2,948,289 2,941,468 2,907,497 2,910,406
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR N 1A 351,741 53,399 45215 137,349 152,280
Attributable to: B
Equity holders of the Company AN B W RE 25 BT
B 347,703 50,274 45,827 140,185 160,137
Non-controlling interests e et 7 4,038 3,125 (612) (2,836) (7,857)

351,741 53,399 45,215 137,349 152,280

As at 31 March

W=A=1+—H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
“E-NE R B DFANE DR -AF DR NE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT EWToT  EFTT BN TT EFTT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ KA

TOTAL ASSETS A 2,814,342 2,763,762 2,879,798 2,835,330 2,589,950
TOTAL LIABILITIES HBEE (1,176,209)  (1,416,029)  (1,483,387)  (1,409,986) (1,231,265)

1,638,133 1,347,733 1,396,411 1,425,344 1,358,685

The information set out above does not form part of the audited Ut T RO A ol AR A B S R 4 i — R A o

financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in either the Company’s authorised or
issued share capital during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing

shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2018, the Company’s reserves available for cash
distribution and/or distribution in specie amounted to HK$388,567,000,
of which HK$24,977,000 has been proposed as a final dividend and
HK$96,064,000 has been proposed as a special dividend for the year.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

WU Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director)
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis

WU Wing Biu

NAM Chi Ming, Gibson

TAI Chun Kit (appointed on 1 December 2017)

Independent non-executive directors:

LEUNG Mei Han
CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter
Tsunao KIJIMA

In accordance with article 119 of the articles of association of the
Company, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis
and Mr. Nam Chi Ming, Gibson shall retire and being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

In accordance with article 101 of the article of association of the
Company, Mr. Tai Chun Kit shall retire and being eligible, will offer

himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Ms. Leung Mei Han, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao
Kijima pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and still considers them to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who is proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company’s board
of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities
and performance and the results of the Group, and reviewed by
the remuneration committee of the Group. Particulars of the duties
and responsibilities of the remuneration committee are set out in
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and subject
to the provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
every director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No director or a connected entity of a director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party during the

year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2018, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model

Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

R IN
JBe iy B

B3
T
N
=E
RFER

AT BN HR AR
gﬁi*ﬂﬂ&t

=

5 B
il
/B

- En

RER-)EZA=Z+—H o KARESR R EET
BN B A 2 7 sl H A i A U B (O 9 Rl o e
W] (38 2% TR R ) SEXVER) Z B e
B I o o B A 2 DAL A R 2 U B R 4] 56352
R B P A L 2 B R T i B > SO b i S B Y
BR10FT Iz £l AT N F ATl 0 R 5 W B
S (A g B 1) 28050 8 A 2 ) g 32 ot 2 e i Je %
HWE

TR A 4y W) % 0 B B By 2 B A
Approximate
Number of percentage of
ordinary shares the Company’s

held/interested total issued shares

Notes ¥ A AR Wl B3 AT
Name of directors AW Wit Capacity 211 HBBIBOEH R AR
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen {4 (i)  Interest of controlled il A A MRS 259,478,000 67.52%
corporations
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly  #%E%A (i)  Interest of spouse and  FCABHE RS B Pl 259,478,000 67.52%
interest of controlled AR
corporations
Notes: it -
(i)  Such shares comprise: (i) FARBESaR:

(a) 70,000,000 shares, representing approximately 18.22% of the
Company’s total issued shares, are held by Careful Guide Limited
(“CGL”) which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen;

(b) 74,250,000 shares, representing approximately 19.32% of the
Company’s total issued shares, are held by Special Access Limited
(“SAL”) which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and
his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak
Fung, Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are deemed to be
interested in the 74,250,000 shares of the Company held by SAL;

and
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(a) 70,000,000 8¢ Bt 4 (A A< 23 &) © 84T B4 48 8 4
18.22%) J5 HiCareful Guide Limited ([CGL]) ¥
B A HBEY e ERESR

(b)  74,250,000/8 43 (1 A< A 7] T84T R4y 48 B 4
19.32%) J% HiSpecial Access Limited ([SALJ)
T o %A T Py AR R R L W SR &
L RBHE o Bt > MAEWRAERWERL L
1 0B S AL FE 47 274,250,000 8 A% 2 7] it
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)  Such shares comprise: (continued)

(¢) 115,228,000 shares,
the Company’s total issued shares, are held by Capital Season
Investments Limited (“CSI”). CSI is wholly owned by Advance
Finance Investments Limited (“AFI”) which is a wholly-owned

representing approximately 29.98% of

subsidiary of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited
(“HKFH”). Accordingly, HKFH is deemed to be interested in the
115,228,000 shares of the Company. HKFH is owned as to 0.07%
by the Company, 2.59% by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, 20.38% by
SAL, and 11.91% by CGL. As Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is the
spouse of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is
deemed to be interested in the shares of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen
and vice versa. Therefore, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his
spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are considered to have deemed
interests in the 115,228,000 shares of the Company by virtue of
their interests in HKFH.

(ii) As mentioned in note (i)(b) above, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly and her
spouse, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen are deemed to be interested in the
74,250,000 shares of the Company held by SAL. In addition to the
deemed interests of 115,228,000 shares in the Company’s total issued
shares as stated in note (i)(c) above, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is also
deemed to be interested in the 70,000,000 shares of the Company through
the interests of her spouse, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, in CGL as
mentioned in note (i)(a) above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, none of the directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company (including their spouses and children under
18 years of age) had been granted or exercised, any rights to subscribe
for shares of the Company required to be disclosed pursuant to the
SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any of the directors or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors

to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2018, the following parties (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) had interests
of 5% or more in the issued shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

o 30 0 By A 2 Z HE R

B B SCHEEE A > E N o A F R TR A
P EAER A Z T R AR Z 2 DU I I A
O 22 ARy B A 2 G M BRI 25 AT O % SRR 5 A
VNGNS CY N D R LN A AT ES ) PN
] I JHE AT S AT % B DL B o AT (] At 3 A
B W% SFRER] o

BEF-)EZHA=Z+H—H P AL (B30 #%
B 2 A V) R T R AT BN B BRAM) A4 W AR
15 7 M B8 R ) SR 3360k 2 MLE B AR L 2 B R
T G % B AT AR 24 B OB AT I 5%k DA B2 B 2

TR A2y W 3 BB By Z AT

Approximate
Number of percentage of

ordinary shares the Company’s

held/interested total issued shares
Name of substantial Note ey Y AR A Bt
shareholder FEREH LM W7 Capacity B0 HmB s B A E
SAL Beneficial owner 28X 2N 74,250,000 19.32%
CGL Beneficial owner L X/ TN 70,000,000 18.22%
CSI Beneficial owner EE-X 2N 115,228,000 29.98%
AFI (i)  Interest of controlled ¥l 2 FHEE 115,228,000 29.98%
corporation
HKFH TR (i)  Interest of controlled  H |2 Rl ME#s 115,228,000 29.98%
corporation
Note: it :
(i) The entire issued share capital of CSI is held by AFI which in turn is (i) AFIFF A CSIZ2 B C 84T R AS » 1 AFTRI AW &
wholly owned by HKFH. Accordingly, each of AFI and HKFH is deemed ZEHER o FIL > AFLRFr s 13 5 3 9l 4 25 R CST
to be interested in the same 115,228,000 shares of the Company held by B ¥ Z A W) 115,228,000 8¢ B4y v B A ) 25
CSL s o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at 31 March 2018, no persons (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or
any associated corporation”) had any interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in note

30 to the financial statements.

There was no outstanding share option at the beginning or at the end
of the year. During the year ended 31 March 2018, no share option has

been granted under the share option scheme.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. the Honourable TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS,
JP, PhD (honoris causa), aged 70, has been an executive director of
the Company since June 1993. Dr. Tai is the founder and chairman
of the Group, in charge of corporate and policy planning. He has
been awarded the Grand Bauhinia Medal, Gold Bauhinia Star and
Silver Bauhinia Star and Justice of the Peace by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. He served as a
member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”) from 2003 to 2018, during
which period he was a standing committee member of the CPPCC
from 2008 to 2018. He is currently a standing committee member
of the Guangdong Provincial Committee of the CPPCC. Dr. Tai was
awarded the Order of the Rising Sun, Gold and Silver Rays by the
Government of Japan in 2017 in recognition of his contributions
towards the promotion of Japanese food products in China. He is
currently a member of the Board of Trustees of Jinan University and
serves several public positions, including the president of the Hong
Kong Foodstuffs Association, the honorary president of Friends of
Hong Kong Association, the founding chairman of the Hong Kong
CPPCC (Provincial) Members Association, and the chairman of the
Hong Kong Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors. He received
a number of awards and accolades, including Asian Chinese Leader
Award, Certificate of Honor for Business Lifetime Achievement for
Producing Quality Food Products, Asian Social Caring Leadership
Award, the Worldwide Prominent Chiu Chow Business Leader Award
2012-2013, the World Outstanding Chinese Award, the Philanthropist
Award of the Grand Charity Ceremony 2011, the 30th Food Industry
Distinguished Service Award of Japan, the Award of the Ministry
of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries of Japan for the Overseas
Promotion of Japanese Food, the Outstanding Contribution Award
of the China National Food Industry, the China Food Safety Annual
Conference Award of Distinguished Management Entrepreneur,
“Honourable Citizen of Shantou City”, “Honourable Citizen of
Guangzhou City” and “Honourable Citizen of Jilin City” in Mainland
China. He is also the chairman and an executive director of Hong
Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (“HKFH”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company and the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and a director of Careful Guide
Limited and Special Access Limited, both of which are the substantial
shareholders of the Company. Dr. Tai is the spouse of Dr. Wu Mei
Yung, Quinly, the managing director and executive director of the
Company and the father of Mr. Tai Chun Kit, an executive director
of the Company. He is also a brother-in-law of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an
executive director of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Dr. WU Mei Yung, Quinly, PhD (honoris causa), aged 65, has been
an executive director of the Company since June 1993. Dr. Wu is a
co-founder and the managing director of the Group, responsible for
the Group’s strategic planning and operation policies, leading the
Group’s core business in congruence with its corporate development.
She has more than 40 years’ experience in the food and confectionery
business. Dr. Wu is also a director of Careful Guide Limited and
Special Access Limited, both of which are the substantial shareholders
of the Company. She is the spouse of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the
chairman and an executive director of the Company and the mother of
Mr. Tai Chun Kit, an executive director of the Company. Dr. Wu is a

sister of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an executive director of the Company.

Mr. MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis, aged 62, has been an executive
director of the Company since August 1999. Mr. Man is the finance
director of the Group, responsible for corporate finance, accounting,
information technology and project investments of the Group. Mr. Man
has a Master of Commerce degree from the University of New South
Wales in Australia. He is also a member of the CPA Australia and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has
gained extensive experience in finance and accounting from overseas
multinational corporations. Mr. Man joined the Group in 1992. He is

also the managing director of HKFH.

Mr. WU Wing Biu, aged 59, has been an executive director of the
Company since June 1993. Mr. Wu is experienced in sales, marketing
and merchandising and is now responsible for the establishment of
close relationship with Mainland China and overseas suppliers, and
catering business of the Group in Hong Kong. He has more than 30
years’ experience in the food and confectionery industry. Mr. Wu
joined the Group in 1978. He is a brother-in-law of Dr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen, the chairman and an executive director of the Company, and
a brother of Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, the managing director and an
executive director of the Company. Mr. Wu is an uncle of Mr. Tai

Chun Kit, an executive director of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. NAM Chi Ming, Gibson, aged 57, has been an executive
director of the Company since April 2010. Mr. Nam is responsible for
managerial controls and company secretarial affairs. He holds a Master
of Business Administration degree from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Nam is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and an
associate of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He has
extensive financial and managerial experience. Mr. Nam worked in the
Group from 1996 to 1999, and re-joined the Group in 2001.

Mr. TAI Chun Kit, aged 35, has been an executive director of the
Company since December 2017. Mr. Tai is responsible for new
business planning and development of the Group. Mr. Tai holds a
Bachelor of Business Administration (Hons) degree from the City
University of Hong Kong. He has extensive experience in retail
management, brands development and marketing planning. He joined
the Group in 2004. He is also an executive director of HKFH. Mr. Tai
is also an independent non-executive director of Niche-Tech Group
Limited, the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Tai is a son of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and Dr. Wu Mei Yung,
Quinly, both are executive directors of the Company and serve the
position of the chairman and managing director of the Company,
respectively. Mr. Tai is the nephew of Mr. Wu, an executive director
of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. LEUNG Mei Han, aged 59, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since December 1998.
Ms. Leung holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University
of Queensland in Australia and is a fellow member of CPA Australia.
Ms. Leung has more than 30 years’ experience in accounting,
securities, corporate finance and related areas. Ms. Leung is currently
an independent non-executive director of Bossini International
Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter, aged 72, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since July 2000. Mr. Chan was the
chairman of a company listed on the Stock Exchange until July 2002.
He was a senior general manager of a local bank until November 1998.
Mr. Chan was also a director of a listed company in Hong Kong from
1993 to 1995 and an executive director of a joint Chinese foreign
bank in Shenzhen until 1995. He has more than 30 years’ experience
in the banking and finance industry. Mr. Chan was an independent
non-executive director of Imagi International Holdings Limited from
May 2010 to January 2016 and of GOME Electrical Appliances
Holding Limited from May 2004 to June 2015. Mr. Chan is currently
an executive director of Asia Resources Holdings Limited and an
independent non-executive director of Dafy Holdings Limited. The
shares of these companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange.

Mr. Tsunao KIJIMA, aged 70, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since July 2011. He holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from Keio University in
Japan. Mr. Kijima was a managing executive officer of Nissin Foods
Holdings Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange.
He was also a non-executive director of Premier Foods Plc, a company
listed on the London Stock Exchange. He was the executive vice
president of Mitsubishi Corporation and also the chief representative
for China and Europe of Mitsubishi Corporation during different
periods of time. Mr. Kijima has more than 35 years’ experience of
worldwide trading of processed foods, beverages, snack foods and
other food products. Mr. Kijima served as a non-executive director
of Lianhua Supermarket Holdings Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from 2001 to 2006. He was an
independent non-executive director of the Company from 1997 to
2006.
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EREGHRA

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 57, is the managing director of Hong Kong
Ham Holdings Limited (“HK Ham”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, responsible for the overall strategic planning and production
operation of the Group’s ham manufacturing operations. He has
extensive experience in the manufacturing of ham and ham related
products. Mr. Tse joined HK Ham in 1980. He is also an executive
director of HKFH.

Ms. LAM Mei Chi, Clara, aged 45, is the director of the Group’s
Hong Kong, Macau and overseas sales department, responsible for
sales development and strategic sales management of Hong Kong,
Macau and overseas markets. Ms. Lam holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree from the Hong Kong University and a Master
of Business Administration degree from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong. She gained extensive experience in sales, merchandising
and category management. Before joining the Group, she held senior
position of merchandising department of leading supermarket chains
in Hong Kong, and a reputable health and beauty chain store in
Singapore. Ms. Lam joined the Group in 2008 and temporarily left in
early 2015 and re-joined the Group in 2016.

Mr. FUNG Kwok Wing, Kenny, aged 57, is the associate director
of the Group’s internal audit department responsible for internal
audit function. Mr. Fung holds various Master degree in Business
Administration, Corporate Governance, Finance and Professional
Accounting. He is also a member of various professional institutes,
including the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the Chartered
Institute of Marketing in the United Kingdom. Mr. Fung has extensive
experience in accounting and administration. He joined the Group in
1985 and temporarily left in the latter part of 2007 and re-joined the
Group in 2008.

Mr. WONG Hung Kin, aged 59, is the associate director of the
Group’s merchandising and marketing department, responsible for
product purchasing and merchandising. Mr. Wong holds a Master
of Business Administration degree from the California Southern
University in the United States. Prior to joining the Group, he was
a marketing manager of a local wines and spirits company and has
extensive experience in purchasing and marketing. Mr. Wong joined
the Group in 1995.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Mr. WONG Fu Hang, Derek, aged 45, is the associate director of
the Group’s merchandising and marketing department, responsible for
product purchasing and merchandising. Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor
of Science degree from The University of Hong Kong. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Wong held various marketing management
role for international and Hong Kong FMCG firms and has extensive
experience in marketing strategy development. Mr. Wong joined the
Group in 2014.

Ms. VONG Cheng I, Carmen, aged 54, is the associate director of the
Group’s human resources department, responsible for human resources
management and people development strategy. She holds a Bachelor
of Business Administration degree in Human Resources Management
from Simon Fraser University in Canada and a Master of Business
Administration degree from The University of Hong Kong. Ms. Vong
has extensive experience in Hong Kong and China on human resources
management and strategic planning. Prior to joining the Group, she
was the general manager, human resources for Hong Kong and China
of an international FMCG firm. Ms. Vong joined the Group in 2017.

Mr. LAI Chi Ming, aged 61, is the general manager of Dongguan
Four Seas Meat Processing Company Limited in Guangdong, China,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, responsible for overall
management of ham and sausages production in Mainland China. He
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Heriot-Watt
University in the United Kingdom, Bachelor of Laws degree from the
Peking University in China and Master of Professional Accounting
degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lai
has extensive experience in meat processing manufacturing and

management. He joined the Group in 1981.

Mr. HO Kwok Tong, Fred, aged 64, is the general manager of the
Group’s information technology department, responsible for corporate
information management and information technology development. He
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the California
Southern University in the United States. Mr. Ho has extensive
experience in the development of management information systems.
He joined the Group in 1994.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the year.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued shares) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2018.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares were held by the public as at the date of

this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in

the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and the risk management and internal control
systems. The audit committee comprises the independent non-

executive directors of the Company.

The summary of duties and works of the audit committee is set out in

the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant event of the Group after the reporting period

are set out in note 40 to the financial statements.
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AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2018
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BREE A& LR

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE

As environmental, social and governance indicators progressively
become a growing benchmark for companies, the Company is
pleased to present the Group’s position on Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) issues for the year ended 31 March 2018.

VISIONS

The Group puts a priority on playing a role in advocating for the
environment and the community surrounding its operations and
beyond, and conducting our day-to-day operations with high quality
services, coupled with responsibility. In the initial stages of reporting
on ESG issues, the Group will endeavour to provide future reports
with further strengthening of corporate social responsibility and
enhancing of environmental performance and resource efficiency

within operations.

PUTTING THIS ESG REPORTING
TOGETHER

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide issued by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Stakeholder Engagement

Following discussion by the directors of the Company, key
stakeholders, and employees, those ESG issues considered most

important to the Group’s operations are reflected in this report.

The development of the sustainability strategy and vision will be an
iterative, ongoing process. The following systems and controls have
been put in place to facilitate our ESG management systems and
future progression in all areas of environmental, social and governance

issues.
. Involving all relevant personnel, including directors of the
Company, stakeholders, and employees from all Group

operations;

. Ensuring continuous review of entities and operations within

the Group to be covered within the scope of this report;

. Refining and monitoring data management processes to ensure

efficient and accurate data collection;

. Updates will be reported regularly to the directors of the

Company to ensure ongoing progress.
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PUTTING THIS ESG REPORTING
TOGETHER (continued)

Stakeholder Engagement (continued)

This process will periodically be reviewed and refined, to ensure
that the system in place is efficient, effective, and facilitates strides
towards our ultimate ESG goals and visions. This will guide the
development of our corporate sustainability strategy, and how we

conduct our day-to-day operations.

WHAT WE DO

This report primarily focuses on the core businesses, which the Group
has direct management control over. Different operations of the Group,
including manufacturing, wholesaling, catering, and retailing, are
covered by this ESG report.

CUSTOMERS FIRST

The Group has established a trusted name in providing top quality
products in Hong Kong and Mainland China since 1971. Operating in
the food industry means that utmost importance is placed upon food
safety and quality, which are essential to the longevity of the business,

and thus a core focus of the Group’s operations.

Today’s consumers are increasingly concerned about food nutrition
information and food safety issues, and the Group believes that
it should exhibit good responsible business practices to provide

consumers with unwavering quality assurance.

Subsidiaries of the Company are committed to following all relevant
food regulations and legislation in their places of operation. Within
Hong Kong, the Group complies with all applicable food industry
legislation as stipulated by the Hong Kong Centre for Food Safety,
including Hong Kong’s Food Safety Ordinance (Cap. 612), and Food
and Drugs (Composition and Labelling) Regulations (Cap. 132W),
Preservatives in Food Regulation (Cap. 132BD), and Sweeteners in
Food Regulations (Cap. 132U).

Stringent quality inspections are performed for every batch of product
made within our premises prior to distribution and sale, e.g. microbial
content tests in compliance with guidelines set by the Hong Kong
Centre for Food Safety. Any products that do not pass inspection
are handled according to strict non-conforming product handling

procedures.
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CUSTOMERS FIRST (continued)

A standard food safety practice involves diligent record keeping of
production lot numbers, with the storage of corresponding samples for
the duration of their shelf lives in case there is a need for sampling
or testing. Following the distribution of these products, there are also
standardised complaint handling and product recall procedures in

place.

In addition, the subsidiaries of the Company go above and beyond
regulatory compliance with facilities and production plants achieving
internationally recognised certifications including Hazard Analysis
and Critical Control Points (HACCP) for food safety, ISO9001 for
quality management, and ISO22000 for food safety management, and
therefore conform to stringent requirements.

Raw ingredients are key to the quality of our products. Research
and development, hand in hand with careful due diligence, ensures
that the best quality raw materials are used in the Group’s products;
for example, aluminium-free baking powder, and non-Genetically
Modified Organism (GMO) soybean oil. Various products of the
Group have achieved certifications demonstrating high-quality

products including:
. Q-Mark certification

. Hong Kong Top Brand Mark

CARING FOR OUR EMPLOYEES

The core of the business of the Group is the employees. The Group
places unrivalled value in its workforce, with an understanding that
the success of any company revolves around its people. Ensuring a
beneficial development process to encourage career growth is essential

to retaining a happy team of staff.

Working with Us

Onboarding of new staff includes the provision of an employee
manual, which provides all relevant information, procedures, and
company policies. The Group offers benefits to support and enhance
the professional lives of the employees; some examples of which

include:
. Working hours in accordance with the law;
. Annual and sick leave allowances;
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CARING FOR OUR EMPLOYEES
(continued)

Working with Us (continued)

. Insurances in accordance with the law, including medical,
maternity, work injury, endowment and unemployment

insurance; and
. Housing provident fund.

Prioritising Health and Safety

The Group strives to provide a safe and efficient working environment
for all its employees, and various steps are taken to ensure the health

and safety of its workforce in everyday operations as a top priority.

The Group’s Health and Safety Handbook has been prepared for all
employees, which outlines policies and procedures, and emergency
response procedures, and is reviewed and updated on a regular basis.
The Group aims to provide and maintain safe working conditions for
all employee roles and responsibilities through defining health and
safety, explaining potential hazards and the relevant safety measures,
and describing ways to avoid accidental injuries. Procedures are also
provided for emergency situations, as well as off-site safety measures.

Staff working in production areas are subject to additional policies,
such as annual physical examinations, and a mandatory dress code that
conforms to proper protection and hygiene requirements (including
masks or mouth guards, gloves, hairnets, earplugs, etc.). Regular
training programmes are mandated for special equipment operations,

safety, and food hygiene.

Formal assurance mechanisms are in place and accessible by any
member of the workforce. Management also conducts periodic spot-

checks to ensure procedural compliance.
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BREE A& LR

CARING FOR OUR EMPLOYEES
(continued)

Investing in our people

The Group values the learning and development process of each staff
member at all levels, and provides suitable and appropriate training
to allow employees to meet their basic job requirements and fulfil
personal development goals. Policies and procedures are clearly laid
out in the Employee Manual.

Within the manufacturing arm of the business, regular participation in
safety training is mandated, both during staff onboarding and annually
thereafter. Any government programme related to food safety policies
are closely monitored and followed.

Heavy emphasis is placed on additional staff training programmes
to maintain the international standards that our facilities are proudly
accredited with, such as ISO9001 for quality management, ISO22000
for food safety management, FSSC 22000 Food Safety System
Certification, and Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points
(HACCP).

Staff training at Murray Catering Company Limited (“Murray
Catering”)

84% of the relevant staff of Murray Catering, a subsidiary of the
Company, participated in three sessions of ISO22000 and HACCP
training.

UPKEEPING SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group believes in supporting, investing, and fostering a good

relationship with the people and communities in which we work.

Fair and just

First and foremost, the Group operates in compliance with all relevant
labour laws and regulations in its place of operation. The Group is
an equal opportunity employer that endeavours to provide a working
environment that is free of discrimination of any form, such as

ethnicity, race, gender, age, etc.
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UPKEEPING SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
(continued)

Responsibility down the chain

The Group’s operations largely rely on its supply chain, whether it be
a parent company, local farm, or overseas company that supplies high-

quality food products or goods.

Strict guidelines are maintained for the selection of raw material
suppliers, which cover the provision of valid business licenses;
registration for the export of goods; test results of raw materials to
certify no use of pesticides, clenbuterol, etc.; imported animal product
permits from the relevant government organisation (e.g., Agriculture,
Fisheries and Conservation Department in Hong Kong); and any other

mandated requirements in the relevant place of operation.

An annual supplier audit process is in place to evaluate performance in
terms of product quality, price, delivery time, after-sales service, etc.
Suppliers are requested to provide relevant third-party reports on the

supplier’s environmental and social impacts.

Ensuring quality suppliers

Supplier Audit Forms are regularly reviewed to ensure the
continued satisfactory performance of suppliers. Other than price
competitiveness, quality of service, and compliance with legislation

and guidelines, evaluations are conducted based on:

. Product supply flexibility;

. Quality and management aspects, such as quality assurance/
verification processes;

. Quality assurance management systems in place;
. Training provided for staff;

. Equipment maintenance;

. Third-party testing.
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BREE A& LR

UPKEEPING SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
(continued)

Transparency and Integrity

The Group maintains a strict code of conduct on the topic of anti-

corruption, and transparency in the honesty and integrity of operations.

Anti-corruption policies are clearly set out in the Employee Manual.
The Group distributes guidelines to the associated supply chain, which
covers the topic of bribery. If any suppliers are found to exhibit any
adverse behaviour in relation to bribery, their supplier qualifications

are voided and their involvement with the Group are suspended.

Clear and visible policies

Notices are posted around employee areas to ensure clarity and
importance of anti-corruption and anti-bribery policies. As an
example, the policy of a subsidiary of the Company indicates that
staff cannot accept gifts including cash, meals, entertainment tickets,
products, travel with expenses paid, special discounts, samples,
festive gifts, etc., from suppliers. It states that during circumstances
under which meals with suppliers are necessary, company staff
should ensure their own costs are borne. It requires that senior
management should be informed if staff are aware of any instances in

which this policy is not being followed.

Giving back to the Community

The Group participates actively in community services, supporting
charitable activities and youth programs. Food product donations
are also provided to the community and organisations including
Junior Police Call; schools; organisations for the elderly, women and
youth, and Kaifong welfare associations. Subsidiaries actively seek
out and participate in charitable activities, such as providing yearly
scholarships, and organizing staff to contribute to charitable efforts.

COMMITMENT TO THE ENVIRONMENT

During the year, the average carbon emissions for each unit of product
from our operations is 0.32 kgCO,e. 69% of the total carbon emissions

of the Group came from our manufacturing plants.

The Group’s subsidiaries place a high value on their operations and
associated impacts on the environment. Aside from diligently ensuring
that operations comply with relevant environmental legislation and
permitting, the Group acknowledges the interdependency between
finite natural resources and the need for these resources in operations
revolving around food production and distribution, and therefore,
conscious efforts to manage this relationship are critical to the Group’s

continued success.
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COMMITMENT TO THE ENVIRONMENT
(continued)

Conscious choices

Recyclable Packaging

Polypropylene is used as a packaging material for the finished
products of Tsun Fat (Huizhou) Biscuit Factory Limited, a subsidiary
of the Company. This material is fully recyclable.

Transportation in compliance with International Standards

Environmentally friendly goods vehicles that comply with European
Emission Standards (Euro V) are used for product distribution by
Four Seas Mercantile Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, to

minimise emissions impacts on the surrounding environment.

Choosing cleaner burning boilers

Four Seas Candy (Shantou) Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company,
replaced its EX-1500 type oil-fired boiler with a CZ1-2000G20S
(BM) LPG boiler. The LPG boiler boasts a 92% reduction in SO,
concentrations, and 30% reduction in NO_ concentrations.

Investing in water quality

During the year, Four Seas Confectionery (Shantou) Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of the Company, invested in reconstructing its existing
sewage treatment station to update the wastewater treatment
technology, and increase the sewage treatment capacity from 10 tons/

day to 20 tons/day.

Regardless of the type of operation, subsidiaries have their own
environmental policies in place, coupled with resource saving
initiatives that are appropriate to their business, all of which progress

towards the ultimate goal to minimise their impact on the environment.
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COMMITMENT TO THE ENVIRONMENT B ARG (8)
(continued)
Electricity consumption FEE N

Quarterly Electricity Consumption
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The majority of our carbon emissions are generated through our AW B PE ROy h B EREE T E L - HETOH
operations’ electricity consumption. Initiatives implemented to reduce it ¥ K A i D Y R (9 Wk A Bk ) 1 AL A -
energy consumption (and therefore, carbon emissions) currently

include:

. Implementation of energy saving plans with energy efficiency . BEAT B0 4 BE VR ST 3 2 AE UR 2K A8 1 5
initiatives.

. Regular energy surveys are conducted for comparison . E 91028 8 F AR LU IEAT RE DR A > DATE R A
year upon year, for identification of energy management U5 B o B O T I
opportunities and improvements;

. Installation of occupancy sensors to control lighting; . R P ERER b B 4 H 5
. Procurement policies of appliances with energy efficiency . TR 5 A BB VR AU %5 A 4R T AY R o
labels.
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COMMITMENT TO THE ENVIRONMENT
(continued)

Electricity consumption (continued)

Electricity saving with energy efficient lighting

A number of the factory premises of the Group have switched to
LED and T5 lighting in efforts to reduce their energy consumption.
By changing over 2,200 bulbs collectively, Four Seas (Suzhou)
Food Co., Ltd., Four Seas (Hebei) food Company Limited, Four
Seas Confectionery (Shantou) Company Limited, Four Seas Candy
(Shantou) Co., Ltd. and Tsun Fat (Huizhou) Biscuit Factory Limited,
subsidiaries of the Company, achieve a total savings of about
270,885 kWh of electricity per year, representing a reduction of 56%

of electricity consumption for lighting.

Waste Management
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Waste Generation by Type (Weight) during the year
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Paper/Cardboard

%%@?W-ﬂ\

— B
7%

Our food manufacturing and distribution operations mainly generate
waste paper/cardboard. We have existing ongoing relationships with
various recyclers, through which our waste materials can be recycled
into another useful form. Group-wide efforts have contributed towards
recycling an overall 73% of the total waste.
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BREE A& LR

COMMITMENT TO THE ENVIRONMENT

(continued)

Waste Management (continued)
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Waste Generation and Recycling, by Type during the year
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Encouraging public participation in reducing food wastage
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The district-wide Cultural Table (“JCHI4&%4”) programme
was launched by the Guangzhou Liwan Environmental
Protection Bureau on World Environment Day in 2013, for
which voluntarily participating restaurants encourage the
minimisation of food wastage. Customers with no food waste
left on their tables would be given a monetary discount as a
reward. Following positive feedback for the programme, Panxi
Restaurant, a restaurant owned by the Group which is located
in Guangzhou, launched its own Cultural Table programme
on the 5th of every month in 2014, as a solid commitment to
reduce the restaurant’s food wastage. As a continuation of the
programme, Panxi Restaurant now promotes ‘wise ordering’
to its customers to reduce food wastage due to excessive food
ordering.
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38 tonnes of food waste turned into animal feed
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Murray Catering has been partnering with Shing Hing Hong
Recycling Service Co. Ltd. (“Shing Hing Hong”), based
in Yuen Long, since September 2015. The collaboration
ensures that all organic waste generated by Murray Catering’s
operations are collected and recycled into animal feed for pigs
and fish, to help reduce the operating costs of local farmers.
Aside from food waste, Shing Hing Hong also collects the
waste plastic lunchboxes to be cleaned, dried, and packaged for
further recycling.
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COMMITMENT TO THE ENVIRONMENT
(continued)

Water Consumption

The Group understands the importance of water in our day-to-
day operations, as well as to life in general. Initiatives currently
implemented at our subsidiaries include the encouragement of raising
awareness of employees, and installation of equipment such as
automatic low-flow water faucets.
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Quarterly Water Consumption during the year
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Particular attention is given to promoting environmental awareness
to the workforce through education, so that staff are aware of how
their work as well as daily lives can affect the environment. Signs
and posters promoting the benefits of saving electricity, reducing
paper use, healthy eating, etc. can be found on walls of common areas

throughout the facilities.

The Group will continue to look for ways to reduce emissions and
natural resource impacts from their operations. We aim to continually
strive to understand and assess its impacts and contributions to all

environmental, social and governance issues.
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SUMMARY OF ENVIRONMENTAL BE— =H
PERFORMANCE DATA AF B TR 5% B W s e
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Unit Totals Unit Intensity
1K A At S % %
Emissions #Eii¥
Carbon tonnes CO,e 21,786 0.000328
WE AR
NO, &HE k¥ kg T3 87,092 0.00131
NoORE=R (7] kg T-% 166 0.0000025
PMERLY) kg T7 6,837 0.000103
Resource Consumption % i {i #6
Direct Energy Consumption TL3% fils Yk it
Diesel and petrol &7t & ¥t litres 2 FF 260,927 0.00393
Gas (LPG) W BARHE (RALAhR) kg T8 70,528 0.00106
Indirect Energy Consumption [8J32 g U546 5t
Electricity B /) MWh 21,466 0.000323
JKFLIRE
Gas 7 BAS "000 MJ 13,039 0.000196
TIRFEHE
Water Consumption 6K
Water 7K m? 3. J7 K 328,777 0.0049
Non-hazardous Waste Generation B 5 2 453 Bk 3¢ )
Paper/cardboard #%5R,~#EAR tonnes M 2,867 0.0000431
General waste —ftB¥4 tonnes M 245 0.0000037
Plastic ¥} tonnes M 108 0.0000016
Food/kitchen waste &4,/ ik tonnes M 89 0.0000013
Other H:At tonnes M 48 N/A A
Packaging Material {3 3%k}
Paper #k5k tonnes M 1,282 0.000484
Plastic % tonnes M 828 0.000026
Metal 48 tonnes Ml 543 0.000553
Units from Operations 45 %E B 5 24 ¥Lbi.
Units of Production/Distribution/Sold 42 /438 H £ BLAL Units HLAL 66,470,445 N/A A5
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SUMMARY OF ESG REPORT COVERAGE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
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emissions and results achieved
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SUMMARY OF ESG REPORT COVERAGE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

(continued)
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electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh
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any issues in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose. This
ESG report is the Group’s
first ESG report to include
data; results achieved will
be discussed in subsequent
year’s ESG reports.
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SUMMARY OF ESG REPORT COVERAGE BE_F-N4E=ZH=1+—HIk
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 AR BEESG it % 7 =5 o I e 2 (4)
(continued)
Related Sections in this
Reporting Aspect Description Report Coverage Report
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Environmental (continued)
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2018 (the “Annual Report”).

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below

Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the management are committed to maintaining
a good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders.
The Company believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential to a continual growth and enhancement of shareholders’
value. The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices with reference to the latest development of corporate
governance. Throughout the year under review, the Company has
applied the principles of corporate governance and complied with most
of the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (“the Listing Rules”) with the exception of code
provisions A.4.1, A.4.2 and E.1.2 of the CG Code, details will be set
out below.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company

are summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework of prudent
and effective controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed;
delegate authorities to the management to manage and supervise
the business of the Group; and ensure the management monitor

performance against objectives being set.

Corporate Governance Report
e REgE 8

AAFAHEREG (EFG)) KARAEHKRE_ZF
—JAEZH =4 HIRE R (T4 ) N2
HAEE R

AR T Z A SR BOR W BT T L2 AR5
6 B Oy U R B AT -

e gk

A ) KRS PR BN MRy R A AR - FER
2B ZE I~ R B RO S i R R o AR
AFEFME - RAFM BRSSO N R X
REBRERE L EE - KAFSFLEETRZIR
T 0 R S 0 7 B A AR L o AR W) A B A [l
JEELATE B T R PR 7 Vs T 5 28 5 B A PR T ([0 &2
B l) @ i BRI (7 i LR D) Bk 14 pr i 2 A 3
ISR (TR ]) 2 8RR » J3En DL 2
SF H R R ER AR R L o MEAR A ST R Z S RIMB SR AL41
P~ A 42K RE. 120 BRAD » FEH AT -

A T B A 9RO L R T

HAH
HOW AR AT PR 2 4T I 9 % SO

A ORI SR H AR RBLH R
WSR3 S IR EL AT R B E S DI DR B A B
O BRE W 5 T RORE ) A B R DL B B A AR T
RSB 5 e R AR BRI 4% T E H AR BRI -

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A

57



58

Corporate Governance Report
1 SR iR W

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management (continued)

The Company has formalised a written guideline for the division
of responsibilities between the Board and the management. Certain
responsibilities or functions have been delegated by the Board to the
management which include the day-to-day business operation of the
Group, execution of corporate strategies, business and financial plans
and budgets approved by the Board; and preparation of annual and
interim financial statements. The Board has reserved for its decision
matters of the Group covering the approval of significant changes in
accounting or capital structure; approval of public announcements
and financial statements; approval of major acquisitions, disposals
and major capital projects; approval of material borrowings and any
issuing or buying back of equity securities; and approval of the annual
budget and setting of the dividend policy.

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2018, the Board of the Company comprises nine
directors consisting of six executive directors and three independent

non-executive directors.

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the Board
and Board Committees as at 31 March 2018:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

Corporate Governance Report
e REgE 8

PR (A1)

A AL (5)

Board of Directors

HA

Executive directors

HITHF
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)
W ()

WISRAY (H FAAEPY)
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis
SORFE

Wu Wing Biu

1 KB

Nam Chi Ming, Gibson
BE W

Tai Chun Kit

OB

B AT HFF
Leung Mei Han
B

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter
PR £ 4

Tsunao Kijima

A B 4 1

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director)

Independent non-executive directors

Company Secretary
2 ) B

Nam Chi Ming, Gibson
L]

Executive Committee Audit Committee Remuneration Committee Nomination Committee
WITRAH HBEERG FMEAA RHEZAF
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen Leung Mei Han Chan Yuk Sang, Peter Tai Tak Fung, Stephen
(Chairman) (Chairperson) (Chairman) (Chairman)
WY () PSS GREY ) BRE A (L) BB (L)
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly Chan Yuk Sang, Peter Wu Mei Yung, Quinly Leung Mei Han
R Bk E A= HIRA PSS i
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis Tsunao Kijima Leung Mei Han Chan Yuk Sang, Peter
SCKH: K B 4 e PSS i PR E A
Wu Wing Biu
K
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

Biographical information of the directors and relevant relationships
among the directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of
Directors and Senior Management” in the Report of the Directors of

this Annual Report.

Board Meeting
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well as

other significant matters.

The Board has convened four regular meetings during the year ended
31 March 2018 and the attendance record of each director at the said
board meetings and the annual general meeting of the Company is set

out below:

PR (A1)

A ALY (A

B0 TR R AT B A S 2 TR A AR U A A i
RSN Y AR S YN SV Yl R

o
1 i ok B T i

R AF 9 R 9 B ik DA e AR A ]
R SR B K U A B R b A A AR R A
DYEN PN P

FREERRER - NE=ZA=+—HILFEHLH
B O R 01 e > T A% S BT A o SRR
JE A KT B R AL BRI T

Number of meetings

attended/held
HWBAT kB
Regular Annual
Board General
Meetings Meeting
Name of directors WL wHE W ok BARAER B
Executive directors AT P
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)* WASK (/) 4/4 0/1
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director) WISRA (H FAAEE) 4/4 11
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis SOKHE 4/4 1/1
Wu Wing Biu RS 4/4 1
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson L] 4/4 1/1
Tai Chun Kit' O e 212 0/0
Independent non-executive directors B3 BT g
Leung Mei Han BRI 4/4 1/1
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter PR 4/4 11
Tsunao Kijima** ENCEL S 4/4 0/1
* Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen was unable to attend the annual general * AR AR R A — HE R AR

meeting of the Company held on 30 August 2017 as he had another

important engagement on the same day.

# Mr. Tai Chun Kit was appointed as an executive director of the Company

on 1 December 2017.

*#%  Mr. Tsunao Kijima was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the wE

Company held on 30 August 2017 due to his overseas commitment.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting (continued)
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance (continued)

Under the code provision E.1.2, the chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting. The chairman of the board of the
Company, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, was unable to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 30 August 2017 (“2017
AGM?”) as he had another important engagement on the same day.
Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, the managing director of the Company,
attended and took the chair of the 2017 AGM.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. For committee meetings, notices are served in
accordance with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms
of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors or committee members at least
3 days before each Board meeting and each committee meeting
to keep the directors or committee members apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All directors are encouraged to take
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the
performance of their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board
and each director have separate and independent access to the senior

management where necessary.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally sent to directors
or committee members for their comment within a reasonable period
of time after each meeting and final version is open for directors’

inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered material by the Board, the matter will be
dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if
appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal
with the matter.

Corporate Governance Report
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”) from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an additional member of the Board. Appointments are first
considered by the Nomination Committee and recommendations of the
Nomination Committee are then put to the Board for decision. Details
in respect of the process and criteria for the Nomination Committee to
select and recommend candidates for directorship are provided in the
section headed “Nomination Committee” in this Corporate Governance
Report.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the
directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation and re-election by
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company, such that
every director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every

three years.

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently,
all independent non-executive directors of the Company are not
appointed for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association. As such, the Board
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting than
those in the CG Code.

Under the code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after their appointment. Every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with the Articles
of Association, any director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and
shall then be eligible for re-election. The Board considers that such
a deviation is not material as a casual vacancy seldom appears and
interval between the appointment made to fill casual vacancy and the

immediate following annual general meeting is short.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory

requirements.

All directors have complied with the code provision A.6.5 in relation
to continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged an annual training
session on the new development of the Listing Rules and statutory
updates for the Board during the year. In addition, some directors have
attended seminars and workshops on topics which are relevant to their
work and responsibilities so as to update their technical knowledge
and professional skills during the year ended 31 March 2018. Relevant
reading materials on corporate governance, regulatory developments
and changes of accounting standards and other topics relevant to the
Company’s business and director’s duties and responsibilities have
been given to the directors of the Company from time to time during

the year under review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development (continued)

Participation by individual directors in continuous professional

development during the year under review is summarised below:

A (5)
0 2 R U (4D

7% [ B4 JBE P 22 B A5 S S 0 Joe 2 8 i) 5 o 19 MR
T

Types of training

Name of directors WAL Bl
Executive directors Ay g

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) WY () B,C
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director) W SR (i A AP ) B,C
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis XK A,B,C
Wu Wing Biu 1 KA B,C
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson s A, B, C
Tai Chun Kit WA A,B.C
Independent non-executive directors B S Ik AT R

Leung Mei Han I A,B,C
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B E A4 A, B, C
Tsunao Kijima A 5 4 A B, C

A - Attending briefings/seminars/conferences/forums

B - Attending in-house annual training session

C - Reading updates on relevant topics including corporate governance and
regulatory updates

Chairman and Managing Director

Currently, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly
hold the positions of Chairman and Managing Director respectively.
Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in

writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible
for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practices. With the support of the
executive directors and senior management, the Managing Director
is responsible for managing the Group’s business, including
implementation of objectives, policies and major strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board. She is also in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day operation in accordance with the instructions
from the Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors, representing one-
third of the Board, with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and
3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received a written
annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director of
his/her independence and the Company is of the view that the existing
independent non-executive directors are independent under the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules up to
the date of this Annual Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely the Executive
Committee, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with specific written terms of reference which are available
to shareholders upon request. The terms of reference of the Board
committees, except those of Executive Committee, are also available

for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established with specific written terms

of reference and all of its members are executive directors.

The primary duties of the Executive Committee include approval and
execution of the corporate guarantees to be provided by the Company
to individual bankers in respect of the banking facilities granted to
any company of the Group, including wholly-owned subsidiaries, non
wholly-owned subsidiaries and associates within the meaning of the

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

The Executive Committee has held fifteen meetings during the year for
the purposes of approving, inter alia, to give guarantees for banking
facilities granted to companies of the Group and to provide guarantees
and/or indemnities with respect to the obligations of a wholly-owned

subsidiary in tenancy agreements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Executive Committee (Continued)

The attendance records of the Executive Committee during the year are
set out below:

ERZR G (5)
WA Z LA ()

PAT & H A A A B A SRS R

Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Executive Committee members WO ZAGRA AR ) 2 1 Ve
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen il
(Chairman of Executive Committee) (BT Z 8 & 3E5) 15/15
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly WER 15/15
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis SCIRHE 15/15
Wu Wing Biu W Tk A 15/15
Audit Committee EREHRE

The Audit Committee was established with specific written terms
of reference and all of its members are independent non-executive
directors, one of them possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive directors, namely Ms. Leung Mei Han (Chairperson
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao
Kijima.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, to monitor the integrity of
the Company’s financial statements and review significant financial
reporting judgements contained in them, to maintain an appropriate
relationship with the Company’s external auditor and to oversee the

audit process.

The Audit Committee has held two meetings during the year ended 31
March 2018 to review the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discuss internal controls and financial reporting
matters including a review of the interim financial statements for
the six months ended 30 September 2017 and the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 of the Group. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31
March 2018 of the Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year are set
out below:

Corporate Governance Report

(e PRy
HERHRE (H)
HHE A (5)

W H A A B A SRS R

Number of meetings

attended/held

Name of Audit Committee members REREGRAHAR LY Y TRn-f e

Leung Mei Han I 2/2
(Chairperson of Audit Committee) (HHEZEB & TR

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B E A 2/2

Tsunao Kijima AR B 4 e 2/2
Remuneration Committee HHEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and is currently constituted by two independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter (Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee) and Ms. Leung Mei Han and an

executive director, namely Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly.

The Company has adopted the model where the Remuneration
Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure of the
Company for the remuneration of all directors and senior management
and the remuneration packages of individual directors and senior

management.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting during the year
to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration policy and structure,
the remuneration packages of all directors and senior management by
reference to the individual performance, skills and knowledge, time
commitment and responsibilities, and performance and profitability of
the Group, and the service contracts of the directors for the year under
review. Details of the remuneration of each director of the Company

are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

wRZHG ()
LESAC T

Wi 2 H AR B R A SRS I R

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during the

year are set out below:

Number of meeting

attended/held

Name of Remuneration Committee members HMZE R RS R BT frak ik
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B A=

(Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (#BZ A & M) 1/1

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly W 1/1

Leung Mei Han I 1/1

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the remuneration of the members
of the senior management, not being the directors of the Company, by

band is set out below:

BREZR—)\E=ZH =+ H IR EIHERA A A
ERZHAEIANRZHMAL W

Remuneration band EAC BN Number of persons
(HKS$) (7#7c) A
Nil to 1,000,000 % %1,000,000 2
Over 1,000,000 1,000,000 | 6

Further particulars regarding the directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in
notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and currently comprises an executive director,
namely Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and two independent non-executive directors, namely Ms.
Leung Mei Han and Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
Board composition, to develop and formulate the relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment of directors, to monitor the
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors and to
assess the independence of independent non-executive directors. The
Nomination Committee will also identify individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships when
there are vacancies on the Board. All appointments will be made based
on merits and against objective criteria with due regard to the Board

diversity policy of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting during the year
to review, inter alia, the Board’s structure, size and composition
to ensure that it had a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive directors
of the Company.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee during the year

are set out below:
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Number of meeting

attended/held
Name of Nomination Committee members RELEZBOLBAH iy P Zag- Ve ¢
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen s
(Chairman of Nomination Committee) (REZAGTEN) 1/1
Leung Mei Han 7k 2 1 1/1
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter 1 B o 1/1
Summary of the Board Diversity Policy EE S U EFT WA E Y T

The Company considers increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage.
The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board of the
Company. Under the Policy, the Nomination Committee will consider
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service in reviewing and assessing the Board
composition. The Nomination Committee has assessed the composition
of the Board against these aspects and has come to the conclusion that
it is a balanced board of directors.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance

functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by directors of the Company
(the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors
of the Company, the directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Code of
Conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2018.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities
Transactions by Relevant Employees (the “Employees Code”) on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by
the employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Code by the employees was noted by the Company throughout the year
ended 31 March 2018.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2018. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2018, appropriate accounting principles and policies are
selected and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are
appropriate and reasonable; and these financial statements have been

prepared on a going concern basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board with
such information and explanations as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial

information and position, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of both annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the

Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, Ernst
& Young (“EY™), are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of
this Annual Report.

The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating

to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

External Auditors’ Remuneration

EY has been re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor by
shareholders at the 2017 annual general meeting until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting. They are primarily responsible for
providing audit services in connection with the financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2018.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, EY received approximately
HK$3,199,000 (2017: HK$3,086,000) for audit and related services
and approximately HK$818,000 (2017: HK$748,000) for other non-
audit services which include the taxation services.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibilities for maintaining
adequate risk management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets and reviewing their
effectiveness. The systems, including the strategies, policies and
expectations on the oversight, have been designed to manage rather
than to eliminate the risk of failure in achieving the Group’s business
objectives. Therefore, it can only provide reasonable but not absolute

assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

Risk management and internal control systems are designed and put
in place with a view to safeguard the Group’s assets and business
operations. In order to successfully implement, support and sustain the
risk management process, the Group has taken into account the factors
including risk-aware culture, risk prioritisation, as well as allocation
of roles and responsibilities. The systems are featured with defined
organisational and management structure with authorities properly
delegated to qualified personnel from different management levels

within the Group.

The regular monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems is mainly conducted by the delegated executive directors
and senior management. With the oversight of the Audit Committee,
the delegated executive directors lead the senior management in
overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk

management and internal control systems.

Executive directors of the Company determine the business strategies
and objectives of the Group, and evaluate and determine the nature and
extent of risks the Group is willing to take in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives and therefore are accountable for the effectiveness

of the risk management.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

Senior management from different departments identifies and
evaluates the risks which may potentially impact the major business
processes, including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security, monitors the risks and
takes measures to mitigate risks in daily operations.

Periodic meetings are held between the delegated executive directors
and senior management. Standing instructions have been provided to
management of the Group that if any material issue relating to risk
management and internal control systems that may have or have had
a material impact on the business of the Group arise, it should be
reported on a timely basis.

Internal control procedures are designed to protect the Group’s assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure proper maintenance
of accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used for business decision or publication; and to provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement. The internal audit function
reviews the major operational, financial and compliance controls and
risk management function on a continuing basis to cover the major
operations of the Group.

The delegated executive directors and senior management has reported
to the Board the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems for the year under review. The Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the systems including the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting functions and considers that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group are effective and adequate.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling inside information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Nam Chi Ming, Gibson, an executive director of the Company,
is the company secretary. During the year under review, Mr. Nam
undertook more than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 73 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition
of shareholders holding at the date of deposit not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right to
vote deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders
(continued)

If the Board does not within 30 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed to convene the general meeting, the requistionists
themselves may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company are available for viewing on the Company’s
website at http://www.fourseasgroup.com.hk.

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests for putting forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at 21/F., Manhattan Place, No. 23 Wang
Tai Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
reflecting mostly current practices of the Company for communication
with its shareholders. Such policy aims at disseminating information
in relation to the Group to shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars, and is reviewed regularly by the Board
to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company maintains a website at http://www.fourseasgroup.com.hk
as a communication platform with shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s announcements, business
developments/operations and other information are available for public
access.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The chairmen
of the Board and Board committees actively participate in the annual
general meeting and answer questions from the shareholders. Notice
of the annual general meeting is sent to the shareholders at least 20
clear business days before the meeting. All resolutions put forward
at shareholder meetings including the annual general meeting will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
after each shareholder meeting.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. A consolidated version of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Ernst & Young BXKEFTEIEHR
22/F, CITIC Tower BEEPRRAREIR
§* 1 Tim Mei Avenue hiERE221E

Central, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Four Seas
Mercantile Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 82 to 191, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is

provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the

accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

2 JEAE A i v A o

Recoverability of trade receivables

MW B 59 06 sk Z T AR [

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had trade receivables of
HK$587,270,000. Management performs an impairment assessment
on a regular basis, with the impairment provision estimated through
the application of significant judgement and use of subjective
assumptions.

REZFZ-NE=ZH=Z2+—H> BEREZIBEREZERKXS
587,270,0009 JG © 45 B Jig 3 4 M I B R A I e A D A st P
il S B Yol AE 488 45 2 9O AT AR A

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 22 to the consolidated

financial statements.

B 452 0 R SO A% £ S 5 R B k3 B 22 o

We evaluated the inputs and assumptions used by
management in their impairment assessment, and
management’s procedures on aged receivables
or amounts in dispute. We also tested the ageing
classification of receivables and assessed the
impairment provision made by management as of the
end of the reporting period, taking into account factors
such as the payment history of debtors, subsequent
settlement of the receivables and other relevant
information.

T A O A A TR S A AT UL A IRE BT B < i A
BB B ARk o B A B L8 00 M WK T R T
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

B 32 % i e

ol 3t 2 it o o (5)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

2 JEAE A i v R o S

Write-down of slow-moving inventories

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had inventories of HK$356,913,000.
The write-down of slow-moving inventories is estimated by
management through the application of significant judgement and
use of highly subjective assumptions on future sales estimation. The
specific factors considered by management in the estimation of the
provision include types of inventory, the conditions of the inventory,
expiration dates of the inventories, the forecast inventory usage and
sales.

REF-)NEZA=1—H > REEZHFER356,913,0008 G
S B A B o A B R 0 B AR B Al R T R OROR B
P 5 B2 BRSO AT Al w0 B AR A 8 A IRE BT % R A R
REAHAREN  FERUL - FREY AU RHENETHE R
BV -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 21 to the consolidated

financial statements.

B 452 8 R SO A% £ S 5 R B E3 21 o
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Our audit procedures included the assessment of
controls over identifying and valuing obsolete,
damaged, slow-moving, excess and other inventory
items whose costs may not be fully recoverable; and
evaluating the methodologies, inputs and assumptions
used by the management in calculating the inventory
provision by reviewing subsequent sales quantity after
the year end and comparing with historical sales record.
We also tested the ageing classification of inventories
and subsequent usage of raw materials and work-in-
progress.

FAM 0 2 B AR R A 45 Ak R SR A RE A PR -
S~ A AR R LAt AR A E M I IR AR 2 A B I
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
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ol 3t 2 it o o (5)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

T UL o i o o 3

Impairment of goodwill

2 0 1

The carrying value of goodwill amounted to HK$46,674,000 as at 31
March 2018. The Group is required to perform an impairment test
for goodwill on an annual basis. The impairment test is based on the
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units to which the goodwill
is associated with. Management’s assessment process involves
significant judgements and assumptions, including the expected future
cash flow forecasts, associated growth rates and the discount rate
applied, which were sensitive for expected future market conditions
and cash-generating units’ actual performance.

REZF-NE=ZHA=+—H BB ZIEMEME 46,674,000
WU o AR I ZE A A T B I AT R B o DA B AR
B B Z B 4 A B AL B AT K (el S BUEEAT o 45 BRI Y RE Al R R
T 45 5 5% BELH) AR A0 7l 900 e B < A WL B R B B 2 TR
B e AR it > A 456 TR RSB R T - A DR 3 R R B i E A 2 B

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 17 to the consolidated

financial statements.

B 48 e R SO i B 85 R B 3 S 17 o

Our procedures included examining and recalculating
management’s discounted cash flow projections
for the determination of value-in-use and assessing
key assumptions such as the budgeted gross margin
and growth rates by comparison to recent historical
financial performance of the cash-generating units.
We also performed sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions and cash flow projections and involved
our valuation expert to assist us with our assessment of
the discount rate used in determining the recoverable
amounts of the cash-generating units.

FAM B F e 45 A A % WY A 54 B g ot e A 1
A W BB S TN > B 200 bo g B 4 A i Ar 2
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements

and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves

fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that

we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Ki Wing Yee, Winnie.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
28 June 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

i 1H 2 R

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

2018 2017
e 2T 2 —E b
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mz BT Vil e
REVENUE WA 5 3,002,437 2,948,289
Cost of sales B AR (2,039,739) (2,028,309)
Gross profit ESV| 962,698 919,980
Other income and gains FC A WA B e s 5 338,789 132,317
Selling and distribution expenses A KB (595,794) (645,036)
Administrative expenses ATBBA X (301,758) (297,944)
Other operating expenses oAl 25 4 A S (12,208) (14,903)
Finance costs Tl ¥ B A 6 (15,496) (16,785)
Share of profits and losses of associates FEAN Wit 2 n B e ) I s 18 11,104 748
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B B iy 6 A 7 387,335 78,377
Income tax expense G Fa 11 (35,594) (24,978)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A % A 351,741 53,399
Attributable to: BE B .
Equity holders of the Company RAGIRERS A H 347,703 50,274
Non-controlling interests e I HE RS 4,038 3,125
351,741 53,399
HK cents HK cents
Al A
EARNINGS PER SHARE ARG AHERE A H
ATTRIBUTABLE TO WA B B 28 A
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY
— Basic and diluted — B R 13 90.5 13.1

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2018




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

f A AR AR

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

2018 2017
e SyIC 2 —R—t4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt BT BT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AE N %2 M) 351,741 53,399
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ A2 ¥k 2%~ (i 48)
(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be iy i 3 NIEY
reclassified to profit or loss in Fifm Z H M2 H
subsequent periods: Yeas (1) -
Available-for-sale investments: WAL ERE
Changes in fair value WA ) 100 39
Reclassification adjustment for gain HHEHEBRRZI WM Z
included in the consolidated 4 S 2
statement of profit or loss
— gain on disposal - HEZ W 5 = (16)
100 23
Exchange differences: e 50, 25 4
Exchange differences on translation of WAWINERZ
foreign operations [HE Be, 25 % 87,271 (54,789)
Reclassification adjustments for foreign B WA E T Z B
operations disposed of 43 R 32 = (6,067)
Share of other comprehensive income/ JRE A Wi 7 2 R At
(loss) of associates s, () 526 (3,396)
87,797 (64,252)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  4F [y JUfib 2 i i 2%
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (J5#) - B8 87,897 (64,229)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ 4 8 2w #k38  Of #1)
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 439,638 (10,830)
Attributable to: B B
Equity holders of the Company A2\ B B g R 432,617 (12,452)
Non-controlling interests JE e I HE 2% 7,021 1,622
439,638 (10,830)

A I

oW oK Em oA R oA
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A 0 B IR DL AR

31 March 2018 —=F— /)\4E£=H=+—H

2018 2017
e 2T 2 e Sl e
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
i BT T T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS e BE A
Property, plant and equipment LE By & 14 524,555 502,319
Investment property wEWE 15 21,250 18,607
Prepaid land lease payments TE A - A B sk0E 16 94,849 88,277
Goodwill [ 3 17 46,674 43,680
Other intangible assets HAb M & & 18 2,351 4,172
Investments in associates NS AT Z2I/E 19 170,543 158,735
Available-for-sale investments kR E 20 4,788 1,188
Deposits HES 23 29,359 30,721
Deferred tax assets R b B T s 28 8,442 8,629
Total non-current assets e B A 902,811 856,328
CURRENT ASSETS iU h e g
Inventories e 21 356,913 273,836
Trade receivables FEW R 5 IRk 22 587,270 551,098
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FHAT#KIE ~ 514 K H Ath
R Wk I 23 115,291 142,098
Tax recoverable w) I e B T 427 8,211
Financial assets at fair value through N B RIS AR
profit or loss A 45 il 5 2 24 49,545 47,444
Cash and cash equivalents B4 kB 4%EEH 25 802,085 839,440
1,911,531 1,862,127
Assets held for sale FEREEE 10 = 45,307
Total current assets it B B A 1,911,531 1,907,434
CURRENT LIABILITIES A SR
Trade payables, other payables and accruals — HEA} B 5 lak ~ oAt E AT
I I e w2 £ 26 364,236 365,034
Interest-bearing bank borrowings TR BT R B 2 SRAT B 27 766,092 930,120
Tax payable JREAS AL TE 18,040 20,363
Total current liabilities B A A 1,148,368 1,315,517
NET CURRENT ASSETS L ) 6 A 763,163 591,917
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT 0% v RO B £ 4
LIABILITIES 1,665,974 1,448,245
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A B IR DL AR

31 March 2018 —=F— /\F=H=+—H

2018 2017
)\ e Sl Y
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kk BT BT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Fh R B £1 4
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JHBAT R B 2 SRAT R 27 9,141 82,469
Deferred tax liabilities AR S T £ £ 28 18,700 18,043
Total non-current liabilities it B 1 AR A 27,841 100,512
Net assets BEFH 1,638,133 1,347,733
EQUITY i 2%
Equity attributable to equity holders BB R AN A T RE AR T AT
of the Company 1y BE 2
Issued capital SR ZFY N 29 38,425 38,425
Reserves it 31 1,564,011 1,279,675
1,602,436 1,318,100
Non-controlling interests P B 22 35,697 29,633
Total equity HE 25 A8 E 1,638,133 1,347,733

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen % %!
Director #%

NAM Chi Ming, Gibson ¥::& W

Director #HH

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RRRAL TR
Available-
for-sale
Share investment ~ Capital ~ Exchange Non-
Issued  premium  Reserve Revaluaton  Capital revaluation redemption fluctuation  Refained controlling Total
capital ~ account funds reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total ~interests equity
Lt 4] ukhkE  WAEE  ERNS FBR
Bk RBE RBE ERRE ARE AEmEE fifi BifE  MereA it R R
Note HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Wi EETT EETT O BEFC EEFL BEFL BRTL O BETL BFTT BNFT EEFL BRELC BETE
(note 29)  (note 31)  (note 31) (note 31) (note 31)
(i) (W) () (Hits1) (Hits1)
At 1 April 2016 REF-RERA—H 38425 199,301 13404 2,263 750 3 1331 76,046 1015134 1,367,057 29354 139411
Proft for the year it - - - - - - - S0 s 35 5339
Other comprehensive loss BREBRTESR
for the year:
Changes in fair value of A EREZATER S
available-for-sale investments - - - - - 3 - - - B - Al
Exchange differences related HRERHER 5
{o foreign operations - - - - - - - (62,749) - (62,749) (1,503) (64250
Total comprehensive loss for the year 4 Y 2T - - - - - 3 -6 S0 (245) 162 (10830)
Contribution by non-controlling ERElil s
interests - - - - - - - - - - 3l 3
Disposal of subsidiaries BB AT - - (1739) - - - - - 1739 - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling CAPHERBIHA
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (1,374) (1,374)
Final 2016 dividend declared ERCE-AERIRE - - - - - - - - ) -
Interim 2017 dividend e aur 12 - - - - - - - SN 15 (Vi -5
Transfer to reserve funds HEERES - - 1,264 - - - - - (1264 - - -
Release of revaluation reserve on HELARBTLE R
leasehold land and buildings to RREREER
retained profits - - - (535) - - - - 535 - - -
At 31 March 2017 i S i o | /4251930 12929¢ 2L728* 750¢ 26 1331F 13497% L029.913%  1318,100 20633 1341733
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

BERAATRARA %
Available-
for-sale
Share investment ~ Capital ~ Exchange Non-
Issued  premium  Reserve Revaluaton  Capital revaluation redemption fluctuation  Refained controlling Total
capital  account funds ~ reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total ~ interests equity
ik ¢} B nikhEg  WREE  EANE Fih

Wk RWE O BEE MR AN YOG 0 BB BB RERM B B BRMK
N HKSO00  HKSOO0  HESOOD  HKSO0)  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSO0D  HKSOOD  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000

M #ETT #ETT o ¥ETT O KT #ETT #NTT #RTL #ETL BT #iTn #Tn #NTr

(more29)  (note31)  (note 31) (note 31) (note 31)
Hitks)  (Wdsl)  (Wits1) (1) (Hits1)
At 1 April 2017 REF-LENA-H 38425 199,301 12,929 2728 750 2 1531 13497 1029913 1318100 29633 1341733
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - - - M08 X703 4038 351741
Other comprehensive income ERL b2
for the year:
Changes in fair value of R EREZATERS
available-for-sale investments - - - - - 100 - - - 100 - 100
Exchange differences related HEMERIER 25
to foreign operations - - - - - - - 84.814 - 84,814 2983 87,197
Total comprehensive income E R
for the year - - - - - 100 - 84814 347703 430,617 1000 439,638
Contribution by non-controlling EEEL TR
interests - - - - - - - - - - 604 604
Dividends paid to non-controlling B FHERRARE
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (1,561) (1,561)
Final 2017 dividend declared HRCF-LEARRR 12 - - - - - - - - - )
Interim 2018 dividend ZE-NERYRA 12 - - - - - - - - (11,528) (11529 - (11,528)
Special interim dividend declared ~ EAREEHI B E 1 - - - - - - - - s s - s
Transfer to reserve funds BEERES - - 975 - - - - - (975) - - -
Deferred tax liabilties reversed upon &S HE BRI
disposal of assets held for sale AR - - - 3,501 - - - - - 3,501 - 3501
Transfer of revaluation reserve upon I 4 % AE G
disposal of assets held for sale Eilifid L - - - (25,229) - - - - 25,009 - - -
At 31 March 2018 REF-NEZAZT-H 45 19300 13904 B 750¢ 126* 1531 98311 1,250,088* 1,602,436 35,697 1638133
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZEMMR AT AWM B RIUE P ZEG MM
HK$1,564,011,000 (2017: HK$1,279,675,000) in the consolidated 1,564,011,000% 76 (=% — L4 1 1,279,675,000%

statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HABlamEg

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

2018 2017
ZR )\ e e
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Wit T T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RERHZBEHE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax Wik B i i £ 387,335 78,377
Adjustments for: TR 5 4 T A
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE A Bk 7 2 ] ¥ A B s 4R (11,104) (748)
Bank interest income SRATHF B BA 5 (5,731) (3.,497)
Dividend income BB WA 5 (1,489) (591)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries Hh B B B A W] 2 e 5 = (100,046)
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale B R B 2 W AR 5 (302,300) -
Amortisation of deferred gain e 3 4 8 WL A 5 (15,584) -
Fair value gain on an investment property BREWHRZ AW 5 (590) (461)
Fair value gain on available-for-sale w4k R Y A TR
investments (transfer from equity on (H B 05 B A 2 )
disposal) 5 - (16)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair AV H 2 0 25 AR Y S b
value through profit or loss B2 A E W AR 5 (5,661) (19,650)
Finance costs Tl G R AR 6 15,496 16,785
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of WE e ¥ - M Rk
property, plant and equipment and JHHAEMN LM ERIEZ
prepaid land lease payments, net Fe 18 o B 7 1,809 5,515
Depreciation Yreg 7 63,836 65,971
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments  FH {1 i L B 5k JE = 3 8 7 2,925 2,952
Amortisation of other intangible assets JAth S B B 2 8 7 1,821 1,821
Impairment of trade receivables W B 5 B RO A 7 1,711 149
Write-down of slow-moving inventories e o 1 B Ay 7 6,329 6,578
138,803 53,139
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BEEZWA(Hm) (72,780) 47,591
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables HEW R 5 IR sk =2 WA (B m) (16,087) 5,686
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, THATRRIE ~ BT 4 S 3 il ik
deposits and other receivables I Z WA, () 38,580 (15,174)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, other AT B2 5 MRk ~ G At B A R T T
payables and accruals R B Z B () 21,052 (5,821)
Cash generated from operations RERBEM B4 109,568 85,421
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERREERETIEES (17,551) (2,593)
Overseas taxes paid A 3 il 8 35 (10,199) (6,593)
Net cash flows from operating activities REEHEZHERNAGTH
— page 89 —89KH 81,818 76,235
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HAEBEmER

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

2018 2017
it 20 “E b
Notes HKS$’000 HKS$’000
Mt BT BT
Net cash flows from operating activities KBl 2B SR\ FH
— page 88 —88H 81,818 76,235
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BB B EHE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received 2R AT R B 5,731 3,497
Dividends received from listed investments WeB B BEE S 1,489 591
Purchases of items of property, plant and WA - MR R MEE
equipment 14 (53,867) (82,276)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE - BB & fEE RFEAT
plant and equipment and prepaid land lease e il L K I PR A AR O
payments 611 12,276
Net proceeds from disposal of assets B A B O P A AR I
held for sale 328,807 -
Proceeds from disposal of & BT B R T AR R E
available-for-sale investments - 202
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEZEATHEBRBER ARZ
at fair value through profit or loss A il R T A R E 45,092 33,000
Deposit received from disposal of a property HE—THYEMRIRZET & - 36,800
Disposal of subsidiaries B B JEg A A 32 - 132,124
Purchases of financial assets at fair value AN T EBEREBZARZ
through profit or loss S RVEE (41,532) (17,479)
Purchase of an available-for-sale investment ATt (3,500) -
Net cash flows from investing activities BEFEBEZBEWAGH 282,831 118,735
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING TR ) 2 B A G
ACTIVITIES
New bank and trust receipt loans BT B SRAT Sk A R IR Bk 1,306,611 2,397,999
Repayment of bank and trust receipt loans AT Bk B A RE MR Bk R K (1,555,306) (2,485,932)
Interest paid A F B (15,496) (16,785)
Contribution by non-controlling interests I R RE ARV 604 31
Dividends paid [R5 (151,782) (36,505)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders T.ft T JF 5 JBE It 3Bt B, (1,561) (1,374)
Net cash flows used in financing activities TRl 3 B 2 B A (416,930) (142,566)
R — N E o WOW K A R A H
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HAEBEmER

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

2018 2017
ZR )\ —EB ks
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M7t BT BT
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH BERBESHMHEA
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Wim, (W) &8 (52,281) 52,404
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4EH]2ZH 4 LEHESEMIEH 839,440 799,432
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net TEE 2% 53 )y S 28 > TR 14,926 (12,396)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT AEBZBERBESMHYEH
END OF YEAR 802,085 839,440
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BReRBESHEEESREZIM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Bl& K RAT AT 25 476,247 515,648
Time deposits E WA 3K 25 325,838 323,792
Cash and cash equivalents B4 kBE4E%EER 802,085 839,440
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Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The registered office of the Company is located at the office
of Sterling Trust (Cayman) Limited, with the address being
Whitehall House, 238 North Church Street, P.O. Box 1043,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1102, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) was principally engaged in
investment holding, manufacturing and trading of snack foods,
confectionery, beverages, frozen food products, noodles, ham and

ham-related products, and the operations of restaurants.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

1. 2wl Be 45 ¥R

M EEARAR (TARARD BH—KiRHE
Bk M on 2 A BRA T o AR W) Z ak E
JEABLH Sterling Trust (Cayman) LimitedZ #¥ 2
% > Hiik % Whitehall House, 238 North Church
Street, P.O. Box 1043, George Town, Grand
Cayman KY1-1102, Cayman Islands °

SR s A ) R BB A ) (AR [ A SR L)
ZEEEBRHBEER  WERAEEE W
S HOBE R BRR R R KB R KA B
BE W > AR RSB R

A7 B B 0 A 7 2 TR
Anvlz EEHEA TN

follows:
Issued ordinary/
registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company
and business o AR RERERR 4 Principal
Name SEM L Wd Direct Indirect activities
i X i B B4 i B B A H G ER >3
Champ Business Development Limited* Hong Kong HK$20,000,000 - 70.0 Investment
REBRA WA+ Hib 20,000,00087C holding
R
Cowboy Food Company Limited Hong Kong HK$6,000,000 - 85.0 Manufacturing
FFRMARAT il 6,000,000 75 of snack foods
UN-¢3
Crowne Profits Limited* British Virgin US$1 - 100.0 Investment
Islands (B holding
S B R A Y B BE I
E-Options Technology Limited* British Virgin US$1 - 100.0 Property holding
Islands B LIESde
by ) xeids
Eat & International (H.K.) Co., Limited* Hong Kong HK$11,500,000 - 51.0  Restaurant operations
YN ER YN B 11,500,000% ¢ RELE
Elegant Town Investments Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100.0 Investment
AR EH WA il 137G holding
R

N R e

oW oK Em oA R oA
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Notes to Financial Statements

S s i oty Pk

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

2wl B 5 M EORL (57)

A7 B B 0 A 7 2 R ()
AT 2 LEHEAFFEDT : ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company

and business 2% 7 AR vl BEAG BERR v 2 1 Principal
Name HR3 DY W@ Direct Indirect activities
4 X i B 24 i B R B AR H G ER S50
Ever Media Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100.0 Investment
B 137G holding
Fancy Talent Ecommerce Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100.0 Ecommerce retailing
Company Limited* B 10,000,000% 7T of confectionery
REVBEFHHEARA A and food products
BREEMZ
ETHHES
Fancy Talent Limited* Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 - 100.0 Marketing of
TR R A L3 100,000,000% ¢ snack foods
NEZ T HER
Four Seas (Guangzhou) Food Import and PRC/Mainland RMB23,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
Export Trading Company Limited* * China A R#23,000,0007C confectionery and
P (M) £ ittt B 5 A A )+ A vk food products
W&
BZHE A
Four Seas (Hebei) Food Company Limited* » PRC/Mainland HK$24,000,000 - 100.0 Processing of
VUM G-l ) £ A A R A China 24,000,000%7¢ chestnuts
K B KFmL
Four Seas (Qingyuan) Tourism PRC/Mainland HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Development Company Limited* China 20,000,000#7% and restaurant
P ) e AT A S K operations
UE LY
RERE
Four Seas (Shantou) Foods Industrial PRC/Mainland HK$30,500,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Park Management Co., Ltd.* * China 30,500,000 75 LIE 2]

VU9 Gl 55 ) B il S B PR R ik B
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

1.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

2wl B 5 M EORL (57)

A B W0 2 vl 2 2R ()

Anvlz EEHEAFGEHDT ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company
and business [ARiZ AN HEAGRERR T 4 b Principal
Name SR L Y& Direct Indirect activities
#H X i B B i B B A H IRl 2 ER =3
Four Seas (Suzhou) Food Co., Ltd.* * PRC/Mainland US$20,800,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
PO (RN ) & A BRAF] = A China (2017: of beverages
Gl VDN US$19,700,000) o
20,800,0005 7t
(2 L5
19,700,000 7¢)
Four Seas (Yang Shan) Development PRC/Mainland HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Company Limited* A China 20,000,000 76 UES el
VO (5 111 ) 3% Fe A R A )+ ik B
Four Seas Candy (Shantou) Co., Ltd.* » PRC/Mainland HK$50,203,380 - 100.0 Manufacturing
PGB R Gl ) A R 5] A China 50,203,380% ¢ of candies
iV PN BERRE
Four Seas Candy Company Limited Hong Kong HK$50,550,000 - 100.0 Investment
PR A A 3 50,550,000% 7¢ holding
BE R
Four Seas Catering Enterprises Company Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Investment
Limited F# 10,0009 7 holding
VU A R A BE I
Four Seas China Holdings Limited* British Virgin US$1,000,000 - 100.0 Investment
VY v R B A R ] Islands 1,000,0003 7% holding
S R A B R
Four Seas Confectionery (Shantou) PRC/Mainland HK$33,320,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
Company Limited* 7 China 33,320,000% 7T of cakes
IS O SRR AT R ] iV PN HRERE
Four Seas Confectionery PRC/Mainland HK$17,000,000 - 80.0 Manufacturing of
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* A China 17,000,000% 7% snack foods
VR (RN A ] A G VL PN NERIE
Four Seas Enterprises (BVI) Limited* British Virgin US$20,000 100.0 - Investment
Islands 20,0003 7¢ holding
by ) xeils BE I

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A

93



94

Notes to Financial Statements

S s i oty Pk

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

2 il B4R MR ORE (%)

A7 B B 0 2 v 2 R ()
ATz EEHE AT NG - (8)

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company

and business Rz AT REMRER T4 Principal
Name SR L Wd M Direct Indirect activities
4 X e B B4 i B B A H IR & ER >3
Four Seas Foods (Shantou) Co., Ltd.* * PRC/Mainland HK$96,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
V3 £ Gl 5) AR = China 96,000,000 7G confectionery and
gk B food products
BER B g
285
Four Seas Investment Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 100.0 - Investment holding
VO A R AR i 50,000,0003 ¢ B
Four Seas Logistics Company Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100.0 Provision of
19 W4 A A H iy 200,000 78 transportation
services
i
Four Seas Mercantile Limited Hong Kong (i) Ordinary HK$200 - 100.0 Trading in
P9 & 5 A A ik (i) Non-voting snack foods,
deferred confectionery
HK$20,000,000 and beverages
(i) A 2009 ¢ M R K
(i) 5 iz ¥ 5

AL ey

20,000,000 7C
Four Seas Property Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 - 100.0 Investment
T A A R A Bl 50,000,000 78 holding
R
Four Seas Specialty Retailing Company Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 51.0 Trading in
Limited* iy 10,0009 70 food products
VL 8 A A BZHE 5
Future Corporate Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Property holding
T F AR B 10,000#7C SRFE I
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

1.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

2wl B 4 MEORE (50)

A B I 2 vl 2 2R (1)

AAFZ LM AR R0 T ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company
and business CEf 72 7 HEAN B T4 BB Principal
Name SEM L ] YER Direct Indirect activities
#H X e B B4 i B B A Jik03 A % ER-F371
Guang Dong Fourseas Frozen Food PRC/Mainland RMB8§3,300,000 - 100.0 Trading in frozen
Products Co., Ltd.* » China (2017: food products
TR TR 9 4 A R ¢ K RMB71,300,000) and snack foods
A RH83,300,00078 QU R
(ZF—t4 MEZHE S
AR #71,300,0007)
Guangzhou Four Seas Catering Co., Ltd.* * PRC/Mainland HK$37,500,000 - 100.0  Restaurant operations
A 7 A L China 37,500,000% ¢ RELR
G VLT PN
Guangzhou Sushi Oh Catering Co., Ltd.* * PRC/Mainland HK$6,000,000 - 33.2 %% Restaurant operations
B 35 i 2 R A AT R 7 China 6,000,003 78 REAE
G VAL PN
Homeright Properties Limited* British Virgin US$1 - 100.0  Holding of trademarks
FMEREF AR Islands 1%t FEH R
S VR A R B
Hong Kong Biscuit (International) Limited* Hong Kong HK$40,000,000 - 99.3 Investment
HEO (BB PR 2 )+ Hil 40,000,00087C holding
R
Hong Kong Confectionery Company Limited Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 - 100.0 Investment
HWHERA WA Hil 7,000,000% 7 holding
Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Manufacturing
U BB R A PR A R Bl 2078 and packaging
of ham and

= ® — U .

ham-related
products

B R B4 O
B A R i

oW oK Em oA R oA
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Notes to Financial Statements

S s i oty Pk

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

2 il B AR MR ORE (%)

A7 B B D 2 W) 2 TR (A1)

AAFZ LR EAFFEREW T (8)

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company

and business Rk £5) AR v BEATRE 2 F 23 Bb Principal

Name SE R L Wl M Direct Indirect activities

#H X i B B4 i B B R A % IR % ER-F371

IFSCO Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$57,200,000 100.0 - Investment

il 57,200,0008 7G holding

R

J. P. Inglis Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in

SR L HATH RA 3 1,000,000% ¢ food materials

BRI

KTC Corporation* Japan JPY10,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in

JEG 5 5 7 o A ok Ak HA 10,000,000 H [ cakes

Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Hong Kong HK$3,660,000 - 99.0  Restaurant operations

Cuisine Limited B 3,660,003 78 RELE
DK LR EHRAR

Li Fook (Qingdao) Foods Co., Ltd.* # PRC/Mainland US$5,220,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing

MR (5 E) B A Rl A China 5,220,000% 7% of noodles

iV PN T RRE

Matchless Bakery Company Limited* British Virgin HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Investment

FE7 R 95 A R ) Islands 20,000,000 78 holding

S B R A B R

Men Taishou Co., Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100.0  Restaurant operations

TR R A 6] B 17T RELE

Murray Catering Company Limited* Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 70.0 Provision of lunch

T BB T AT A < B 1,000,000% ¢ box and tuck

shop services

PR R

/NEHR IR

Namtien Noodle Limited* Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51.0 Manufacturing

R R S A )+ B 1,000% 78 of noodles

T RRE
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

1o 2] B4 MR ()

A7 B B 0 A W) 2 TR (A1)

Issued ordinary/

Anvlz LR AT RN ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company

and business RiZi AN REAGRERR 4 Principal
Name SE R L Wl M Direct Indirect activities
H X B 4 B 8RB AR T % EX =
New Kondo Trading Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
EEE 5 AT A 1,000,000 70 Japanese food
materials
AR
JERE 5
Nico Four Seas (Shantou) Co., Ltd.* A PRC/Mainland HK$28,000,000 - 51.0 Manufacturing
PR T (il s A7 A ] China 28,000,000 7C of seaweed
vk products
SRR
Nico-Nico Four Seas Company Limited Hong Kong HK$28,000,000 - 51.0 Investment
5 K DA A 7 Bt 28,000,000 7t holding
Okashi Land (Macau) Company Limited* Macau MOP500,000 - 100.0 Retailer of
B (M) AR A A * WM 500,000 "] ] snack foods
N P43
Papochou Holdings Limited* British Virgin HK$15,000,000 - 100.0 Investment
RO A A Islands 15,000,000% 7t holding
b el RE
Restaurant Shiki Limited Hong Kong HK$3,200,000 - 100.0  Restaurant operations
B 3,200,000% 7 BERE
Shenzhen Matchless Food Co., Ltd.* A PRC/Mainland HK$17,300,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing of
FINSET R A RRA R« A China (2017: bread and
g K HK$12,300,000) bakery products
17,300,000% 7t T B M B 7 O

(“% bk

12,300,000% 7¢)
Tsun Fat (Huizhou) Biscuit PRC/Mainland HK$73,000,000 - 99.3 Manufacturing of
Factory Limited* » China (2017: biscuits
BB (RO ) BRSC R B 2 w]* A R B B HK$63,000,000) BFRE

73,000,000% 7C

i

63,000,000% 7C)

= — )\ FE B

oW oK Em oA R oA
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Notes to Financial Statements

S s i oty Pk

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

2 il B AR MR (%)

A7 B B D 2 W) 2 TR (A1)

ARAFZ EEEH AR T ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company
and business R £5) AR T EARERR 2 i Principal
Name 31 N L YER) Direct Indirect activities
H LWt B B A ik Il % ER =3
T & M Advertising Company Limited Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Advertising
BB A Bl 20%7C agency
[ il
ERUSIE-C R VAR PRC/Mainland RMB500,000 - 100.0 Trading in
China A R¥500,0005C confectionery and
gk B food products
BR R
RMZES
EALNIAEE R ) YA PRC/Mainland HK$37,000,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
China 37,000,000% 75 and packaging
Pl BN of ham and
ham-related
products
R RaE
K RA
KR
REE S G AR A PRC/Mainland HK$5,600,000 - 100.0 Trading in
China 5,600,000% JC food materials
iV PN BIRLZ E 5
RYIDU W B 5 A 7] A PRC/Mainland HK$67,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in snacks
China 67,000,000 ¢ and confectionery
i PN IMEERRZHS
JE N T B R A PR T AA PRC/Mainland RMB?73,959,210 - 99.0* Restaurant
(“GZ Panxi”) China  AR#73,959,2107C operations
(THM AR ) R/ R
R B A R ) PRC/Mainland HK$1,300,000 - 51.0 Trading in
China 1,300,000 JC food products
i PN BMZHS
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Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

*

ok

AN

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm
of the Ernst & Young global network

Guangzhou Sushi Oh Catering Co., Ltd. is a subsidiary of a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and accordingly, is
accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company’s control

over it.

These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned

enterprises under PRC law.

This subsidiary is registered as a Sino-foreign co-operative joint

venture under PRC law.

Pursuant to the stock purchase agreement entered into by the Group
and JBE M T 7 ¥ I N ROBUR A & 3 B BHS BILR) (the “Vendor”)
for the acquisition of GZ Panxi, the Vendor retains 1% shareholding
in GZ Panxi and is not entitled to any share of the profit or loss
in GZ Panxi nor has the right to participate in the operation or

management of GZ Panxi but has the veto right in the following:

- the alteration of the tax registration of GZ Panxi in Liwan
District, Guangzhou, the PRC;

- the alteration of the use of the building occupied by GZ Panxi

other than the Cantonese style restaurant operation; and

- the use of the trademark of GZ Panxi.

In the prior year, the Group disposed of certain subsidiaries.

Further details of the disposals are included in note 32 to the

financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for

the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the

Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

1o 2] B4 MR (59)

A7 B B 0 A 7 2 R (A1)

EY

Hk

AN

b e Hh 7 o 5 K BT S B T Rk A BRAE A
HoAb gl 5 24 7 7

B R ) S RA ] A AW —RIER Y
FEF B 2 W 2 B o W) o BRI R AR A W B 2
T Tl RE B 50 46 B 8 ] o

% S5 PO S 2 ) T o Ik R A A A T 4R
B -

w

WoF Jag 2 Vi) 7 e i I s A A v D A A2 o

AL 5% A 452 I S R A ¥ e N R B A
BB MR (T35 77 1) B0 BB 2 AT 3 2 i
JBe b e > 5207 R B 1 % B M PR I RE 5 R g
TR G 55 M P 2 AT ] v M sl 4R - AR A 2
LI N PE Z AL R B B o R B A A
B Pehit -

— SR PR e RN T B I B
il s

= BRI PR AN 2 M A T A R K
BEUSZHE s K

- BRI

EAE S ARBEE &R THEAR - &
2 R A R S B A B RE32

Ay DA B T A AR B AR 2 SR AR
K5 B el A 4 T 2 TR i R 2 M
AT o BRI ISR T P A F 6 R
WA IR -

= ® — U .

oW oK Em oA R oA
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Notes to Financial Statements

S s i oty Pk

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for an investment
property, financial instruments at fair value through profit or
loss and certain available-for-sale investments which have been
measured at fair value. Non-current assets classified as held for
sale in the prior year were stated at the lower of carrying amounts
and fair values less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars

(“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand

except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when

the Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group

the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the

investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group

considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of

the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 AL ()

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to

be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of

control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i1) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group

had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the

first time for the current year’s financial statements.
Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred
Tax Assets for Unrealised
Losses

Amendments to HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests

included in Annual in Other Entities:
Improvements to HKFRSs Clarification of the Scope
2014-2016 Cycle of HKFRS 12

None of the above amendments to HKFRSs has had a significant
financial effect on these financial statements. Disclosure has been
made in note 33 to the financial statements upon the adoption
of amendments to HKAS 7, which require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including

both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 15
HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28
Amendments to HKAS 40
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

adoption

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts'

Financial Instruments'

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers'

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers'

Leases*

Insurance Contracts®

Plan amendments, Curtailment or
Settlement®

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures*

Transfers of Investment Property!

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration'

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments®

Amendments to HKFRS I and
HKAS 28!

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and
HKAS 23?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for early
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 O AH R A 3 2 7% v B B

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below. The actual impacts
upon adoption could be different to those below, depending on
additional reasonable and supportable information being made
available to the Group at the time of applying the standards.

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version
of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous
versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements
for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge
accounting. The Group will adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2018.
The Group will not restate comparative information and will
recognise any transition adjustments against the opening balance
of equity at 1 April 2018. During the year ended 31 March 2018,
the Group has performed a detailed assessment of the impact of
the adoption of HKFRS 9. The expected impacts relate to the
classification and measurement and the impairment requirements
and are summarised as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS
9 will have a significant impact on the classification and
measurement of its financial assets. It expects to continue
measuring at fair value all financial assets currently held
at fair value. Investments currently held as available for
sale will be measured at fair value through profit or loss or
other comprehensive income. Certain equity investments are
intended to be held for the foreseeable future and the Group
expects to apply the option to present fair value changes
in other comprehensive income. Gains and losses recorded
in other comprehensive income for the equity investments
cannot be recycled to profit or loss when the investments are
derecognised.

(b) Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan commitments
and financial guarantee contracts that are not accounted for
at fair value through profit or loss under HKFRS 9, to be
recorded based on an expected credit loss model either on
a twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis. The Group will
apply the simplified approach and record lifetime expected
losses that are estimated based on the present values of all
cash shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its trade
receivables. Furthermore, the Group will apply the general
approach and record twelve-month expected credit losses
that are estimated based on the possible default events on its
other receivables within the next twelve months. The Group
does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have
a significant impact on the impairment assessment of its
financial assets.
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 O AH R A 3 2 7% s B B

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new five-step
model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a
customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard
also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in contract
asset and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all current
revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs. Either a full
retrospective application or a modified retrospective adoption is
required on the initial application of the standard. In June 2016,
the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the
implementation issues on identifying performance obligations,
application guidance on principal versus agent and licences of
intellectual property, and transition. The amendments are also
intended to help ensure a more consistent application when
entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and complexity
of applying the standard. The Group will adopt HKFRS 15 from
1 April 2018 and plans to adopt the transitional provisions in
HKFRS 15 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings
at 1 April 2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply the new
requirements only to contracts that are not completed before 1
April 2018. The Group expects that the transitional adjustment
to be made on 1 April 2018 upon initial adoption of HKFRS 15
will not be material. During the year ended 31 March 2018, the
Group has performed an assessment on the impact of the adoption
of HKFRS 15 and the amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 O AH R A 3 2 7% s B A

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases,
HKFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases - Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and
liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-
term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee
will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease
liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-
of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use
asset meets the definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or
relates to a class of property, plant and equipment to which the
revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently
increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced
for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also
be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence
of certain events, such as change in the lease term and change
in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally
recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability
as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting
under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting
under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using
the same classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish
between operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires
lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under
HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either
a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The
Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019. The Group
is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon adoption
and is considering whether it will choose to take advantage of
the practical expedients available and which transition approach
and reliefs will be adopted. As disclosed in note 34(b) to the
financial statements, at 31 March 2018, the Group had future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
in aggregate of approximately HK$478,923,000. Upon adoption
of HKFRS 16, certain amounts included therein may need to be
recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Further
analysis, however, will be needed to determine the amount of
new rights of use assets and lease liabilities to be recognised,
including, but not limited to, any amounts relating to leases of
low-value assets and short term leases, other practical expedients
and reliefs chosen, and new leases entered into before the date of
adoption.
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 FEFHHBORHE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition
results and other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is

included as part of the Group’s investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the joint
venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or

loss.
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host

contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition fair value and

any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEEFHEORMNE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are

assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a

subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion

of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of

each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 LB GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, an investment property
and non-current assets classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for

the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the

relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant

accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person

()

(i1)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

()

(i1)

(iii)

(@iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of

the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEEFHEORMNE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. When an item of
property, plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or
when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is
not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current
assets held for sale”. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition

and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Property, plant and equipment carried at revalued amounts in
the financial statements relating to periods ended before 30
September 1995 are not required to be regularly revalued when
the Group does not revalue their property, plant and equipment
subsequent to 1995. An annual transfer from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits is made for the difference between
the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an
asset and the depreciation based on the asset’s original cost.
On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the
revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is
transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost or valuation of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land under finance leases Over the lease terms

Buildings 2% — 10%
Leasehold improvements 10% — 33":%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% — 25%
Plant and machinery 10% — 20%
Motor vehicles 15% — 30%
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment property

An investment property is an interest in land and building
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such property is measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the investment property is stated at fair value, which

reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
investment property are included in the statement of profit or loss

in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of the
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or

loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 LB GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amounts will be recovered principally through a sales transaction
rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the
asset must be available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of
such assets and its sale must be highly probable.

Non-current assets (other than investment properties and financial
assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for

sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful

life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Backlog contracts, licences and customer relationships

Backlog contracts, licences and customer relationships are stated
at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on the

straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Backlog contracts 3 years
Licenses 5 years
Customer relationships 6 years
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are
charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a

constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss on

the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements, the
entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and
buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.
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2.4 BEEFHEOR M ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables,
and available-for-sale financial investments or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the
case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or

loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include the
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value presented as other income and gains and in the
statement of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for

“Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial

recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 LB GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in other income and gains in the statement of profit
or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in other

operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and
club debentures. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor

designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in other
income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired,
when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the statement
of profit or loss. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the
available-for-sale financial investments are reported as interest
income and dividend income, respectively and are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance with

the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,

such investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable
to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group
may elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has
the ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable
future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective
interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be
impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,

but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 LB GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and

obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of

consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for
which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are

not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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2.4 BEEFHEOR M ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate

computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on
the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or

has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the

recovery is credited to the statement of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not

reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is

impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is
removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the

statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there
is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the statement of profit of loss — is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of
profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the statement of
profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after impairment are

recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to which

the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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2.4 BEEFHEOR M ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable

transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables
and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit

or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair
value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and
includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion, and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. In the case of work in progress and self-produced
finished goods, cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be

incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral

part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at

banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 BEEFHEORMNE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 LB GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are

expected to be settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) commission income, when the relevant service has been

rendered;

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial

asset;
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2.4 BEEFHEOR B ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(d) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established; and

(e) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease

terms.

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the
Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute 13% to 21% of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable

in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“‘equity-settled

transactions”), if any option is granted to the eligible employees.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model or the Black-
Scholes model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed
as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are

also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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2.4 BEEFHEOR B ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as

additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the

payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final

dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 LB GHBORE (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. BEGEA B A

JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on

the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable

profits together with future tax planning strategies.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. Changes to these key judgement and
estimates could materially affect the determination of whether there
is an impairment and the related amounts. If there are significant
adverse changes in the aforementioned judgement and estimates, it
may be necessary to record significant additional impairment charge
in future periods. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2018
was HK$46,674,000 (2017: HK$43,680,000). Further details are

given in note 17.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables

The Group conducts impairment reviews of financial assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their carrying amounts may not be recoverable in accordance
with the relevant accounting standards. The Group makes its
estimates based on the ageing of its trade receivable balances,
customers’ creditworthiness, and historical write-off experience.
If the financial condition of its customers was to deteriorate so
that the actual impairment loss might be higher than expected,
the Group would be required to revise the basis of making the
allowance and its future results would be affected. At 31 March
2018, the provision for impairment of trade receivables was
HK$2,777,000 (2017: HK$1,066,000) and the carrying amount of
trade receivables was HK$587,270,000 (2017: HK$551,098,000).
At 31 March 2018, the carrying amount of deposits and other
receivables was HK$96,491,000 (2017: HK$106,383,000) and no
impairment loss was made (2017: Nil).

Provision for inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of the Group’s
inventories regularly and at the end of each reporting period,
and makes provision for obsolete items when events or change
in circumstances show that the carrying amount of inventories
may not be fully realisable or are no longer suitable for sale.
The specific factors considered by management in the estimation
of the provision include types of inventory, the conditions of
the inventory, expiration dates of the inventories, the forecast
inventory usage and sales. The carrying amount of inventories at
31 March 2018 was HK$356,913,000 (2017: HK$273,836,000).
Further details of which are included in note 21 to the financial

statements.
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oA TR~ )EZAZT—H > ERHEBIE
K 2 IR AL B A 452,777,000 78 (B — L4
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on geographical areas and has two reportable

operating segments as follows:

(i) the Hong Kong segment is engaged in the manufacturing and
trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen food
products, ham and ham-related products, noodles and the
retailing of snack foods, confectionery and beverages, and the

operations of restaurants; and

(i) the Mainland China segment is engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen
food products, ham and ham-related products, noodles, and the

operations of restaurants.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group’s profit before tax except that interest income, dividend
income and unallocated gains, finance costs, share of profits and
losses of associates and corporate and other unallocated expenses

are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude available-for-sale investments, deferred
tax assets, tax recoverable, investments in associates, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and cash and cash

equivalents as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank borrowings,
tax payable and deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are

managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then

prevailing market prices.

4. BRI IBEF

A B > A I AR B g T ) S S R B
> A DAF W 2 T i 2 R A

(i) 7 o 20 W 0 o A e R R
OB ~ & B~ MR B KBRS i~
B RRE/NE - BER RAOBE > AR AR
e s &

(i) H B O o A R R B R B
S OB & SRR A~ KR K K R
dh o R DR RE R

o L P g B A A I 2 R DR DA
IR L M REAG B o S IR BUAR SR T R
W3 E R A M 4R (B A e B B i R
102 05 SEHE) WP AN o A B BB AT R, s
B2 w7 ik SR B B R e A — B
MR B ~ BB B A 23 L~ il R
A~ AR Mgk 85 4> i ) B s 4R DA R O ) % Al
AR TG B S A O\ % I EH A e

o3 RS S T R IR B
B~ A B R AR Z B AT
778 3% 4R 2 A\ MR Y <l S 7 DA I B B
fEIEE > BT % S A S B AT

Ao

g3 0 EUARAS GG B A P B 2 BRAT B HE A
T % 98 S0 5 R A o BT o R R SR LR
B AGUET TR -
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (continued)

4. BERFWER ()

Geographical segments I B, 23 3B
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
ik Gl NG At
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
SF-NE CECLE CE-AE CFbE R0 SRk
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HKS$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HKS$'000
Vi e T BW T HHFL Vi g o
Segment revenue: A
Sales to external customers* HETFIRE P 2,031,917 2,030,204 970,520 918,085  3,002437 2948289
Intersegment sales MR 13,950 11,450 173,110 194,868 187,060 206,318
2,045,867 2,041,654 1,143,630 1,112,953 3,189,497 3,154,607
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment sales P 4 s 0 (187,060) (206,318)
Revenue KA 3,002,437 2,948,289
Segment results AiES 415,388 67,589 (9,682) 26,952 405,706 94,541
Reconciliation: B -
Interest income FERA 5,731 3,497
Dividend income and unallocated gains Bt EMCAR A AL 7,150 20,257
Finance costs g A (15,496) (16,785)
Share of profits and losses of associates  FEA I /A 7l Al R G 11,104 748
Corporate and other unallocated expenses /2 1) K H-MA 43 L B % (26,860) (23,881)
Profit before tax Wi o i 387,335 78,377
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4. BERFWER ()

Geographical segments (continued) Tt B 23 B (45)
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
ik il PN At
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
SER-MNE ZREE SRR ZR-tE RN ZRE
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BH T W BT BT BHT Vi
Segment assets iR 1,113,959 1,139,995 1,006,728 882,392 2,120,687 2,022,387
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment receivables [y 3 HE N2k I8 G4 (342,175) (322,272)
Investments in associates REEAFRZRE 170,543 158,735
Corporate and other unallocated assets AT R ARG B 865,287 904,912
Total assets BEMAE 2,814,342 2,763,762
Segment liabilities M 370,188 376,341 336,223 310,965 706,411 687,306
Reconciliation: HE -
Elimination of intersegment payables TR 0 A s T 1 (342,175) (322,272)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities /7] LA 2Bl & & 811,973 1,050,995
Total liabilities AREAH 1,176,209 1,416,029
Other segment information: Kb WEH
Impairment of trade receivables JE W B 5% MRk i fe 49 79 1,662 70 1,711 149
Write-down of slow-moving inventories i 847 S84 132 990 6,197 5,588 6,329 6,578
Depreciation and amortisation P R gl 27,387 28,789 41,195 41,955 68,582 70,744
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 8 IR 4 7 2 Mg - 38,306 - 61,740 = 100,046
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale HERELEEREZ
Wugs 302,300 - - - 302,300 -
Capital expenditure** BB 3+ 22,400 60,561 31,467 21,715 53,867 82,276
Non-current assets*** JifL ) e 188,426 195,114 501,253 461,941 689,679 657,055
* The revenue information above is based on the locations of the * U‘Lq&]\gﬂﬁ*ﬁﬁy\:gﬁ ﬁﬁﬁf @iﬁﬁﬁgj

customers.

#%  Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment, prepaid land lease payments, investment property and

other intangible assets.

sk sk

The non-current assets information above is based on the locations

of the assets and excludes financial instruments, deferred tax assets

and investments in associates.

4y o

o REORBE S BRI E Y - WO RS - T
oF A A BRI~ 4 A 3 e I At S
E o

e DL b IR B ¥ A EORE T BRI AE [ A

T 43 > AH S 645 Gl TR - IR BLH

HELNBE AT ZHE -
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S. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

GAINS

Revenue represents the invoiced value of goods sold, net of

discounts and returns. An analysis of revenue, other income and

gains is as follows:
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5. WA ~ JoAlBOA B Wt

W A48 B 25 97 0 BB B AR B AR < B R
i o WA > HoA A e sk 2 S BT E

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2018

2018 2017
2\ ZE L
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T T
Revenue WA 3,002,437 2,948,289
Other income I WA
Bank interest income RATA BB 5,731 3,497
Commission income VB PN 74 228
Dividend income B B A 1,489 591
Rental income M4 WA 1,281 1,245
Others H At 6,079 6,583
14,654 12,144
Gains W2k
Gain on disposal of assets held WERELEEEZ
for sale (note 10) Wz (Htatio) 302,300 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) A B A /) 2 e R (M EES2) - 100,046
Fair value gain on an investment property BEWEZ A THERE
(note 15) (Btit15) 590 461
Amortisation of deferred gain (note 10) G AR HE W3R (M aEL0) 15,584 -
Fair value gains: AR &
Available-for-sale investments WA R
(transfer from equity on disposal) (H 85 IE B RE 25 0 ) - 16
Financial assets at fair value through e AP B 4 AR
profit or loss 4 A E 5,661 19,650
324,135 120,173
338,789 132,317
6. FINANCE COSTS 6. Bl A
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: Al A AT T
2018 2017
—®2— \4E —E LA
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT T Vi3
Interest on bank and trust receipt loans SRAT Bk B AE we iR B R B 15,496 16,785
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

7. BB Wi A
AL L BRLRTR A TR GEA) -

(crediting):
2018 2017
—F N\ Rt
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Mt i3 i Vi A
Cost of inventories sold CEEEZBEA 2,033,410 2,021,731
Depreciation e 14 63,836 65,971
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TR AT - L R T i 6
payments 16 2,925 2,952
Amortisation of other intangible assets I fih & % 7 2 # 4 18 1,821 1,821
Minimum lease payments under BEMEZ RIKH 4
operating leases 175,280 183,047
Auditors’ remuneration® 1% S0 i T 4 4,392 4,037
Employee benefit expense (excluding g BfEF B X (A BHFHFESH
directors’ and chief executive’s Bl m AT BN B 4
remuneration (note 8)): (HfiEs)) -
Wages, salaries, allowances TH - #H4 - ik
and benefits in kind T4 363,365 368,135
Pension scheme contributions* 1B P 4wl Bt ke 16,497 17,330
379,862 385,465
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of H 8 &% - K=&
property, plant and equipment and B H RTEA LR E
prepaid land lease payments, net HIEZ WG > FH 1,809 5,515
Foreign exchange differences, net M =R > A (1,809) 2,839
Direct operating expenses WHBREEEAZ
(including repairs and maintenance) HEREMXZ
arising from a rental-earning (B FEHEE %)
investment property 821 782
Impairment of trade receivables®* HE W B 5 B 2k I A+ 22 1,711 149
Write-down of slow-moving T B A 1 BB e
inventories®** 6,329 6,578

* At 31 March 2018, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension scheme in future
years (2017: Nil).

*#*%  The impairment of trade receivables is included in “Other operating
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

##%  The write-down of slow-moving inventories is included in “Cost of

sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

# Of the above auditors’ remuneration, HK$3,199,000 (2017:
HK$3,086,000) is payable to the Company’s auditor for audit and
related services.

ok

ok sk

P \AEZH S H > A 0 1
R PR A AT A e 4 R AR Ak (%
— LA : ) o

FEW B 5 Rk Z I B SRR AR A iR B2
[t MBS A

MM EMS ARG HAELE L2 T8
AT o

b A i W 4 3L 93,199,000 8 (=& — L

A 1 3,086,0009 J0) A HE AT T A A ) A% SR 2
B % T AH B IR A o

VA SR e oY & M A R oA A
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. W R wiT B R4
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, FENERERERITBEABMES I EXRA - F
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), WA FEAEE383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ () B (OBEDL A
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 A (HBE RN RER) BOIE2M BT ¢
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2018 2017
it 2N o — &t
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT I
Fees 4 667 640
Other emoluments: H AT 4 -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind i~ R EYA 7,562 7,005
Discretionary bonus P15 AL AL 313 -
Pension scheme contributions B AT 2 Ak 67 58
7,942 7,063
8,609 7,703

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

(a) MW IEPfr
ERNDATHILIERTEREZ RSN T

2018 2017

2\ e Sl i S

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T

Leung Mei Han PLES | 80 80
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter i A 80 80
Tsunao Kijima A B 4 e 80 80
240 240

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2017: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(continued)

(b)

Executive directors and the chief executive

Notes to Financial Statements
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8. ¢ R W4T BN B4 (50

(b) BATH S BRI B AT R

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonus contributions remuneration
A B K Y

M4 HYH i WA sh# 2 8% i T 44 %
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT T b3

2018 “E N
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen Ey 80 3,720" - - 3,800
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly* B 4 80 1,215 187 18 1,500
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis K FE 80 - - 4 84
Wu Wing Biu®* W 7K A 80 1,079 63 18 1,240
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson** B B ### 80 1,109 63 18 1,270
Tai Chun Kit* R 5+ 27 439 - 9 475
427 7,562 313 67 8,369

2017 e S ot 2
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen s 80 3,600" - - 3,680
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly* iS4 80 1,215 - 18 1,313
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis K FE 80 - - 4 84
Wu Wing Biu W 7K A 80 1,079 - 18 1,177
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [N 80 1,111 - 18 1,209
400 7,005 - 58 7,463
A Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits in kind A A HE N Bl 35 4 - HERG R B A 25 5 AR

is an estimated rental of HK$3,720,000 (2017: HK$3,600,000)

for a director’s quarter owned by the Group.

# Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is also the chief executive of the

Group. Effective 1 April 2018, total annual remuneration,
excluding discretionary bonus, is HK$1,577,000.

*“ Effective 1 April 2018, total annual remuneration excluding
discretionary bonus, is HK$1,246,000.

##  Effective 1 April 2018, total annual remuneration excluding
discretionary bonus, is HK$1,248,000.

= — )\ FE B

##

#H

BB R % E R A A
Z AR 423,720,0008 6 (= F — L4
3,600,000 70) °

WIRR LR AREEZ R THRAL -
RZZ— )\EWAH—H B - GEFH A
BRI EACAL) %41,577,000% 76 -

RZZ— )\ H— H B - GEFH I AE
A BIEWEACAL) %51,246,000% 6 -

RZF— WA —H B - GEFH A
AR BIEWEACAL) %51,248,000% 76 -

oW % om oA W

5 W
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (continued)

* Mr. Tai Chun Kit was appointed as director of the
Company on 1 December 2017. His salaries, allowance
and benefits in kind, discretionary bonus and pension
scheme contributions received from the Group during the
year before the appointment were HK$752,000, HK$40,000
and HK$18,000 respectively. Effective 1 April 2018, total
annual remuneration excluding discretionary bonus, is
HK$2,039,000, of which HK$702,000 is the estimated annual
rental for a director’s quarter owned by the Group.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year (2017: Nil).

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

10

The five highest paid employees during the year included five
(2017: four) directors which included the chief executive, details
of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration of the remaining one highest paid employee for the
year ended 31 March 2017 who was neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

8. M Fedg WA BN HMH 4 (4

(b) BATH P R w5 4T BN H (50

RN R LEF R
ERARATHEE o B TAT T ALK E R
TRAEEH L - B A ER R - B
B AT J AR IR 4 51 81 22 k3% 43 il 25752,000
#EJT ~ 40,0009 7T K 18,0008 76 - £ —F
— )\ H—H B > 4 5 M AHECKR
B 3% 195 46 41) 52,039,000 # ot > HHp
702,000% JC %y B A 4R [ HE A M 2 % 4
HIE A WAL AGF R4 o

RN o 2 HE S IR AT BOA B S AR R
?ﬁg%ﬁ@%ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ(:%ﬁ
- :““) o

9. o % W Jee v O R

AN T I B R B S T (B
REATBANR) (2L : L) » Z5#E
5SRO LSRR o B E % LA
SEH =4 AR o Uk 0 R R B
(S FEA 2y Al R AT BN B) Z B b g
mE

2018 2017

R N\4E R

HKS$°000 HK$’000

BT T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind P~ HI A EYA = 1,716
Pension scheme contributions BAR ST 2 ik ak - 18
- 1,734

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the remuneration of the
highest paid non-director and non-chief executive employee fell
within the band HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000.

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE, GAIN ON
DISPOSAL OF ASSETS HELD FOR
SALE AND AMORTISATION OF
DEFERRED GAIN

On 20 March 2017, the Group entered into a sale and leaseback
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of a
property situated in Hong Kong (the “Property”) for a cash
consideration of HK$368,000,000 (the “Property Disposal”). The
transaction was completed on 19 May 2017 (the “Completion
Date”). As at 31 March 2017, the relevant leasehold land and
building with a carrying amount of HK$45,307,000 included in
Hong Kong operating segment was classified as held for sale.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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11.

Year ended 31 March 2018 & E —

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE, GAIN ON
DISPOSAL OF ASSETS HELD FOR
SALE AND AMORTISATION OF
DEFERRED GAIN (continued)

Upon completion of the Property Disposal, the Group and the
purchaser entered into a tenancy agreement, whereby the Group
leased the Property from the purchaser for its own use for 1
year commencing on the Completion Date. The fair value of
the Property near the Completion Date was determined by DTZ
Cushman & Wakefield Limited,

qualified valuer. The excess of consideration over fair value

independent professionally

of the Property has been deferred and amortised over the lease
period, and the amortisation of the deferred gain amounting to
HK$15,584,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2018. The
remaining balance of unamortised deferred gain amounting to
HK$2,416,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2018.

During the year, a gain of HK$302,300,000 on disposal of assets
held for sale before tax has been recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/

jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
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S 85 it B

F)EZHA=ZH—HIRFE

FAE AR - BRI A H
a2 W i e B A 908 S i 4 ()

T8 R 3 B A% > AR B B BT S AL
o PRk AREE M E A ZmEEAN
EH 58 B H O 51 2 0 — 4 o A B B B 1
AU AR 2 A8 )% o 0 o B35 6 4 A A il 9 4
BITARAFIEE - EWEZIAFEZNR
A 030 A S A R B O R BN RE R
—EZHA=ZT—HILEEZHEAREEREN
e 572 $H 9 8 %t 0K 2515,584,0009 78 > Mt &
—JEZHZ=Z1—HZ 6 M BRI E NHER
A H £ 2 AT WY 25 AR 2,416,000 IC ©

ER-BRTZHEHFRELREEEZ IR
302,300,0003 70 Tt 47 A 1H 25 8 W IR -

P £ B¢
T s ) 15 0 T $224F TN A s T 28 2k =2 A R E R
PR $%216.5% (—=F— L4 : 16.5%) ZBRAE
H B o M 1 2 ME SR B VR P = BLIE TG AR 8
AREMBEEFZERFAEEERZBTHR
R -

2018 2017
it 2 I¢: 2 e Sal s
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Current — Hong Kong W -
Charge for the year A A B Bl IH 26,350 16,164
Current — Elsewhere B3 — A 3 [
Charge for the year A4 J3E Fd 7 6,188 10,004
Underprovision/(overprovision) WAL EREAR R
in prior years (38 J2 338 4) 155 (78)
Deferred (note 28) R (M 7H28) 2,901 (1,112)
Total tax charge for the year AR JE 2 BB T 35,594 24,978

VA SR e oY & M A R oA A
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11. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
at the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the
tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the

11. i 588 (4)

AR Aoy v o Je  ZE WL A F R AE B W)
TR I ik B AR A LI R B B v
Z BLIE S R DL B R B 2 BOH S
W > DA Sl B AR (BP 2 Bl ) ST PR B R 2

applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax

rate, are as follows:

HERWT :

2018 2017
R\ —&F LA
HK$’000 Y% HKS$’000 %
BT BT
Profit before tax o3 ot i ¥z A 387,335 78,377
Tax at the applicable tax rates T T B AR G 2 BLIE 61,601 15.9 7,791 9.9
Adjustments in respect of current T 31 2 8 JE AE B 11 9 4
tax of previous periods 155 - (78) 0.1)
Profits and losses attributable JRE AL B 2 2 ] ¥ 1)
to associates KR (1,827) 0.5) 21 -
Income not subject to tax PR Z WA (50,977) (13.2) (6,898) (8.8)
Expenses not deductible for tax A mY AT A T 19
Z i 2,645 0.7 4,085 5.2
Effect of withholding tax of 5%-10% THHIBE5%-10%
(2017: 10%) on distributable (ZF—E5:10%) %
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries N e TN Y i
in Mainland China J&§ 2 R Z W] Bt 43 IR i
Mz % 1,279 0.3 128 0.2
Tax losses utilised from previous periods 5 F 4% 13 3 [#] =
T e M 4 (60) = (62) 0.1
Deferred tax assets not recognised KRR ZEERIE G E 20,765 5.4 24,930 31.8
Others oAl 2,013 0.6 (4,939) (6.2)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate  FZACSE [ B PR AL K 51
Z BiIH 35,594 9.2 24,978 31.9

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
HK$2,315,000 (2017: HK$2,710,000) is included in “Share of

profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss.
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12. DIVIDENDS 12. Bt &
2018 2017
—R— N\ e S S
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Vedion
Interim — HK3.0 cents (2017: HK3.0 cents) o 3 — A7 B A8 B 3.09 Il
per ordinary share ZE L4 3.0%4) 11,528 11,528
Declared special interim dividend — BB IRAF B P R S —
Nil (2017: HK30.0 cents) (ZF— L9 GRS ER
per ordinary share 30.0%1l) - 115,277
Proposed final — HK6.5 cents SRR — B T 6. S AIl
(2017: HK6.5 cents) per ordinary share —F—LE  6.5%A1l) 24,977 24,977
Proposed special dividend — HK25.0 cents R R ) B S — 5 IS A %
(2017: Nil) per ordinary share 25.0%Al (ZF— L4« %) 96,064 -
132,569 151,782

13

The proposed final and special dividends for the year are subject
to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.

The final and special dividends are based on 384,257,640
ordinary shares (2017: 384,257,640 ordinary shares), being
the total number of issued shares of the Company at the year

end. The final and special dividends which were proposed after

the end of the reporting period, have not been recognised as f& o

liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY

i

1

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based

on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders

of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary WEH I o

shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017
in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potentially dilutive

ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 March 2018

and 2017.

A A R o

AR B 2 Sl R S P S 2 M i A 3R
R LA ) e R e AR 5 AR

R B e B B DL AR 2 AR A OB AT IR A 4
Bo B1384,257,640B AR (ZF— L4
384,257,640 % 0 Bt ) 1A o 7 iRk 45 K A% Bt
IR 2 R 30 e e 1 e JE Sl R A6 3R 0 R e R R B

13.%’&%%@%?&%%%)@{&@&

e i A 250 ) 7 LR A A B AR 2 ) i 2
A WA A B4 N BB AT M B AT 4

HRALERERE-Z - \FER-F-LFE=
H=+— Bk R B ) 2 T
A JBE > DA Sl A o S U R
F-EHE=ZA =+ — HILFE R 25 2 5B

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

)

13. 7%
&

L—4

2y ) V% T R 4 P A A

(continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based TR R B A R A s A
on:
2018 2017
—®— )\ — &t
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
Earnings A
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders #5345 B A< K2 44 i 23 )
of the Company, used in the basic and i Al Z AR 24 w) 3%
diluted earnings per share calculation WE 25 P A & MEAG A 347,703 50,274
Number of shares
Jeefr ¥ H
2018 2017
—R— N — R4
Shares I8t £y
Weighted average number of ordinary shares #3243 [ b AR % #  2 F1)
in issue during the year used in the basic AR O A
and diluted earnings per share calculation Z IRET- 1 8 384,257,640 384,257,640
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W3¢ ~ Wi b B it i

Land  Leasehold  Furniture,
and improve- fixtures and Plant and Motor
buildings ments  equipment  machinery vehicles Total
T AT BiH- BERM
BT R REREH i & ol At
HK$000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000
#WTC BT BT #WTo #WTc BFTx

31 March 2018 “E-NEZAZ—H

At 31 March 2017 and at 1 April 2017 RoF—tLEZA=ZT—HE

“Z—t¥ENA—A:
Cost A 391,049 215,972 127,553 219,264 50,733 1,004,571
Accumulated depreciation At (111,121)  (103,129) (99,820) (145,182 (43,000 (502,252
Net carrying amount e A 279,928 112,843 27,733 74,082 7,133 502,319
At 1 April 2017, net of accumulated REZF—tENA—H >
depreciation EAR R 279928 112,843 21,733 74,082 1733 502,319
Additions NE 1,977 21,925 7,827 19,040 3,098 53,867
Disposals/write-off e s - (1,633) (513) (247) (27) (2,420
Depreciation provided during the year ER TR (10,028) (30,058) (9,781) (10,676) (3,293) (63,836)
Exchange realignment [ S 16,559 8,921 1,440 7411 294 34,625

At 31 March 2018, net of accumulated R-F—)\EZA=+—H >

depreciation TR B 288,436 111,998 26,706 89,610 7,805 524,555
At 31 March 2018: WoZ-NE=ZF=+—H:
Cost AR 418,658 247,848 136,647 256,611 52,335 1,112,099
Accumulated depreciation PEis (130,222)  (135850)  (109,941)  (167,001) (44,530)  (587,544)
Net carrying amount T 288,436 111,998 26,706 89,610 7,805 524,555

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y93 ~ W55 Be sl ()

(continued)
Land Leasehold Furniture,
and improve-  fixtures and Plant and Motor ~ Construction
buildings ments  equipment  machinery vehicles  in progress Total
T HERT B R
YL 52 xE o RERRM Yy i e IR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000
BRTC  BWFTL #RFTr ENTo ENTC BT BFT
31 March 2017 ZZ—-LHEZA=T—H
At 1 April 2016: BZR—=ANENF—H

Cost or valuation B A 492,608 242,262 126,077 231,880 52,602 926 1,146,415

Accumulated depreciation B FH7# (167,765) (87,841) (96,057) (149,889) (42,676) - (544,228)

Net carrying amount R T 0 324,843 154,421 30,020 81,991 9,986 926 602,187
At 1 April 2016, net of BZR—=RENH—H »

accumulated depreciation T B B 5478 324,843 154,421 30,020 81,991 9,986 926 602,187
Additions wE 45,892 17,340 8,621 7579 2,844 - 82,276
Disposal of subsidiaries W A R (W its2)

(note 32) (23,131) (8,017) (264) (218) (225) - (31,855)
Disposals/write-off Y4 (790) (13,320 (1,483) (537) (80) - (16,210
Depreciation provided ENTBHEZ#E

during the year (10,964) (30,756) (9,072) (10,601) (4,578) - (65,971)
Transfers [ €743 - - 888 - - (888) -
Transfers to assets held for B 235l 1 B & &

sale (note 10) (Wit10) (45,307) - - - - - (45,307)
Exchange realignment JEE 34, b 2 (10,615) (6,825) (977) (4,132) (214) (38) (22,801)
At31 March 2017, netof ~ PZZF—LHE=ZA=4—H >

accumulated depreciation AN BFH T 279,928 112,843 21,733 74,082 7,733 - 502,319
At 31 March 2017: MW_Z—tEZA=1—H:

Cost A 391,049 215,972 127,553 219,264 50,733 - 1,004,571

Accumulated depreciation Bt # (111,121) (103,129) (99,820 (145,182) (43,000 - (502,252)

Net carrying amount i ¢ M 279,928 112,843 27,733 74,082 7,733 - 502,319

Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings, which are
situated in Hong Kong, were revalued at 15 July 1993, by C.Y.
Leung & Company Limited, independent professionally qualified
valuers. The leasehold land and buildings were revalued at open
market value, based on their existing use. Since the year ended
31 March 1994, no further revaluations of the Group’s leasehold
land and buildings have been carried out, as the Group has relied
upon the exemption granted under the transitional provisions in
paragraph 80AA of HKAS 16 from the requirement to carry out
future revaluations of its property, plant and equipment which
were stated at valuation at that time. As at 31 March 2017, the
relevant leasehold land and building was classified under assets
held for sale in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Further details are included in note 10.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 it B

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

15. 5P E

2018 2017
ZR )\ —&F LA

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT Vedion
Carrying amount at beginning of year A ) 2 W T E 18,607 19,362
Gain from a fair value adjustment (note 5) TR 2 W2 (M FES) 590 461
Exchange realignment [ 5a, 3 2,053 (1,216)
Carrying amount at end of year AR ZIRTHE 21,250 18,607

The Group’s investment property represents an industrial property
in Mainland China. The Group’s investment property was
revalued on 31 March 2018 based on a valuation performed by
DTZ Cushman & Wakefield Limited, independent professionally
qualified valuers, at HK$21,250,000. Each year, the Group’s
finance team decides to appoint which external valuer to be
responsible for the external valuation of the Group’s property.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are maintained.
The Group’s finance team has discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is

performed for annual financial reporting.

The investment property is leased to an associate of the Group
under an operating lease, further summary details of which are
included in notes 34(a) and 36(a)(iv) to the financial statements.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment property are included

on page 192 of the annual report.

REBZREWER —EHMRPEKEZ T
EWMFE o REEZREMER _FT—)FE=ZH
b HOAR A P S AR A R R
A7 B2 W) AT Z Al 48 W 3 A %521,250,000%
JG o BRAE > AHE [ 2 B I Bk e S A0 I Al 4 il
Ty AR AR [ 1y A SEAE A o BESR AR EE T
IR~ B MR SR DA BRSO HE o
AL B PR A AR A 4 S R T R T A AT A
IR > 74 452 [ 1 B 5 VR ok 8 A 1l L I
A7 L 0 AL 8 D 45 R AT W o o

REMEURERAEABE T AREEZ 2
AT IO BB R B RE34(a) R 36(a)(iv) °

ARG B G 3 2 SR RO A R 192 o

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s investment property:

15. Bt &EWE (8)
AV
500 0 A B 3 A A

Fair value measurement as at 31 March 2018 using

R NEZN = — HZ A TGRSR

Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

i ERPE  ERAWHLE

i B A PN 1y i A\ AFL
(F—K) (%) (=) rat
Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
DU FEH i S0 Ve A i W T W T W T W T
Industrial property TEWE - - 21,250 21,250

Fair value measurement as at 31 March 2017 using

REF-EEEA =, HZAHERHRRA

Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

i HRWEE  EARRTEE

R 1 i A AE i A ME
(—J&) CGE=JE) (=) frat
Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
VAT I H AR P AP E s BT BT BT HW T
Industrial property TEY% - - 18,607 18,607

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements

between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3

(2017: Nil).
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key
inputs to the valuation of the investment property:

15. 8 &Y% ()

A THARE (5]

B T 45 W A T A A B B0l B B
i A\ G PR

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs Weighted average
A1 e ol K S W 8L W o A fFL b3 ¥
2018 2017
—F— )\ —FE L
Industrial property Direct capitalisation Market rental value HK$27 HK$26
T¥WE method (per square metre and per month) 27 76 2640
HIEBE AL WAL (R ITR R BEA)
Term yield (per annum) 5.75% 5.75%
SR AR R (BF4E)
Reversionary yield (per annum) 6.25% 6.25%
B A R (4R

The Group has determined that the current use of the industrial

property is the highest and best use at the measurement date.

Under the direct capitalisation method, a property’s fair value
is estimated based on the normalised net operating income
generated by the property, which is divided by the capitalisation
rate.

A significant increase (decrease) in the market rental value would
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
investment property. A significant increase (decrease) in the term
yield rate and reversionary yield rate in isolation would result in a

significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of the investment

property.

AR [ e A T T TR 3 H T2 R&
H 2 5 o S et g o

HOB PO VAL » 3 A A RO R B
A0 2 A S 608 A W DA YA 3K
fiiat -

G AL K BRI () & BB B W SR
RPN GE YIRS ERE TS L e Y 1

R Z KR (A ) BB EWERAF
5 KIEA () -

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. FAY 1 AL 3k
2018 2017
R\ e S S
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT T
Carrying amount at beginning of year AR AT) 2 B T A 91,164 102,551
Recognised during the year AE N R (2,925) (2,952)
Disposal & = (1,581)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) B W) ) o W (B E32) - (615)
Exchange realignment [E B, 3 %% 9,711 (6,239)
Carrying amount at end of year TR % 2 VR THE 97,950 91,164
Current portion included in prepayments, W IELEFHATHIE ~ 5T 4 &
deposits and other receivables At WK T = O B 5 4 (3,101) (2,887)
Non-current portion Bl 94,849 88,277

During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group acquired J&
TR ER A MRAF (“GZ Panxi”), which operates a restaurant
on a piece of land (the “Land”) in Liwan District, Guangzhou,
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). At 31 March 2018,
the carrying value of the Land was HK$39,749,000 (2017:
HK$37,114,000). In the opinion of the directors, based on the
advice from the Group’s external legal advisors, GZ Panxi has
the right to use the Land and occupy the buildings thereon for its
restaurant operations, and upon the payment of the land premium,

the Group can obtain the land use right certificate for the Land.
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

A I

17. GOODWILL 17. B 5%
HK$°000
BT

At 1 April 2016: W= ANFEMNH—H :

Cost JN 52,872

Accumulated impairment AEHWAE (3,292)

Net carrying amount TR N 49,580
Cost at 1 April 2016, net of accumulated AR ANENH —HZ K

impairment L1 B B T U 49,580
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 32) B W& 2 | (B AE32) (3,929)
Exchange realignment FE 56, i % (1,971)
At 31 March 2017 W _Z—tHE=H=1—H 43,680
At 31 March 2017 and at 1 April 2017: W2 —-tEHE=ZH=+—H K

—F—bLENHA—H

Cost JR AR 46,972

Accumulated impairment BRHRAE (3,292)

Net carrying amount T R 43,680
Cost at 1 April 2017, net of accumulated W —LHFENHA—HZEA

impairment L1 B B U 43,680
Exchange realignment [ 5o 7 3% 2,994
At 31 March 2018 HoE - NFE=ZH=1+—H 46,674
At 31 March 2018: REF—)EZA=1—H

Cost JR A 49,966

Accumulated impairment AEH A (3,292)

Net carrying amount W THT 46,674

oW % om oA W
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

17. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
units is as follows:

17. v & (%)

R g RIS

43 S 2 B 4 A A B AL T B R TR B
T

2018 2017

—F N\ R b

HK$°000 HK$’000

BT T BIEF o

Trading business I E 17,808 16,065
Lunch box and tuck shop services operation Y U R E S

(the “Catering business™) (MTEMRER]) 14,090 14,090

Mainland restaurant operation P M 2 R 12,795 11,544

Others Al 1,981 1,981

46,674 43,680

Mainland restaurant operation, trading business and Catering

business cash-generating units

The recoverable amounts of the Mainland restaurant operation
cash-generating unit, the trading business cash-generating
unit and the Catering business cash-generating unit have been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The discount rate applied
to the cash flow projections is 13% (2017: 13%). The growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows of the cash-generating units
beyond the five-year period is 0% (2017: 0%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
Mainland restaurant operation cash-generating unit, the trading
business cash-generating unit and the Catering business cash-
generating unit for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017. The
following describes each key assumption on which management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment
testing of goodwill:
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

17. GOODWILL (continued) 17. 28 (%)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Mainland restaurant operation, trading business and Catering

business cash-generating units (continued)

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,

increased for expected efficiency improvements.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and

reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Purchase price inflation — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to inventory price inflation is the forecast price indices
during the budget year from where inventories are sourced.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on expected
efficiency improvements, discount rates and purchase price

inflation are consistent with external information sources.

VR WA B (A1)
AR T ~ B S 5 1 A S 5 B < 2k
e (5)

HHFEF# — H DA A BN R 5
Wy AR AR AT — A B P BAIR
S iy PRI B 2K R B T 4w

S B — B iR 2 W B R BB AT > HLJ e B
B B A B < A ) i

FRIF % L3R — A B (R b Bk 2 P R TG 3%
T B A7 R R 2 TR (A 4 A

BRI AR SOE - B BRI A Bk &
SR B (B 6 B A0 0 S R AR JR A A — B -

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. o fils 906 B ¥
Backlog Customer
contracts Licences relationships Total
HMEAM it et % PR Wk
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T wHTT T
At 1 April 2016 R_F—ANENA—H
Cost AR 5,464 408 879 6,751
Accumulated amortisation PR (667) (34) (57) (758)
Net carrying amount R i 4,797 374 822 5,993
Cost at 1 April 2016, net of WRo-Z—NEMNA—HZ
accumulated amortisation LW NEE I ] 4,797 374 822 5,993
Amortisation provided during SENERSE (M E7)
the year (note 7) (1,602) (82) (137) (1,821)
At 31 March 2017 REZZ—LEZA=1+—H 3.195 292 685 4172
At 31 March 2017 and PR —-LE=ZA=Z+—HRK
1 April 2017: “E-E#ENUA—H
Cost AR 5,464 408 879 6,751
Accumulated amortisation P 3o (2,269) (116) (194) (2,579)
Net carrying amount T T A 3,195 292 685 4,172
Cost at 1 April 2017, net of W _F—-EEWH—HZ
accumulated amortisation B 5 F1BR B 3,195 292 685 4,172
Amortisation provided during N RS (W RE7)
the year (note 7) (1,602) (82) (137) (1,821)
At 31 March 2018 H_F—-NEZH=+—H 1,593 210 548 2,351
At 31 March 2018: PZFE—-NE=ZA=+—H:
Cost TR A 5,464 408 879 6,751
Accumulated amortisation PR Yo (3,871) (198) (331) (4,400)
Net carrying amount iR T A 1,593 210 548 2,351
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

19. A B A vl 2 B H

2018 2017

2 )\4E —2 L4

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT Vot an

Share of net assets FEAY & P A 170,543 158,735

The Group’s trade payable balances with the associates are

A S ) SLIGG  ON ) Z E AT B2 5 SRR A i TR

disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements. T 5 e i B 26 ©
Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: FEBEEARGFEHENT
Percentage
Place of of ownership
Particulars incorporation/ interest
of issued registration attributable to Principal
Name shares held and business the Group activities
HHC# kWb 7% 4 19 M AN
#h JBe £ it Bl RERME  HAEERTAR ER =31
Calbee Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 50.0 Manufacturing
Company Limited 57 s of snack foods
RYEBIWA R AT ANE3
VY PP A £ B AR A ] O Paid-up capital PRC/Mainland 50.0 Manufacturing
B AR China of snack foods
v M
Want Want Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Trading in
Company Limited @ 78 piavis snack foods
IEE JEE PO A R A ] i MG
Lotte Four Seas Limited @G Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Investment
LR PIWA R AR o gl T holding
BB
Cheers Cafe Limited ®® Ordinary shares Hong Kong 222 Investment
WIKR KA R AR oo 988 B B holding
BB
J&E M R B PR A ] G Paid-up capital PRC/Mainland 22.2 Restaurant
B AR China operations
LA PN W
i SRR PR AR O Paid-up capital PRC/Mainland 22.2 Restaurant
SR e A China operations
LA PN R

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. TR B 8 A v 2 B8 (B)

(continued)

Notes: Vi

(i) Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm () Ik U 2k 6 E] S T B Ak A Bk A 4%
of the Ernst & Young global network At 5 B 2 W) B 5T

(i) The financial years of these associates are not coterminous with (i) % %5 W8 A w) I B AR BE B AR AR M S I
that of the Group and have financial year ending 31 December. HBBEEEZEFTH AT _A=Z1+—H « %%
These associates use 31 December as their financial year end date T A=t B AEHMBUE AR H 2B S A
to conform with their holding companies’ reporting date or statutory " HE R AT Z 2 H B ke R o

requirements.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the FEERDAED E s NENE LB EERE
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the IR 2 A 4 T 2 R A T R 2 A A
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the BT BEAAEMFAIGTEHS AR EHES
Group. To give details of other associates would, in the opinion & 8 A5 TC -

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The financial years of the above associates are coterminous with bl W 7 2 R 2 Vo B AT R LA 4 [ B A R A
that of the Group, except for associates as mentioned in note H— W > M b S B R G TE B At 2 W A\ B
(ii) above, for which the consolidated financial statements are Ab o Gt A BB A 25 S A 4 1) N B B AR B
adjusted for the material transactions between their financial year HEEHZBZERESGEH -

end date and the Group’s year end date.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information TEMEREFRMINTFAEROFHEEAFZ
of the Group’s associates that are not individually material: EitMBER
2018 2017
—®— )\ — &t
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Share of the associates’ profit for the year R A Bt 5 2 ) 48 1A i ) 11,104 748
Share of the associates’ other comprehensive M fl Ik %5 /A =] FH At 2> i
income/(loss) s (E#|) 526 (3,396)
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive  FEA) B 2 = 48 2 Hi
income/(loss) Wtk (E#) 11,630 (2,648)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s A S5 E R A Z G W
investments in associates 48 i) 170,543 158,735
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Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— JUE=ZH=+—HIH4EE

20. w4k i A B ¥

INVESTMENTS
2018 2017
=)\ —F -t
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T BT
School debenture, at fair value BiRER » A TFE 3,500 -
Listed equity investments, at fair value TR IR o AT 204 204
Club debentures, at fair value TSR > AP 727 627
Unlisted equity investments, at cost JE BT RERS R > TR 357 357
4,788 1,188

During the year, the net gain in respect of the Group’s available-
for-sale investments recognised in other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$100,000 (2017: HK$39,000). In the prior year,
a gain of HK$16,000 was reclassified from other comprehensive

income to the statement of profit or loss during that year.

The equity investments consist of investments in equity securities
which were designated as available-for-sale financial assets and

have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

As at 31 March 2018, certain unlisted equity investments with a
carrying amount of HK$357,000 (2017: HK$357,000) were stated
at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors are of the opinion that
their fair value cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not

intend to dispose of them in the near future.

AR 5 2R R B Al 2 T O 2 R AR 2 T 4R
B 2R % 100,000 70 (—F—L4E £ 39,000
WIL) o N RAE > 16,0000 2 W2 AL AR
ZH A 2T TR A BEHSE

SR E BFER RS RE » e R
PEHh B b A » HLAERE 20 H 08 m ER -

W= /)E=ZH=1—H » R4 %357,000
Wt (ZF—L4 £ 357,000%0) 2 & TIE L
HE 25 48 B 5 DA A 11 BRI AE B R - LT3 B
PEAPAEAG s Z WE R K » HER R/ HATE
AREF FEHEE R o AREE MBI B ZE
HH o

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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21. INVENTORIES 21. # R

2018 2017
ZZ2— )\ —F L
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T
Raw materials R 166,781 90,140
Work in progress e YA 11,135 8,650
Finished goods J2E B h 178,997 175,046
356,913 273,836

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. JHE BB B Bk
2018 2017
N\ —&F—t
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T BT
Trade receivables JE W 5 Wk 590,047 552,164
Impairment WA (2,777) (1,066)
587,270 551,098

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally for a period
of one to three months, extending up to four to five months for
major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade

receivables. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
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An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the

22, EWCER B MRk (78)

TP IR > AR B ST YT B B R 2

reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provisions, BHBERZERSHWT
is as follows:

2018 2017
e 2yiC 2 N vEaS
HK$°000 HK$’000
W T T
Within 1 month RPN 246,535 224,648
1 to 2 months 1228 A 101,038 94,584
2 to 3 months 2E3MAH 94,254 89,117
Over 3 months 3fAAH VL 145,443 142,749
587,270 551,098

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables

are as follows:

JE W S 5 MR ik < AL A S B IR DL AN

2018 2017

)\ —F -t

HK$’000 HKS$’000

BT BT

At beginning of year ) 1,066 1,106
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) O g2 I8 48 (M a%7) 1,711 149
Amount written off as uncollectible i 85 5 A Ji 3 W e 2 3k 0E - (189)
At end of year AR 2,777 1,066

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade

receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of HK$2,777,000 (2017: HK$1,066,000) with a
gross carrying amount before provision of HK$2,777,000 (2017:
HK$1,066,000). The individually impaired trade receivables

relate to customers that were in default or delinquency in

payments and are not expected to be recovered.

b A BT S MR Rk T A R R A
T 48 B T A4 %52,777,0008 00 (ZF — L4 ¢
1,066,000% 7¢) Z A W 2 EWE 5
W Ak 1 3 H52,777,0008 o0 (% — L4
1,066,000% 75) A B % 7 Z il 5l I E Z
W B B Wk U 9 A S O K > SR S R AT

e -

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are not

considered to be impaired is as follows:

22, HEWCE 5 MRk (58)

B R Z HE WL BT S MRk Z IR B A AT A °F

2018 2017

2 N\4E e Sl i

HK$’000 HK$°000

BT Vedion

Neither past due nor impaired S 18 24 1) 5 Yk AE 544,108 509,158
Less than 1 month past due B A8 H 23,853 21,508
1 to 3 months past due M —ZE =10 H 13,730 14,642
Over 3 months past due A=A DL L 5,579 5,790
587,270 551,098

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a

large number of diversified customers for whom there was no

recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant

change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully

recoverable.

Included in trade receivables is an amount due from a subsidiary
of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (“HKFH”), a
substantial shareholder of the Company, of HK$314,000 as at 31

March 2017, which is repayable on credit terms similar to those

offered to the major customers of the Group.
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 23, TEAT K ~ 5T A B JL il HE WOk
OTHER RECEIVABLES
2018 2017
it SIS 2 —F L
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT o
Prepayments TN RIH 48,159 66,436
Deposits and other receivables HE 8RN e e 96,491 106,383
144,650 172,819
Less: Deposits classified as W #4 F IR
non-current assets BREZM £ (29,359) (30,721)
Current portion VREER 4y 115,291 142,098
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The batE W s s o FAAARR NS
financial assets included in the above balances relate to Tl A TG A A R A O ek 2 B GRIE -
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.
24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE U AT HBBEZAES LB
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS P
2018 2017
—®— )\ —F—tE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T
Listed equity investments, at market value hTRERR AR - R 49,545 47,444
The above equity investments at 31 March 2018 were designated FHiERHER T~ )E=H=1T—HEAX
by the Group as financial assets at fair value through profit or HE R TR BRI BEATFHBRERA

loss upon initial recognition. MRz Al o
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

25. e KB E&SMHMEH

2018 2017

=)\ —F L

HK$’000 HKS$’000

T T

Cash and bank balances B RRATHAE 476,247 515,648
Time deposits with original maturity of less 5 7 2| H A it

than three months when acquired =H ZEMER 325,838 323,792

Cash and cash equivalents e MBI E&EMEE 802,085 839,440

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to HK$158,630,000 (2017: HK$148,671,000). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months (2017: one day and
one month) depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks

with no recent history of default.
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26. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER 26. MEAF B 5 sk ~ b ME A sk 9 B

PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS Mt £ 45
2018 2017
—E )\ R e e
HKS$’°000 HKS$’000
BT Vo o T
Trade payables AT B 5 IRk 197,619 164,943
Other payables JEAth, HE A 3K IE 53,348 59,957
Accruals FEE AR 113,269 140,134
364,236 365,034

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

T HE AR > AR IR B H Y Z AT B 5 Rk

MR AT T

2018 2017

R )\ R -t

HK$°000 HK$’000

0T 0 BT T

Within 1 month A A 135,062 112,067
1 to 2 months 12218 H 35,633 25,884
2 to 3 months 2F3ME H 11,031 11,710
Over 3 months A AL L 15,893 15,282
197,619 164,943

Included in trade payables are amounts due to the Group’s
associates of HK$42,085,000 (2017: HK$40,687,000) and a
subsidiary of HKFH, a substantial shareholder of the Company, T 5B R AN T — 44 3 B R 75 v A S i — T R
of HK$256,000 (2017: Nil), which are normally settled on 30-day J& A Z 3K 256,000 00 (—F— b4 ) »
to 60-day terms. 55— B 3230 F 60 H W PR 45 4 -

TR A5 B % MRk A 956 A5 R A 4 I % A R 2 R TH
42.,085,000% 76 ( —F —-L4F : 40,687,000#7C)

FEAF B 5 Wik s B B B — M 430 E 60 H 1 Bk 45
£ o Hofth B A R IE T3 %0 K. > A SEE 3 08 =

interest-bearing and have an average term of three months. EEE

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally

settled on 30-day to 60-day terms. Other payables are non-
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 27. AT A B Z 84T B
BORROWINGS
2018 2017
“E N e SRS
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Maturity HKS$’000 rate Maturity HK$’000
T ES 2 H .3 e YIRS 2 H W F T
Current
)
Trust receipt loans — unsecured 0.6%-2.9% Within 88,895 0.6%-2.9% Within 65,327
JEHEA 5 T IR B 12 months 12 months
or on or on
demand demand
12 A W 128 A A
B % B OR IR E R
Bank loans — unsecured 0.6%-5.5% Within 677,197 0.8%-5.5% Within 864,793
$HE 1 40 SRAT 0K 12 months 12 months
or on or on
demand demand
12 H i 1218 A i
Bk R AR E R

766,092 930,120

Non-current

I By
Bank loans — unsecured 0.8%-1.7% 2019 9,141 1.2%-2.9% 2018-2019 82,469
AL AT B “E A ZE-N\E
BRI
775,233 1,012,589
2018 2017
R\ eSSl S
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Analysed into: S
Bank loans: WATE
Within one year or on demand W —4E N B IR R 766,092 930,120
In the second year BEN 9,141 74,061
In the third to fifth years, inclusive WE=FHAER
L R 4 - 8.408
775,233 1,012,589
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BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a)  All the bank and trust receipt loans bear interest at floating interest

rates.

(b) The bank loans were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Japanese
yen and Renminbi (2017: Hong Kong dollar, Japanese yen,
Renminbi and United States dollar) at the end of the reporting

period.

As at 31 March 2018, there were no term loans repayable over

one year containing a repayment on demand clause (2017: Nil).

27. BB P B 2 8447 8k (F)

(a)  FRAT BT R A5 RE WO ek DL B AU &R, -

(b) IR - SATEBR A MT - A E R AR
(ZF b4 - FE - ARWEET) &
AL o

PoF - NE=ZA =4 H o BT R —
AR AR A A YT B K T B I R R R K
ZE L) o

DEFERRED TAX 28. ¥E %L Bt JH

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the

year are as follows:

AW IREBUR R R EZ BT

2018 —®— N4
Deferred tax liabilities HE % B a4
Fair value
adjustment
Accelerated  arising from
tax acquisition of  Revaluation ~ Withholding
depreciation  subsidiaries  of properties taxes Total
TR
AR AR
it ZATHNE LES R BB it
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000
#W T #W T #H T #W T #H T
At 1 April 2017 R-ZF—tHENH—H 3,491 10,825 4,467 320 19,103
Deferred tax liabilities reversed upon A B I e
disposal of assets held for sale to BEEHEARE
revaluation reserve R = = (3,501) - (3,501)
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the AEFERBRENME/
statement of profit or loss during (FHA) Z B RERLIH
the year (note 11) (Hit1) 2,131 (758) 147 1,196 2,716
Exchange realignment JE b 7 2 391 822 159 72 1,444
Gross deferred tax liabilities at R-F-N\NFEZH=Z+—HZ
31 March 2018 BRI A FAH 6,013 10,889 1,272 1,588 19,762

ZOF o U oo oW £ M A R A H
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 28. ¥E #EBLIH (7))
2018 —E— N4
Deferred tax assets WE %L B8 I &
Losses
available for
Decelerated offsetting
tax  against future
depreciation  taxable profits Others Total
A B K
Wt BUH MR B2 e A
it %P4 7 Hofly it
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
BHFL BWFIL BT #WHFL
At 1 April 2017 R-F—tENHA—H 2,546 5713 1,430 9,689
Deferred tax credited/(charged) AEFRBRENTAS
to the statement of profit or (k) Z B AL BEIE
loss during the year (note 11) (Hfit11) 228 (375) (38) (185)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2018 R-F-N\EZHA=Z+—H
BRI AR 2,774 5,338 1,392 9,504
2017 .
—E -t
Deferred tax liabilities B 42 5 £ 4%
Fair value
adjustment
Accelerated  arising from
tax  acquisition of Revaluation ~ Withholding
depreciation subsidiaries  of properties taxes Total
PRI W B
B AR A
Wl AT WEL L Kl it
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
W W T BT W T BT
At 1 April 2016 R-Z—-AFENH—H 4,477 11,919 4,570 201 21,167
Deferred tax charged/(credited) AEFERBRENNE/
to the statement of profit or (FHA) ZIE A BLIH
loss during the year (note 11) (Hat11) (986) (293) (103) 128 (1,254)
Exchange realignment M ., iF % - (801) - 9) (810)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at R-F—tEZHA=+—H
31 March 2017 ZIEERIH A A 3,491 10,825 4,467 320 19,103
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

28. JEHE B (4H)

e
Y L B 7

Losses
available for
Decelerated offsetting

tax against future

depreciation  taxable profits Others Total
] JiA Bt R
i i% 1P Al st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$’000 HKS$'000
BT Vit BT EWFT
At 1 April 2016 BZR—AENA—H 2,480 6,030 1,321 9,831
Deferred tax credited/(charged) AEFERBRENFA
to the statement of profit or (kR) Z BEALBEIE
loss during the year (note 11) (Hfit11) 66 (317) 109 (142)
Gross deferred tax assets at R-F—LEZHA=Z+—H
31 March 2017 BRI AR 2,546 5,713 1,430 9,689

For presentation purpose, certain deferred tax assets and

liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position.

The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the

Group for financial reporting purposes:

BRI TR B E E K A TR
Bk VLA RS o Zo 4 I B AR AT S AR
) 2 98 S0 5 A A AT E

2018 2017
e 2% 2 —E2 -t
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the PGB R ERERZ
consolidated statement of financial position W S B IE K A A 8,442 8,629
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the WA BB AR R R 2
consolidated statement of financial position B S B TH B R A (18,700) (18,043)
(10,258) (9,414)

N R e

oW oK Em oA R oA
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The Group has unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong Kong
of approximately HK$114,745,000 (2017: HK$93,933,000) that
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also has unrecognised tax losses arising in Mainland China of
approximately HK$230,450,000 (2017: HK$217,467,000) that
will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future
taxable profit. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these losses as, in the opinion of the directors, it
is uncertain whether sufficient future taxable profits will be

available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rates for the year ended 31 March
2018 are 5%-10% (2017: 10%). The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2018, except for the deferred tax recognised for
certain PRC subsidiaries that will distribute dividend, no other
deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China that are subject to withholding
taxes. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately HK$106,958,000 at 31 March 2018 (2017:
HK$68,635,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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SHARE CAPITAL 29, A
Shares BBy
2018 2017
—B )\ —F—LH
HK$°000 HK$’000
T BWTF o
Authorised: VE
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 1,000,000,000 8% 45 Ji% i {6
HK$0.10 each 0.10¥ 70 2 ¥ 18 % 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: CEITRER -
384,257,640 ordinary shares of 384,257,640/ %5 JB 1 {H
HK$0.10 each 0.10% 70 Z 3% 18 it 38,425 38,425

SHARE OPTION SCHEME 30. Jilk JBe B 51

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the scheme include the Company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees
of the Company, and any director or employee of the Company’s
subsidiaries and entities in which the Group holds any equity

interest.

On 28 August 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”). The Scheme is valid and effective for a period
of 10 years up to 27 August 2022, after which no further share
options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect in all other respects. Share options
complying with the provisions of the Listing Rules which are
granted during the duration of the Scheme and those remain
unexercised immediately prior to the end of the 10-year period
shall continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms
of grant as within the share option period for which such share
options are granted, notwithstanding the expiry of the Scheme.

= ® — U .

A5 ) A W PR T AR O S A I 3 A AR
MEEEMA TR EMZAER2HE - Gtll
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A 4R J A 4 i T A o R
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W e ST ) (THTE0) o 38 2 A B0 %104 »
BRZFENAZTLEH AL HEKRAE
T3 AT AT i B E - BT B 2 R T A S
05 W AT SR FE RO R o B A AR A A b i A B4
BITF > SR B0 B AR > B AE T8
SO0 )8 0 BT AR R AT 08 2 I TR > A7) T 4 e
RERZ R Z AR PEATAE > WORSZHT B Z S -

oW oK Em oA R oA

169



Notes to Financial Statements

S s i oty Pk

Year ended 31 March 2018 BE _F— )4E=H=+—HILEHE

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 30. Jik JBe M w1 (4)

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 38,831,364 ordinary shares,
being 10.0% of the shares of the Company in issue on 28 August
2012. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 38,831,364 ordinary
shares, representing 10.1% of the existing issued share capital
of the Company. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a

general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company (excluding any independent non-
executive director who is a grantee of the share options). In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based
on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of each
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon receipt of the duplicate offer
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
grantee with the number of shares in respect of which the offer
is accepted clearly stated therein, together with payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee to the Company
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the
expiry of the Scheme or after the Scheme has been terminated.
The terms and conditions of the share options granted are
determinable by the directors on a case-by-case basis. Such
terms and conditions may include, but are not limited to (i) the
subscription price; (ii) the period within which the Company’s
shares must be taken up under the share option, which must not
be more than 10 years from the offer date; (iii) the minimum
period, if any, for which a share option must be held before it can
be exercised; and (iv) the performance target, if any, that must be

achieved before the share option can be exercised.
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

31

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors in their absolute discretion at the time of the making of
the offer which shall be stated in the letter containing the offer,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the offer date which must be a trading day; (ii)
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value

of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or

to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, no share option was granted to directors and
other employees of the Company or any director or employees of
the Company’s subsidiaries and entities in which the Group holds

any equity interests (2017: Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
option outstanding under the Scheme (2017: Nil).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 86 to 87 of the financial
statements.

The Group’s share premium account includes (i) the credit of
HK$19,900,000 which represents the difference between the
nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and the
aggregate nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1993; and (ii)
the debit of HK$40,889,000 arising from the repurchase of shares
during the years ended 31 March 2015, 2013, 2011 and 2010.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign
Investment Enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries and the Group’s associates operating as Foreign
Investment Enterprises in Mainland China has been transferred
to the reserve funds. The reserve funds are non-distributable in

nature and can be utilised to offset the losses incurred.

The capital reserve represents the Group’s share of capitalisation

of retained profits by an associate.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of
the shares cancelled upon repurchase of the Company’s shares.

30.

31.

= ® — U .
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32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

In the prior year, the Group had the following disposal of

32. i B B )& A vl
T4 » 8t 5 T DL WG 24 R

subsidiaries:

(a) the disposal of 100% equity interests in a subsidiary, (@) HE—FKMEAF100%Z #E % > H§F
which held the entire interests in a subsidiary in Mainland H—FRAMPPE A R EEAEE
China engaging in raising and sale of livestocks, for a total MEZMEBAAZ ML  BIEMES
consideration of HK$45,000,000. The gain on the disposal 45,000,000% 7T o B B 1T Z i 8 W2k 49 %
before tax amounted to approximately HK$40,326,000 and 40,326,000 70 K B B4R 2 B 25 49 7%
gain on the disposal net of tax amounted to approximately 37,816,000% JC °
HK$37,816,000.

(b) the disposal of 100% equity interests in a subsidiary in b)) HE KR PBEAM R - XEBR
Mainland China, which held a poultry farm, for a total B Z B A Rl 100%0E 35 » BIEE %
consideration of approximately HK$25,562,000. The gain 25,562,000 7T  BRBE AT Z W B WA 40
on the disposal before tax amounted to approximately 21,414,000 70 K bR Bl A% Z B W 40 %
HK$21,414,000 and gain on the disposal net of tax 20,356,000%5 JC ©
amounted to approximately HK$20,356,000.

(c) the disposal of 100% equity interests in a subsidiary in Hong (c) HE—FRMNEW A —HYWEZH
Kong, which held a property, for a total consideration of J& A Rl 100%RE 25 » 48 4F 18 £562,000,000
HK$62,000,000. The gain on the disposal (before and after Wor o B (BRBiar RBRBLR) 414
tax) amounted to approximately HK$38,306,000. 38,306,000% T °

2018 2017
—F N\ Rk
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt BT 3o
Net assets disposed of: i th B 2 K B
Property, plant and equipment LE WY & ] 14 - 31,855
Prepaid land lease payments TEAT 1 b AL B 16 - 615
Goodwill [y 17 - 3,929
Inventories ety = 1,827
Prepayments, deposits and other VA RIE ~ &K
receivables At JE Wk JE - 1,107
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KRB 4% HEE = 438
Trade payables, other payables and FEAT B 5 IRk~ oAl
accruals AN 3k T % M it £ A = (1,188)
- 38,583
Exchange fluctuation reserve FEE 56, 0k 38) fokh 4 - (6,067)
- 32,516
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries H A B R 4 B 2 Mg 5 = 100,046
Satisfied by cash PLBR 4 3 At = 132,562
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32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 32. B BB A vl ()
(continued)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in HEMBAFRZEESREESEEHRATHE
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: ArME ¢
2018 2017
R )\ D St w2
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Cash consideration Bl e - 132,562
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BB e kB4 SHIEA = (438)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents FRBEMBARZHE RIS
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries FEEBRATH - 132,124
33.NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33. & Bl & O R Mk
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities BOEEE I A )
Interest-bearing
bank borrowings
HBNREZ
AT R
HK$°000
3o
At 1 April 2017 R_F—LEMNH—H 1,012,589
Changes from financing cash flows BB & EH (248,695)
Foreign exchange movement IE a5 ) 11,339
At 31 March 2018 R_F-NFE=H=+—H 775,233
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34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment property (note 15) to an
associate under an operating lease arrangement, with a lease

negotiated for a term of two years.

At 31 March 2018, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under a non-cancellable operating lease

with its associate falling due as follows:

4. BB ML R

(a)

e 2y MALA

ALEECBRHE LR Z REY
% (BFELS) F— WS A ] - KRR Z Al
HIAE 9] 2 W4 o

WoZF—NE=A=+—H » MEHKE
AFIFIMLZ A BB B > AL MR
BT B 1 R R] R 2 A K R 4 A8 AR
T:

2018 2017

e 2% 2 R L

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT W

Within one year —4EN 1,499 453
In the second to fifth years, inclusive B oEEHT > A ERWAE 625 -
2,124 453

As lessee

The Group leases certain land and buildings under operating
lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for terms ranging
from one to twenty years. The Group has the option of
extending the leases by up to three years in certain operating

lease arrangements.

At 31 March 2018, the Group had total future minimum

lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

(b)

e 2y AR AL

AR [ AR AR R LR A S T b S
T oo MEEMZMAFEM - FEHER
G o A TRUBME P > AL E A R
B R AL E N =4 o

BEF-NEZA=Z+—H o AEERE
AR RS B 2 A8 AL AN TR T 51 3] B R

falling due as follows: it Z BARFA A K IE I T -
2018 2017
R )\ Rt
HK$’000 HK$’000
W o BT T
Within one year —4EN 154,676 132,740
In the second to fifth years, inclusive B OEPHE  BFEERWAE 274,578 149,021
After five years BHAER 49,669 27,374
478,923 309,135
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35. COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note

34(b) above, the Group had capital commitments in respect of
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35. 7k ¥

B bSO B RE34(b) s a2 RS B A RSN > R4
[ 5 B R 2~ W Bk B A AR I

property, plant and equipment at the end of the reporting period: mE :
2018 2017
it SIS 2 —E -t
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T T BT T
Contracted, but not provided for AT A AE R 4,839 9,313

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed

elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had

36. AN LR S

(a) BRI S5 B 285 e ot DL At b Ty P At 2 52 5 B
AEERAL > 4 A 4 1 B B A TSR T

the following material transactions with its related parties LN N
during the year:
2018 2017
R —%
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt W T BT T
Associates: Wi AT
Purchases of goods PR £ (i) 365,242 352,058
Sales of goods MER N (ii) 1,916 1,911
Promotion expenses reimbursed 2 A AR R
by associates B EB X (iii) 33,940 34,750
Rental income 4 WA (iv) 1,281 1,245
A subsidiary of a substantial ARAFEEBRZ
shareholder of the Company: s AR
Commission income HER PN v) 74 228
Commission expenses 1/ 45 B % (v) 900 1,194

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(a) (continued)
Notes:

(b)

(c)

(i) The cost of purchases from associates was made at pre-

determined prices agreed between the parties.

(ii) The selling prices of the goods sold to associates were
determined by reference to prices and conditions similar to

those offered to other major customers.

(iii) The promotion expenses reimbursed by associates were

determined by reference to the costs incurred by the Group.

(iv) The rental income from an associate was determined between

the Group and the associate.

(v) The commission income/expenses were determined between
the Group and the subsidiary of the substantial shareholder on

normal commercial terms.

The related party transactions in respect of item (v) above
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since the amounts in
respect of item (v) are below de minimis threshold for the
purposes of Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules, item (v) is
fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual review
and all disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

Details of the Group’s trade payables to its associates at the
end of the reporting period are disclosed in note 26 to the

financial statements.

Commitments with related parties:

On 1 September 2017, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into a two-year agreement with an associate, to lease the
Group’s investment property to that associate. Details of the
operating lease commitment are disclosed in note 34(a) to

the financial statements.
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:
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36. B A AR5 (%)

(d) ASHEE BN E B :

2018 2017

ZF— N\ —E Lk

HK$’000 HK$’000

T o W F oo

Short term employee benefits 45 118 B fE A 17,663 18,809
Pension scheme contributions PR Nt W KL 333 357
17,996 19,166

Further details of directors’

and the chief executive’s

emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial

statements.

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

R RO AT B 2 P AR R

TP S 75 S B RS o

37. 4B T H2ZA%E

AR > #B e TR ZREENT

2018 —F N
Financial assets S
Financial Available-
assets at fair for-sale
value through Loans and financial
profit or loss receivables assets Total
KA TEE
HEARZ Bk R gk A
R HE Bk P A Y i
HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
#W T W T #W T #H T
Available-for-sale investments A B = - 4,788 4,788
Trade receivables HE Wi B 53 Mk - 587,270 - 587,270
Financial assets included in prepayments, BRGSO T 4 R A M
deposits and other receivables HHZ ARG E - 96,491 - 96,491
Financial assets at fair value through BATHEBBREARZ EREE
profit or loss 49,545 - - 49,545
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBE%MEH - 802,085 - 802,085
49,545 1,485,846 4,788 1,540,179
R - N FE o MWW K B A R A A
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (continued)
2017

Financial assets

37. &ML HZ 558 ()
I S w2
4 b
Financial Available-
assets at fair for-sale
value through Loans and financial
profit or loss receivables assets Total
TN FEER
i EYN ¥ Bk E:TE
SHEE HE ek ZEMERE Bk
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$°000

BT #H T

BT BT

Available-for-sale investments At A - - 1,188 1,188
Trade receivables T W 2 5 ek - 551,098 - 551,098
Financial assets included in prepayments, LG R AR T 4 R A
deposits and other receivables REZERMEE - 106,383 - 106,383
Financial assets at fair value through BATHEBBRE ARZ EREE
profit or loss 47,444 - - 47,444
Cash and cash equivalents e kB &SHEA - 839,440 - 839,440
47,444 1,496,921 1,188 1,545,553
Financial liabilities & a4
2018 2017
RN &L
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
U T A AR S R AR
1 4 il £1 4 114 <8 i 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T T BT T
Financial liabilities included in trade 35 7 HE AT B 5 Mk ~ S At
payables, other payables and accruals JRE A Ak T % M it £ £ 2
AR 325,740 345,851
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AR B Z RIT B 775,233 1,012,589
1,100,973 1,358,440
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 38, Arfil T 5L 2 A P K 2 4Rk

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Except for certain unlisted equity investments classified as
available for sale for which the fair value could not be measured
reliably and were carried at cost, available-for-sale investments
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss were

carried at fair value.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities
included in trade payables, other payables and accruals and bank
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments or with floating

interest rates.

The Group’s finance team is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. The finance team reports directly to the
executive directors and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance team analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the executive directors. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced

or liquidation sale.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of school and club debentures are

based on market observable transactions.

B TR A B 2 JE Bl R Rs 4 >
OB B WY S5 st R 3R A B R A T A
H B B 3% A SFEZ 1 AE AJR 2 4l
VAo AR B BR

P CARRE A > R A B L A A B
HZFBARGE > Bl RBEEFEEH -
JE WA BT 2 MRk~ A R TR RO~ AT S A
JE WAk VL 2 4 A A A B MRk
Al o 2K T B MRt A 2 4l AR DL R SR AT
B 2 P K B b SR T M

SR [ A B 2 K B R A i L SR
B BOR R o S 75 I K 1 AT
T B TR o 7R R H 8 B K
g3 T 4 TR R S ) > I P R Al 1
A 2 S AL o A H AT 2 T B St ol -
il 1630 TR % A5 SR 4 T RS v 0 D A A B S
o g B & B

R EMAEK A TEDLZ TREARZ S
i (i 56 78 sl Mt B ) T 22 5 T BT A2
RN -

TR i A O P DA T B O R o B2
18 e iy J A6 2 W) 0 1A DA v BB i 455 52 5 T ik
%O

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (%)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement

BT

hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 March 2018

AT A AT 0 B

RIZF-NEFEZH=4—H

Fair value measurement using

38. A ik T H 2 APl B A P2 bl

R B A 4 T 4 L A A T AR

AP R
Quoted prices Significant
in active observable
markets inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total
e CIWNTR k-
i 5 9 A LN i
(35 —J) (58 =) ik
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT T
Available-for-sale investments: WAL SR
Listed equity investments LiiRE R R E 204 - 204
Unlisted school debenture Ik bl B A A 27 - 3,500 3,500
Unlisted club debentures Bl R Y e - 727 727
Financial assets at fair value through WA TVPHERBHRARZ
profit or loss & E A 49,545 = 49,545
49,749 4,227 53,976
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

As at 31 March 2017

38. Ak T H 2 Al B A 2 b

(%)

BT (57)

AR & ()

REZFE—CLFE=HA=+—H

Fair value measurement using

O VA SR
Quoted prices Significant
in active observable
markets inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total
15 B EINGIE 'E
T 55 WA iy A\ B
(58—Jd) (5B —&) aal
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT BT T
Available-for-sale investments: A ERE
Listed equity investments LR E 204 - 204
Unlisted club debentures Bl R Y e - 627 627
Financial assets at fair value through WMATHBMBRARZ
profit or loss B R 47,444 - 47,444
47,648 627 48,275

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
for the financial assets (2017: Nil).

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 March 2018 (2017: Nil).

AR R A AE SR R SR R T
B A TR RE B - T A = e 3 0 A st 2
PW(—Z—LE: | -

REF—EZH =1 H o A S AT
BATVE R EMAME (ST LF: 5) -

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank borrowings and cash and short term deposits. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as available-for-sale investments,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, trade
receivables, other receivables, trade payables and other payables,

which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s short and long term debt
obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using variable

rate debts, which is regularly reviewed by senior management.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on
floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity.
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39. IV %5 L B 4% PIH RS K R (7))

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) % B ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease)
in basis points before tax in equity*
-3 B3 B Wi 5 A B A
Bim,/ (84) Bim/ (84) B/ (84)
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
2018 —® N4
Hong Kong dollar T 25 (1,501) -
Japanese yen H & 25 (586) -
RMB PNEY 25 (253) -
Hong Kong dollar Wt (25) 1,501 -
Japanese yen H & (25) 586 -
RMB N R (25) 253 -
2017 e S =
Hong Kong dollar ¥ T 25 (1,306) -
Japanese yen H [l 25 (1,049) -
RMB N 25 (289) -
Hong Kong dollar ot (25) 1,306 -
Japanese yen H [l (25) 1,049 -
RMB N (25) 289 -

* Excluding retained profits

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currency.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
Japanese yen and RMB exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and equity (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

BT RE i A

A B J, st

A AR [0 i B 58 B W B o % S LB T R
R B DL B 2 T RE B W LA 2 B AT
F A o

A BURAE P A I A T B N K AR N 2 A L
T > A5 1B Bk A v R R M B (R B W
Be £ A5 1 2 SF- i 5 B BT 50) I e 1R B HE
Be N B B 52 B w] B 5 Bl 2 R o
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

39. IV %5 Rl B 4% BI H B B R (7))

(continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) A B Bl B ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease)
in rate before tax in equity*
HE # Bk B v i F il 2t
Bom,/ (84 Bm/ (WA)  Bm/ (RP)
% HK$’000 HK$’000
T T BT T
2018 RN
If Hong Kong dollar weakens P TN EEE
against Japanese yen 1 (2,676) -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens Ve 0 5 N\ R 59 3
against RMB 1 1,902 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens ¥ o0 5 H JE R 2
against Japanese yen (e)) 2,676 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens V8 0 5 N\ R iR 3
against RMB 1 (1,902) -
2017 i S
If Hong Kong dollar weakens Fus o0 5 H [H 55
against Japanese yen 1 (783) -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens # W0 SE N\ R 59 3
against RMB 1 1,592 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens U0 5 H [H 5
against Japanese yen (D 783 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens 5 W0 S R B 5 3
against RMB (H (1,592) -

* Excluding retained profits
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39, J0 5 L BE 4% PR H OBE B W (7))

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing

basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale
investments, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and other receivables, arises from default of the counterparty,
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these

instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations
of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by
geographical region and by industry sector. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group as
the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are widely
dispersed in different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 22
to the financial statements.

15 FE L B8

ARG AR BASEZEPETR
Gy o ¥RIEAARE B Z WK > A B A AT
RHWEF > BASBEBGERGERT - It
b o A T A B R B WA R 2 L > THARAR
LI YR A N

AC AR [ L Al S L B R B
H~ A i s - A TEERHEEARZ
o Tl % LA FE WSRO 2 A B TR IR 2
BTTEA > BRI S % S TR Z IR E -

FH P A 45 A fif LA 520 Y S £ T SE M % P AT
B2 Gy » WA T EAT AT o £ BB B 4 o A 1
VI F /R GET7 ~ Mol B A7 AT B -
BN ACIE M 2 MR S Rk 2 % PR B R A 4y
AT 25 A SER R AT 3 > WCAC SR 1 P Sl 4 K AR
A BB -

A 5 R Rk 2 R B e A
YR O B B S S M 22
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

39. IV %5 Rl B 4% BI H B B R (7))

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. The
Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank

borrowings.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as

i B Y 4 W B

ACEE [ 725 0 1R P AR MR S TR B
2 A R B o b TR 8 Ll TR K
Bl A (B B 2 sk ) R BT H e | A
BRI B SR o AL E AR E
8 R B RS 2 SRAT B > PRI R A
e S 5 5 e P o

LA AT A AR B BLAR K > DA OB A 42 A

at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual Rz EMABR B BN
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
2018
—E N\
On demand
or less than 1to5
12 months years Total
$ TR K
ik 1248 A 1854 M
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
BT YT BHT I
Financial liabilities included in B R EAT ® 5 iR
trade payables, other At A 3K JE B
payables and accruals ErtafEz LA 325,740 - 325,740
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BT R B Z RT B 767,617 9,233 776,850
1,093,357 9,233 1,102,590
2017
S
On demand
or less than l1to5
12 months years Total
B R
A 1248 H 1 E 54 sk i
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T 3o
Financial liabilities included in 5 AT B 5 R
trade payables, other A JRE A 35 TE K
payables and accruals s A Az &RaE 345,851 - 345,851
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AR B Z T &K 931,974 82,633 1,014,607
1,277,825 82,633 1,360,458
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. IV %5 L B 4% PIH RS K R (7))

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2018, there were no term loans repayable over

one year containing a repayment on demand clause (2017: Nil).

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments classified as available-for-sale investments (note 20)
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 24)
as at 31 March 2018.

If the prices of the respective listed equity investments had
been 3% higher/lower, with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s available-for-sale investment revaluation reserves
would have increased/decreased by approximately HK$6,000
(2017: HK$6,000) at 31 March 2018 as a result of the changes
in the fair values of the Group’s certain available-for-sale
investments, and the Group’s profit after tax for the year would
have increased/decreased by approximately HK$1,241,000 (2017:
HK$1,188,000) as a result of the changes in the fair value of the

Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

L ) ¥ 4 B (A7)

PR NEZA =+ —H o BT R —
AR AR R ) B AK A B I SRR Rk (2
FLH ) -

JBe 25 A A e Bt

I 5% M A% L e 4 K1 PR i K T B M ) i o
Z B AP 5 ) T A BORE 25 R 2R 4 oF B R K 2 L
e R-F—/)E=ZA=1—H » KEMERZ
P50 A0 T o A 4 (B E20) B3R A i
HEE AR Z SR (MhaE24) Z 890 b 55 B 5
1M 51 25 B 5% (R LBt o

i 2% - i R i % 2 R B WA 3% > HoA
AR E AR R T ) E=ZHA=ZF—
H > A4 [ 2 W]k H 5 8 i A fok 5 1 IR AR 4R
5 T R s R 2 A S {1 A B TG 43 5 4
/WA #16,0008 50 (—F—-L4E : 6,000¥70) »
i AR 42 ) 2 A A 3 ik 50 4 ¥ )t R A 4 5
A 4 2 1 8 75 8 48 2 AR 1 4 il s 2 A P
5 ) K WA #11,241,0008 06 (ZF— L
4E 1 1,188,000 75) °
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business

and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, issue new shares or repurchase shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 31
March 2017.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity attributable to
the equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratio is regularly
reviewed by senior management. The gearing ratios as at the end

of the reporting periods were as follows:

39. IV %5 Rl B 4% BI H B B R (7))

A4 B

ACSR M 2 A B R e AR AC SR A R
3 AR A R S5 DR ) O A A AR
Vo 3R DL S 7 S0 S 0 0 e RAG B R AR A -

7% [0 L A P A0 e 2 A L A AR A I
VAR BE o J #k 1 ol B S AC A M > A 4R 0 T
BBROR Z IR, ~ FATH I g Tl e Ay o A K
EF)N\FEA=ZTHEZF-LFEEA
Zh—HIREERN > EAEEZ HE - BURK
PR S B ) -

ACKE R E AR R DV A > MR
R ) B 2 BRAT K Bk DAAR 2 Wl 5 P A %
A 1 25 T 14 B R o 0 460 AR b 6l g A A
JEERIRA o« IR » AREALRNT

40

2018 2017

e 2% 2 22—t

HK$’000 HK$’000

T o BT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings JHBAT R B Z SRAT & 775,233 1,012,589
Equity attributable to equity holders of B J i A 2 ) BE 25

the Company P A & R AR 1,602,436 1,318,100

Gearing ratio HEE AR 48 % 77%

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

After the end of the reporting period, Elegant Town Investments
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an agreement for the subscription of newly issued
capital of Guangzhou Zaojiu Science And Technology Co., Ltd.
(“GZ Zaojiu”), a company incorporated in Mainland China,
at a total cash consideration of RMB21,760,000, representing
approximately 6.58% of the enlarged capital of GZ Zaojiu.
GZ Zaojiu is mainly engaging in the operation of cashier-free
convenience stores in Mainland China under the brand name
“EasyGo”.
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
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41. AR A 2 M B R FE

TP AR A B AR 2 ] B R L A Z R

W

2018 2017
ZF— N\ R -t
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Ik i ) ¥
Investments in subsidiaries R EA R Z2RE 143,098 143,098
Available-for-sale investments AL R 203 203
Deferred tax assets IE kBl T G 2 1,194 1,569
Total non-current assets FET B K A A 144,495 144,870
CURRENT ASSETS TR R g7
Due from subsidiaries A 788,300 802,496
Prepayments FE AT 3K IE 125 136
Cash and bank balances Bl & RBAIT T 803 1,105
Total current assets B & A AR 789,228 803,737
CURRENT LIABILITIES Ui ) 1%
Due to subsidiaries JRE A Bt g A ] 502,952 501,846
Accruals JRE 55 2,180 1,862
Total current liabilities B A AR 505,132 503,708
NET CURRENT ASSETS R ) 284,096 300,029
Net assets EEFH 428,591 444,899
EQUITY HE £
Issued capital BT A 38,425 38,425
Reserves ik HE 390,166 406,474
Total equity HE 25 A8 {H 428,591 444,899

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen ¥ & il

Director # #

NAM Chi Ming, Gibson ¥ & W

Director # FH

=% - 0 F e oW % B A W A
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

41. AR A2 MBRIFE (5)

(continued)
Note: MGk :
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AATF ZEEMBEEN T
Available-
for-sale
Share investment Capital
premium revaluation redemption Retained
account reserve reserve profits Total
o ik iy B
BH A AR
JBe 3 ik A ] it I £ P 5 i A Mt
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
T T BT T BT T BT T
At 1 April 2016 WF—NENH—H 233,120 30 1,531 56,356 291,037
Total comprehensive income A P 4 2 A
for the year - 38 - 151,904 151,942
Final 2016 dividend TR NERRE - - - (24,977) (24,977)
Interim 2017 dividend R LR S - - - (11,528) (11,528)
At 31 March 2017 and RoRZ—tHE=ZA=+—H
at 1 April 2017 Kt —F—tEHEMNH—H 233,120 68 1,531 171,755 406,474
Total comprehensive AR P 48 2T I A
income for the year - - - 135,474 135,474
Final 2017 dividend ZRLERBRE - - - (24,977) (24,977)
Interim 2018 dividend ZF )\ PR S - - - (11,528) (11,528)
Special interim dividend 3 o 401 B B - - - (115,277) (115,277)
At 31 March 2018 R_Z—)4E=A=+—H 233,120 68 1,531 155,447 390,166

The Company’s share premium account includes (i) the credit
of HK$53,719,000 which represents the difference between the
nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and the
combined net assets of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
group reorganisation in 1993; and (ii) the debit of HK$40,889,000
arising from the repurchase of shares during the years ended 31
March 2015, 2013, 2011 and 2010. Under the Company Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands, a distribution may be made from

the share premium account in certain circumstances.

The difference between the share premium account of the
Company and that of the Group represents the difference
between the aggregate nominal value of the share capital of the
subsidiaries and their combined net assets acquired, pursuant to

the group reorganisation in 1993, as detailed above.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of
the shares cancelled upon repurchase of the Company’s shares.
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42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 42. Y B Wt o 2
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue AWM B RECHKR - \EXNT I\ HEE
by the board of directors on 28 June 2018. 20 ik v I 2 RE ) B o

= F — U EE Ko oW £ B AR AR 191
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Particulars of Property

E A

31 March 2018 —=F— /\4E=H=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Bk

Percentage of
attributable
interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group
7 4R 1 A
i B & AR Lty g
Levels 1 and 2 (west portion) Industrial Medium term lease 100
of Four Seas Group Guangdong
Headquarter Building Complex,
Yuepu South Industrial Zone,
Shantou, Guangdong Province,
The People’s Republic of China
G UN BT T T HIFLA 100
i 58 il BE T H R 3K [
7O Y 45 ) B R AR AR

o R — A B i (VS )
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